2020 COMMUNITY NEEDS ASSESSMENT

City of Philadelphia Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity *Submitted June 29, 2021*



Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
Introduction	1
Data sources	1
Survey and focus group methodology	1
Demographics of Poverty	2
Employment	3
Education	3
Income and Assets	4
Housing	5
Social and Health Status	6
Civic Engagement	7
Conclusions	8
INDIVIDUALS AND FAMILIES	9
COMMUNITY	
AGENCY	
INTRODUCTION	13
DATA COLLECTION AND METHODOLOGY	14
Survey Method	14
Phase 1: In-Person Intercept Surveys	14
Phase 2: KEYSPOTS and Community Buildings	14
Phase 3: BeHeardPhilly℠	15
Description of CNA Survey Respondents	15
Geographic Distribution of Respondents	17
Survey instrument and analysis	19
Focus Group Method	21
Targeted populations and protocol	21
Focus Group Location	22
Focus Group Process and Adaptation to Pandemic-related Restrictions	22
DEMOGRAPHICS OF POVERTY IN PHILADELPHIA	23

Older Adults	
Immigrants	31
Geographic Distribution of CEO Programs and Investments	
EMPLOYMENT	35
Overview of Philadelphia's Labor Force	
Hardest-to-Serve Populations	
Employment Needs from the 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) Survey	41
Findings from 2020 CNA Focus Groups	43
CEO Activities Supporting Employment Opportunities	
EDUCATION	45
Adult Attainment	45
Youth Engagement	50
High Quality Early Learning and Child Care Opportunities	51
School Performance	53
CEO Activities Supporting Educational Opportunities	57
INCOME AND ASSETS	58
Household Income	
Financial Management	61
Access to Benefits	67
CEO Activities Supporting Benefits Access and Financial Management	70
HOUSING	71
Tenure and Affordability	71
Housing Affordability	72
Subsidized Housing	77
Housing Safety	78
Security of Tenure	81
Foreclosures and Tangled Title	82
Evictions	83
Homelessness	84
CNA Survey Findings	86
Focus Group Findings	
CEO Activities Supporting Quality Housing Options	

SOCIAL AND HEALTH STATUS	89
Overview	
Health Coverage	
Survey Results: Physical and Mental Health Challenges	
Demographics of Health Status	
Race and Ethnicity	
Children's Health	
Senior Health	
Environmental Health Factors	
Food Insecurity and Access to Healthy Food	
Public Safety	
CEO Programs Supporting Health and Wellness	
CIVIC ENGAGEMENT	110
Volunteer Participation	
Census participation	
Voting	
Perceptions of Local Institutions	
Internet Connectivity	
CEO Activities Supporting Civic Engagement	
CONCLUSIONS	124
Individual and Family	
Female-headed households as a priority population:	
Support for financial management:	
Utility assistance and other public benefits:	
Housing:	
Education and Employment:	
Community	
Public safety:	
Civic Engagement:	
Agency	
Fines and Fees Advocacy	
Research	

Strategic Priorities	
REFERENCES BY CHAPTER	129
Data Collection and Methodology	
Demographics of Poverty in Philadelphia	
Employment	131
Education	
Income and Assets	
Housing	
Social and Health Status	
Civic Engagement	
Appendix A: Survey Instrument	139
Appendix B: Summary of Focus Group Findings	

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ACS: American Community Survey BIPOC: Black, Indigenous and people of color **BLS: Bureau of Labor Statistics** CAA: Community Action Agency CAAP: Community Action Association of Pennsylvania CEO: City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity **CNA: Community Needs Assessment** CSBG: Community Services Block Grant DCED: Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic Development DHCD: City of Philadelphia, Division of Housing and Community Development HUD: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ISR: Temple University's Institute of Survey Research LGBTQ: Lesbian/Gay/Bisexual/Transgender/Queer LIHTC: Low-Income Housing Tax Credit MOCEVS: City of Philadelphia, Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Volunteer Service PA DHS: Pennsylvania Department of Human Services PHMC: Public Health Management Corporation PDPH: City of Philadelphia, Department of Public Health RECAP: Racially/Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty **SNAP: Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program** SSI: Supplemental Security Income SSDI: Social Security Disability Income TANF: Temporary Assistance for Needy Families WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

The City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) serves as the Community Action Agency (CAA) for the City of Philadelphia. As a CAA, CEO administers Community Services Block Grant (CSBG) funds in support of the agency's mission to promote economic mobility for Philadelphia residents by advancing racial equity and economic inclusion. The Community Services Block Grant (CSBG) authorizing statute requires CAAs to prepare a comprehensive assessment of the nature and extent of local needs and resources on a regular basis. Guidance provided by the Community Action Association of Pennsylvania (CAAP) and the Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic Development (DCED) further specifies that community action agencies must conduct a community needs assessment (CNA) at least every three years, with updates made in the intervening two years. This 2020 Community Needs Assessment was prepared by CEO in compliance with these state and federal requirements. The Executive Summary provides highlights from each section of the 2020 CNA and an overview of its conclusions.

Data sources

The 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) was prepared during the extraordinary circumstances presented by the onset of a global pandemic, which has fundamentally transformed the nature and scale of the social and economic needs facing millions of low-income households across the country, and in Philadelphia. CEO's 2020 CNA relies on two primary data sources, both of which were collected prior to the imposition of local COVID-19 restrictions: (1) the results from the 2019 American Community Survey, released by the U.S. Census Bureau on September 17 and December 10, 2020; and (2) CEO's Community Needs Assessment Survey and Focus Groups, which were conducted on behalf of CEO by Temple University's Institute of Survey Research between December 2019 and early March 2020. While these data sources predate the economic distress caused by the pandemic, they provide valuable information about the kinds of barriers and challenges that survey respondents face in their day-to-day lives, the basic demographics of the population living at and near the poverty level in Philadelphia, and underlying population and household characteristics such as educational attainment, labor force status, housing tenure, and health insurance coverage. These data are supplemented with secondary sources, such as research articles and policy briefs that offer additional insight on local conditions and needs. The 2020 CNA also selectively incorporates administrative data from 2020 and research findings related to COVID-19 to acknowledge the impact that the pandemic has had across many of the topics covered in the report.

Survey and focus group methodology

In 2019, the City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) engaged Temple University's Institute of Survey Research (ISR) to administer and analyze an in-depth survey to better understand the challenges faced by Philadelphia residents living in poverty. The survey was conducted in late 2019 through the early part of 2020, concluding in late January/early February with a total of 1,050 responses. For this report, survey results are segmented by income category, to identify differences in responses for those with incomes below 125 percent of the federal poverty level ("below poverty") and those earning above 125 percent of FPL ("above poverty"). This poverty threshold was chosen to align with the household eligibility requirements for programs and services funded through the Community Services Block Grant, which CEO administers in Philadelphia.

For CNA Survey respondents with incomes below poverty, "paying utilities", "crime and public safety", and "housing" were reported as challenges with the highest frequency. For those above poverty, "crime and public safety", "household budget and finances", and "physical and mental health" were among the most frequently cited challenges. In most references throughout this report, survey responses are broken out by poverty status to enable a comparison across income groups and ensure that the specific needs and concerns of those living at and near the federal poverty line are made apparent.

ISR also conducted focus groups and qualitative interviews for the 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) on behalf of CEO. The focus groups and qualitative interviews included the following five subgroups of residents living at or below the poverty line in Philadelphia:

- 1. Employed individuals
- 2. Unemployed individuals
- 3. People with disabilities (receiving SSI or SSDI)
- 4. Opportunity youth/young adult, 18 to 34 years of age
- 5. Residents returning from incarceration (returning citizens)

In-person focus groups were held on March 10–11, 2020. On March 12, 2020, Temple University cancelled all non-essential events until further notice to comply with the Centers for Disease Control's social distancing guidelines for the COVID-19 pandemic. From March 17 through March 25, 2020, ISR shifted the remaining focus groups (people with disabilities and opportunity youth/young adult) to one-on-one qualitative interviews. A summary of focus group findings is provided in Appendix B of this report.

DEMOGRAPHICS OF POVERTY

With just under a quarter of residents living below the poverty line, Philadelphia has the highest poverty rate of the ten largest cities in the nation. After peaking in 2011 at 28.4 percent, Philadelphia's poverty rate has slowly been on the decline, falling to 23 percent in 2019 (ACS 2010 – 2019, 1-Year Estimates). Across race and ethnicity, Hispanic residents and those reporting "some other race" have the highest rates of poverty in Philadelphia, measuring 42.1 percent and 41.5 percent, respectively. Black or African American residents in Philadelphia comprise the most populous racial group living in poverty, at 190,475 individuals.

Across family types, female householders are most likely to be living in poverty. Approximately 32 percent of female householders in Philadelphia are poor, and this rate increases when considering female householders with children. Forty-two percent of female-headed households with children live below the poverty level, an increase of 10 percentage points above the broader category of female-headed households, and more than double the rate for all families. Hispanic female-headed households and households of "some other race" have the highest prevalence of poverty of female-headed households by race and ethnicity. By total number, households headed by Black or African American women comprise the largest group of female householders in poverty across race or ethnicity in Philadelphia.

The 2020 CNA also shows how poverty and other demographic and economic measures are mapped geographically against Racial/Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty (R/ECAP), which is based on criteria

developed by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). RECAP census tracts have a population that is more than 50 percent non-white and a poverty rate exceeding 40 percent. The maps confirm that poverty remains concentrated in sections of North, Eastern North, West, and Southwest Philadelphia.

EMPLOYMENT

Philadelphia's labor market was greatly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and economic crisis. In 2020, more than 51,000 jobs were lost due to the economic shutdown that began in March. More than 84 percent of employment declines were concentrated among occupations in the bottom 20 percent of the wage spectrum, with low-wage industries declining by more than 30,000 jobs in the second quarter of 2020 (Philadelphia Works, 2020).

More than 773,900 adults over the age of 16 in Philadelphia, out of a total of 1.23 million, are in the labor force, comprising a labor force participation rate of 61 percent. In 2019, Philadelphia's unemployment rate of 5.7 percent surpassed both the state-wide (4.2%) and national averages (3.8%) (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). In Philadelphia, younger adults are more likely to be unemployed than middle-aged and older adults, and Black residents have the highest unemployment rate (12.9%) across all racial groups.

For CEO's 2020 CNA Survey, transportation was the most frequently-cited barrier to finding or keeping a job among those who identified employment as a top challenge. Thirty-three percent of this sub-sample identified transportation as the most significant barrier. About one in four of low-income respondents in this sub-sample said they needed help finding or keeping a job because of childcare, and nearly one in four (24%) noted that their criminal history was an employment barrier.

Focus group participants indicated crime as a barrier to accepting some employment opportunities (e.g., concern over personal safety while returning home on public transportation late at night, fear that their children would not receive enough supervision). The most common barrier to accessing career employment expressed by focus group participants was discrimination, based on race, ethnicity, disability-status, or criminal history. Another barrier to career-oriented employment expressed across focus groups was increasing competition for career training opportunities. Focus group participants mentioned that jobs linked to the completion of career training programs were often based on grant funding and were only temporary. They said the demand for scarce job training opportunities often exceeded supply.

EDUCATION

In Philadelphia, 15 percent of adults over the age of 25, or 164,444 individuals, do not have a high school diploma or equivalent. Nearly 37 percent of adults over the age of 25 without a high school diploma or equivalent credential live in poverty, and 14 percent live in deep poverty. These data also illustrate the impact that educational attainment has on economic mobility: poverty rates decline by about 35 percent for Philadelphians who complete high school, while earning an advanced degree is associated with declines ranging from 54 to 75 percent.

2020 CNA Survey respondents living below poverty were more likely to report needing help with reading/writing, math, and accessing programs to obtain a GED or high school diploma. Those living below poverty were also more likely to be aware of and take advantage of programs and services to help with adult

education. Access to childcare was a highly ranked concern among the respondents to the 2020 CNA Survey who were parents of young children. Among the sub-sample that identified childcare as a top challenge, 78 percent had trouble accessing safe, reliable and/or affordable childcare, and about half encountered problems accessing employment or other services because childcare was unavailable. While accessing childcare was a shared challenge for respondents regardless of income category, childcare presents employment barriers at a significantly higher rate for those with incomes below poverty.

Between 2012 and 2018, the high school graduation rate for the School District of Philadelphia fluctuated between about 65 and 70 percent, with a reported rate of 63 percent in School Year 2017-18. With Pennsylvania and nationwide graduation rates converging toward 87 percent in 2018, data trends reveal a sizable and persistent gap between graduation rates in Philadelphia and in these comparison jurisdictions, averaging approximately 21 percentage points across this period. The high school graduation rate also exhibits clear disparities by race and ethnicity. In Philadelphia, as in Pennsylvania and the U.S., the graduation rate for white non-Hispanic students significantly exceeds the graduation rate for Black and Hispanic students. The disparity in graduation rates between white non-Hispanic and Black students in Philadelphia in School Year 2017-2018 measured 8 percentage points while the disparity between white non-Hispanic and Hispanic students was 12 percentage points.

INCOME AND ASSETS

The average household in Philadelphia spends \$72,460 per year on living expenses, with housing as the single largest expense (BLS, 2021). As a point of comparison, the federal poverty level for a household of four in 2019 was \$25,750, meaning that families in poverty in Philadelphia earn about one-third of what the average household in the Philadelphia area spends annually (U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, 2019).

A smaller fraction of Philadelphia households derive income from earnings (73%), compared to Pennsylvania (75%) and the United States (78%) —a disparity that is also evident in other income categories that are linked to prior earnings, such as Social Security income and retirement income. The percentage of households in Philadelphia that receive income from investments or asset holdings is substantially smaller than state or national percentages, suggesting the presence of a wealth gap relative to other regions. Consistent with its relatively high poverty rate, a much larger proportion of households in Philadelphia receive income from public benefits such as Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or cash assistance (such as TANF) compared to state or national figures.

Approximately 5 percent of the adult population in the Philadelphia metropolitan area is unbanked, down slightly from the 5.9 percent reported in 2017 (FDIC 2020). According to Prosperity Now, the city of Philadelphia's unbanked rate is approximately 13 percent, which is 166 percent greater than the unbanked rate for Pennsylvania and more than 90 percent greater than the U.S. rate.

Within Philadelphia, Latinx households are unbanked at the highest rate (25%) and have the highest percentage of households with zero net worth (30%), while Black households are underbanked at the highest rate (29%) and have the second-highest percentage of households with zero net worth (28%). In contrast, only 4 percent of white households are unbanked and 18 percent have zero net worth.

Among the sub-sample of CNA Survey respondents who identified household finances as a top challenge, households with incomes below poverty were much more likely to be financially strained at the end of a typical month. Twenty-six percent of respondents below poverty lacked a bank account and 45 percent lacked a personal credit card, compared to 7 percent and 16 percent for respondents above poverty, respectively. Moreover, 28 percent of low-income survey respondents use check-cashing services, compared to 15 percent of higher-income respondents. Within this sub-sample, unaffordable municipal fines and fees was a problem for 43 percent of respondents below poverty, compared to 26 percent of respondents above poverty. Over half (55%) of respondents below poverty reported not having enough money at the end of the month to make ends meet, compared to 22 percent of higher-income respondents.

Paying utilities was ranked as the second-highest challenge across the entire sample and *the* highest challenge for respondents below poverty. A total of 218 respondents (about 17 percent of the full sample) reported "paying utilities" as a top challenge. Of this sub-sample, higher income respondents were more likely to report "difficulty paying utilities" in general as a top problem (96%) and to experience a "health problem due to a utility shut-off" (14%). However, lower income respondents were more likely to report having utility services terminated (29%).

For CNA survey respondents, access to income supports, both formal and informal, is critical. Thirty-four percent of the full sample of survey respondents and 67 percent of respondents below poverty indicated that they receive SNAP. LIHEAP was the second-highest public benefit reported by lower income respondents, while receiving "money from friends or family" ranked high across both income categories. Respondents with incomes below poverty were more likely than respondents above poverty to participate in federal benefits programs such as SNAP, TANF, SSI, WIC and SSDI.

HOUSING

While Philadelphia may be regarded as one of the more affordable major cities on the East Coast, many households struggle to cover their housing costs. Thirty-two percent of all owners and nearly 53 percent of all renter households in Philadelphia are cost-burdened, paying more than 30 percent of their income towards housing costs. Over three quarters of low-income renters (approximated by households with incomes below \$35,000) are cost-burdened in Philadelphia, and over half (53 percent) have a severe cost burden—defined as paying more than 50 percent of income on housing costs. In comparison, 60 percent of low-income homeowners (with incomes below \$35,000) are cost-burdened, and 37 percent are severely cost-burdened (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

The total number of residential mortgage foreclosure filings declined by 29 percent between 2016 and 2019, as the economy has continued its long-term recovery from the financial crisis of 2008. Tax foreclosure filings have also fallen since that time, from 8,800 in 2016 to 4,000 in 2019—a 54 percent decline. The total number of evictions filed in Philadelphia has been on a downward trend over the past few years: from about 22,100 in 2017 to 19,700 and 19,800 in 2018 and 2019, respectively. The number of alias writs of possession filed (the final stage in the process of legal eviction) has also declined slightly, falling from 7,830 in 2017 to 6,920 in 2019—a 12 percent decrease. With court closures and eviction moratoria adopted early in the COVID-19 pandemic, eviction filings collapsed between April and July of 2020, and then resumed at a much lower volume starting in August, due both to the continuation of the federal moratorium on eviction filings and

renter protection policies enacted locally. Total eviction filings in 2020 numbered only 7,600, which was less than half (40%) of the average number of filings.

Each year, the Office of Homeless Services (OHS) conducts a census of the total number of families and individuals who are homeless, including both those residing in one of the city's shelter facilities and those living on the street. The January 2020 "point-in-time" census found that there were a total of 5,634 homeless adults and children in Philadelphia, comprising 4,293 separate households. African Americans accounted for almost three-quarters of all homeless individuals in Philadelphia in 2020. Whites have grown as a percentage of Philadelphia's homeless population, from 14 percent in 2015 to 22 percent in 2020 – an increase of 8 percentage points. There are also distinct gender patterns apparent in the point-in-time count of Philadelphia's homeless, with men making up a large majority of the population (62%). The percentage of homeless transgender people, while small, doubled between 2015 and 2020, from .3 percent to .6 percent of the homeless population. Despite the rise of a nationwide opioid epidemic in the past decade, the percentage of Philadelphia's homeless population characterized as having a chronic substance abuse disorder declined by 3 percentage points, from 29 percent in 2015 to 26 percent in 2020. However, the percentage of the population with a severe mental illness increased, from 24 percent in 2015 to 31 percent in 2020 (HUD 2015, 2020).

In CEO's 2020 CNA Survey, housing was the second highest-ranked concern for those below poverty, and the fourth highest-ranked concern across all 1,050 survey respondents. Focus group and qualitative interview participants reporting being on long waiting lists for public housing, experiencing homelessness and staying with relatives as short-term fixes to housing issues. Participants also mentioned that it is very hard to apply for a job without an address. Many participants were struggling to pay utilities and household expenses, and all focus subgroups mentioned the need for assistance with household budgeting and financial management. Returning citizens and opportunity youth said that having a criminal record (or fear of a criminal record) was keeping them from housing or being added to the lease of a family member in public housing. Court fees and the need to pay them while juggling expenses also created challenges for returning residents.

SOCIAL AND HEALTH STATUS

According to the Philadelphia Department of Public Health, nearly 2,300 people lost their lives to COVID-19 in calendar year 2020. The majority of those who died (53 percent) were people over the age of 75 (City of Philadelphia, 2021). The pandemic has also raised levels of anxiety and depression and made it more difficult for Philadelphians to access medical and mental health care (Eichel 2020). The new challenges introduced by the pandemic exposed the existing health disparities and barriers to access that have long affected families and individuals living in poverty and have elevated the stakes for those seeking to promote equity and accessibility in our city's healthcare systems.

According to 2019 census estimates, roughly 92 percent of Philadelphians have some form of health insurance. Young adults (ages 26 to 34) have the lowest rates of health insurance coverage, at 87 percent. Once the population reaches age 65 (the age at which Medicare eligibility begins) coverage rates approach 99 percent. Men are slightly more likely to be uninsured (10%) than women (7%); and at 15 percent, Hispanic or Latinx residents lack health insurance at higher rates than any other racial/ethnic group.

Physical and mental health was the fourth most-frequently reported problem in CEO's CNA Survey, with 175 respondents, or 17 percent of the full sample, ranking it as a top 3 challenge in the past 12 months. Of this sub-sample, 69 percent had a problem with their physical health, and more than 3 in 4 had a mental health issue. Respondents below poverty were more likely to have an untreated and ongoing physical health problem and have greater difficulties getting health insurance. Lower income respondents reported using emergency rooms for regular medical treatments at a significantly higher rate than higher income respondents, with reported frequencies of 43 percent and 26 percent, respectively.

Respondents to the 2020 CNA survey were asked whether they had places to purchase healthy food in their neighborhoods. More than one in five (23%) respondents with incomes below poverty reported having no place in their neighborhood to buy healthy food, compared to only about 16 percent of those living above poverty (CEO, 2020).

"Crime prevention and public safety" was the single most-frequently reported challenge for respondents to the CNA Survey, with 22.4 percent (or 294 total) citing it as one of the top three challenges experienced in the past 12 months. Out of these 294 respondents, 88 percent said they felt unsafe in the previous year and 31 percent reported being the victim of a crime. Low-income respondents were more likely to report having witnessed a crime (62%) than higher income respondents (49%).

CIVIC ENGAGEMENT

Philadelphia has a strong tradition of public participation and civic engagement, dating back to its origins as the cradle of American democracy. The extent of civic engagement in any jurisdiction reflects the willingness of citizens to contribute to the well-being and improvement of their communities by engaging in activities such as volunteering, voting, and participating in the decennial census. It is also evidenced in their collective experience and perceptions of core institutions such as local government, the courts, and the criminal justice system. Finally, internet connectivity is increasingly seen as a basic utility required to fully participate in 21st Century economic and social life.

Volunteers: The Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Volunteer Service (MOCEVS) recruited nearly 2,600 volunteers in 2019, who logged close to 156,380 volunteer hours. In 2020, MOCEVS adapted to the changing needs that arose due to the pandemic—making volunteers available to support 49 food distribution sites as well as to non-profit organizations requesting assistance. It also moved its training and capacity-building programs to a web-based format, and launched the Equitable Engagement Collaborative, which is designed to increase the ability of City agencies to be more effective in connecting with underserved and hard-to-reach communities.

Census participation: Philadelphia's self-response rate for the 2020 census was 57 percent (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021). While this figure was below the 63 percent participation rate from the 2010 census (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021b), there were several structural challenges related to the pandemic that may help explain the decline, including the "internet first" approach employed by the Census Bureau, which created barriers for those lacking internet service; the fear and misinformation caused by politically motivated attempts to prevent undocumented people from participation (Cooper et al., 2021); and the departure of large numbers of college students in late March after academic institutions transitioned to remote classes.

Voter participation: The voter turnout rate for the 2020 general election in Philadelphia was 66.3 percent, with 749,000 votes cast by roughly 1.13 million registered voters (City of Philadelphia, 2021). Geographic patterns in voter registration and turnout in Philadelphia, like census participation, tend to vary with measures of income, with higher rates of voter engagement in more affluent neighborhoods. In general, participation is greater in presidential election years across all neighborhood types.

Perception of local institutions: A total of 84 CNA Survey respondents (7.6 percent) ranked "fair treatment with the courts" as one of their top 3 problems. Of this relatively small sub-sample, the most frequent challenge reported was encounters with law enforcement. Approximately 74 percent had a negative experience with a police officer, which represented almost 6 percent of the full sample. What is striking is the high frequency of this response across income classes. Respondents with incomes above the poverty level were more likely to report a negative encounter with police (76 percent) than those living below poverty (70 percent). The pattern was reversed for all other problems listed: people living below poverty in this sub-sample were more likely to report a negative experience with a member of the court (53 percent), having the experience of being detained or arrested (47 percent), being unable to pay outstanding court fines and fees (38 percent), and spending time in jail (47 percent).

Internet access: The digital divide refers to the growing gap between households that can afford the computer hardware, software, and high-speed internet connections needed to fully participate in the modern digital world, and those who cannot. It also includes the challenges faced by older adults and people with low levels of literacy who may lack the technical skills to navigate complex websites or social media apps. Neighborhoods with the highest percentages of households with no internet access are concentrated in Upper North Philadelphia (Tioga, Strawberry Mansion, Allegheny West) and Eastern North Philadelphia (St. Hugh/Fairhill), as well as portions of West and Southwest Philadelphia. With the internet and social media platforms becoming the dominant vehicles for sharing information about public events, City services, and community meetings, households lacking internet connections are placed at a disadvantage with respect to civic engagement.

CONCLUSIONS

The 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) provides an overview of data from multiple sources and across six domains of analysis (employment, education, income and assets, housing, social and health status, and civic engagement) to support the Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) in future planning and investment decisions. This report will be used by CEO to inform options for new strategies and initiatives across three primary levels of intervention:

- **Individual and family**: client-centered programs, services and resources that are made available to individuals and households that meet eligibility criteria
- **Community**: investment in resources or infrastructure that increase the physical or social-service assets present within a community setting, benefitting the community at large
- **Agency**: opportunities available to CEO to bolster the capacity of its staff or Oversight Board, create new strategic partnerships, or engage in research, policy or advocacy efforts that increase its range of influence.

These categories are used as an organizing structure to present a few key conclusions from the 2020 CNA and highlight the implications for CEO's initiatives and priorities going forward. The conclusions included the following:

INDIVIDUALS AND FAMILIES

Female-headed households as a priority population

Census data show that Black, female-headed families with children comprise the largest segment of the population in poverty within Philadelphia, making up 24,000 total families (or nearly 40 percent of families in poverty). The 2020 CNA also showed that families headed by single women with low educational attainment are the most likely to be in poverty. Moreover, although Hispanic/Latinx female-headed households comprise only about 16 percent of all families in poverty, they have among the highest rates of poverty across all family types (49 percent).

This population intersects with the demographic characteristics of participants in the Work Ready program, which CEO currently administers through JEVS Human Services on behalf of the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services. The program provides job readiness, employment training, and career counseling for adults receiving TANF (Temporary Assistance to Needy Families). The work that CEO is currently engaged in to expand the services and resources available to clients of this program is important because it responds to the needs of those comprising the largest populations in Philadelphia experiencing deep and persistent poverty.

Support for financial empowerment programming

The 2020 CNA survey found that 28 percent of respondents below poverty used check-cashing services and more than half reported not having enough money at the end of the month to make ends meet. Other survey data found that in Philadelphia, Latinx households are unbanked at the highest rate (25 percent) and have the highest percentage of households with zero net worth (30 percent), while Black households are underbanked at the highest rate (29 percent) and have the second-highest percentage of households with zero net worth (30 percent), while Black households with zero net worth (28 percent). Focus group participants shared their struggles to cover the cost of monthly utilities and household expenses, and participants across all focus group categories (i.e., the unemployed, underemployed, returning citizens, people with disabilities, and opportunity youth/young adults) identified a need for assistance with household budgeting and financial management.

Utility assistance and other public benefits

The need for help paying for utilities was one of the most frequently cited challenges in the 2020 CNA Survey across both income categories. For those below poverty, it was the single highest-ranking challenge. This finding, in addition to the wide range of public benefits and services received by survey participants, confirms the continued need for BenePhilly Centers and CEO's Mobile Benefits Access Unit. These programs also assist clients with applications to affordable health insurance options and, for older adults, prescription drug assistance. The near universal challenges associated with paying for utilities by survey respondents should be further explored by CEO staff, through conversations with utility assistance providers such as UESF and specific programs, such as LIHEAP, the City's Tiered Assistance Program, and programs offered through PECO and PGW to identify any application barriers and opportunities to expand information and outreach efforts.

Housing

Housing was the third-most frequently cited challenge for CNA survey respondents below poverty. Respondents who cited housing as a major concern also reported problems with paying rent—a challenge which has likely been exacerbated by the pandemic. Focus group participants reported being on long waiting lists for public housing, experiencing homelessness, and staying with relatives as short-term fixes to housing crises. Participants also mentioned that it is very hard to apply for a job without an address.

CEO currently invests in the Homeless Prevention Program, operated by the Office of Homeless Services (OHS). The program provides rental assistance to help families and individuals avoid homelessness. Given the new resources from the American Rescue Plan that will be channeled to cities to prevent evictions, CEO's investment in the Homeless Prevention Program may present new opportunities to strategically leverage these short-term federal resources. In addition, supporting the work of the Division of Housing and Community Development in expanding the capacity of local social service organizations to assist with processing applications to the City's rental assistance programs will also help to minimize the amount of available federal funding that is left unspent. Finally, the concerns expressed by focus group members on the difficulty of obtaining employment without a permanent housing situation suggests opportunities to explore housing supports within the context of economic mobility programming.

Education and Employment

The 2020 CNA shows a clear need for continued support for programs such as Promise Corps, which provides college and career counseling services to high school students, as well as continuing and expanding partnerships with the School District of Philadelphia (SDP) to provide enhanced services and academic supports to SDP youth, especially in high-poverty areas. The 2020 CNA also provided evidence that Hispanic/Latinx students experience the greatest disparity in graduation rates in Philadelphia, which may have implications for CEO's future partnerships in youth programming.

Adult basic education and help with earning a GED is critical for improving employment prospects and supporting future economic mobility. The 2020 CNA included findings from Philadelphia Works showing the heightened economic vulnerability of low-skilled workers during the pandemic. Education support may be leveraged through whole-family interventions that serve parents as well as their children, which has emerged as a strategic priority for CEO. In addition, CEO's continued focus on providing employment supports for hard-to-serve populations (such as returning citizens, people with limited work histories, those with limited English proficiency, and formerly homeless people) through programs such as the Center for Employment Opportunity and First Step Staffing remains critical for addressing the needs of some of the most vulnerable households.

The 2020 CNA Survey found that, among respondents who reported employment as a top challenge, transportation was the highest-ranking employment barrier for people with incomes below poverty. Focus group participants also noted that transportation assistance was needed for both employment and participation in job training programs. They expressed safety concerns about using public transportation to travel to and from work late at night—fearing that they would become a victim of crime. They also recognized that there were well-paying employment opportunities in the surrounding areas that they could not easily access due to transportation challenges. Addressing the transportation challenges for those who are

unemployed, underemployed, or disconnected from the labor force may prove to be one of the most basic and practical strategies for promoting economic mobility.

COMMUNITY

Public safety

One of the clearest community-level needs revealed in the 2020 CNA was the problem of public safety. "Crime prevention and public safety" was the single most frequently reported challenge for respondents to the 2020 CNA Survey. Respondents expressed feeling unsafe as well as being the victim of a crime in the past year, while respondents below poverty were more likely to report having witnessed a crime. This is in addition to the fears associated with late-night travel referenced above.

Public safety was also shown to have racial equity implications: research by the Philadelphia Department of Public Health found that Philadelphia's Black population is disproportionately affected by violent crimes and homicides. The homicide mortality rate among Black residents is nearly ten times higher than it is for whites, and double that of Hispanics. The City of Philadelphia, through its Roadmap to Safer Communities plan, is implementing interventions that are designed to reduce gun violence and increase perceptions of public safety. CEO is a partner with the City's Office of Criminal Justice and Public Safety, which is leading this work. In addition, the West Philadelphia Promise Zone's Public Safety Committee is actively working on new strategies to promote public safety across Promise Zone neighborhoods. These efforts may generate new opportunities for community-level investments for CEO to advance public safety.

Civic Engagement

The 2020 CNA reviewed the work of City departments such as the Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Philly Counts in offering trainings and programs that build the capacity of Philadelphia residents to be active in their communities by participating in outreach and volunteer efforts. These and other City programs are building a network of engaged and committed residents that may have interest in working with CEO on specific outreach and education programs. Investing in existing community-based organizations or Neighborhood Advisory Committees (funded by the Division of Housing and Community Development) is another viable strategy to expand the reach of CEO engagement efforts.

CEO has a long history of offering convenings that bring together residents, community stakeholders, nonprofit partners, and City officials—providing a space to build new relationships, provide input, and strengthen service networks. This work remains as a priority identified in CEO's Strategic Framework and will help advance the goal of increased civic engagement.

Support for digital inclusion programs that would increase low-income residents' access to computer equipment, free or low-cost internet service and technical support, was identified in the 2020 CNA as an increasingly important prerequisite for civic engagement, particularly during a pandemic that has eliminated opportunities for in-person community meetings. CEO is a member of the City's Digital Equity Coordinating Committee and is actively exploring options for promoting new programs that expand internet access to underserved populations.

AGENCY

Fines and Fees Advocacy

The CNA Survey provided evidence supporting CEO's ongoing work advocating for reform in the City's policies regarding municipal fines and fees. Among survey respondents that identified "fair treatment with the courts" as a top challenge, unaffordable municipal fines and fees was reported to be a problem for 43 percent of the respondents below poverty, compared to 26 percent of respondents above poverty. The CNA Focus Group found that court fees created a particular challenge for returning citizens.

Research

The troubling statistics on poverty and access to services for those within the Latinx/Hispanic population presented in the 2020 CNA suggest that more needs to be done to understand the nature of poverty in this diverse community. The CNA noted that the Latinx community had among the highest rates of poverty across race and ethnicity (second only to "some other race"), the highest percentage of households with zero income, the largest disparities with respect to high school graduation rates, and the highest percentage of households lacking health insurance.

Alignment with Strategic Plan

The 2020 CNA reinforces the need for many of the agency priorities identified in CEO's 2019 Strategic Framework (CEO 2019). In particular, the overarching strategies listed below:

- CEO advocates for and invests in solutions that improve mobility out of poverty across multiple levels (including programmatic, procedural and systems)
- CEO is guided by listening to, supporting, and including communities while working collaboratively to promote greater economic mobility.

Incorporating these strategies across CEO's portfolio of investments and its policy priorities will require a continued focus on building staff capacity, expanding training opportunities, strengthening partnerships (local and national), and creating opportunities to draw upon the skill and expertise of its Oversight Board.

These conclusions are only a sub-set of the range of needs reflected in the 2020 CNA and the potential opportunities they present for CEO action in programming (both community-level and family/individual-level) and agency-level strategic direction. CEO will engage with staff, partner organizations, and community stakeholders around the report to receive input and identify additional opportunities for new interventions and resources that respond to the issues and concerns outlined in this Assessment.

INTRODUCTION

The City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) serves as the Community Action Agency (CAA) for the City of Philadelphia. As a CAA, CEO administers Community Services Block Grant (CSBG) funds in support of the agency's mission to promote economic mobility for Philadelphia residents by advancing racial equity and economic inclusion. The Community Services Block Grant (CSBG) authorizing statute requires CAAs to prepare a comprehensive assessment of the nature and extent of local needs and resources on a regular basis. Guidance provided by the Community Action Association of Pennsylvania (CAAP) and the Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic Development (DCED) further specifies that community action agencies must conduct a community needs assessment (CNA) at least every three years, with updates made in the intervening two years. This 2020 Community Needs Assessment was prepared by CEO in compliance with these state and federal requirements.

The 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) was prepared during the extraordinary circumstances presented by the onset of a global pandemic, which has fundamentally transformed the nature and scale of the social and economic needs facing millions of low-income households across the country, and in Philadelphia. CEO's 2020 CNA relies on two primary data sources, both of which were collected prior to the imposition of local COVID-19 restrictions: (1) the results from the 2019 American Community Survey, released by the U.S. Census Bureau on September 17 and December 10, 2020; and (2) CEO's Community Needs Assessment Survey and Focus Groups, which were conducted on behalf of CEO by Temple University's Institute of Survey Research between December 2019 and early March 2020. While these data sources predate the economic distress caused by the pandemic, they provide valuable information about the kinds of barriers and challenges that survey respondents face in their day-to-day lives, the basic demographics of the population living at and near the poverty level in Philadelphia, and underlying population and household characteristics such as educational attainment, labor force status, housing tenure, and health insurance coverage. These data are supplemented with secondary sources, such as research articles and policy briefs, that offer additional insight on local conditions and needs. The 2020 CNA also selectively incorporates administrative data from 2020 and research findings related to COVID-19 to acknowledge the impact that the pandemic has had across many of the topics covered in the report.

The 2020 CNA presents indicators relating to the conditions of poverty and analyzes trends to illustrate the patterns of economic disparity and opportunity for Philadelphia residents. The individual chapters include analyses of the demographics of poverty, employment, education, income and assets, housing, social and health status, and civic engagement. The 2020 CNA includes a series of maps that highlight the geographic patterns of poverty, unemployment, educational attainment, housing cost burdens, code violations, violent crime, and civic engagement. It also includes numerous charts illustrating frequency distributions for Census variables, administrative data, and survey data from a variety of sources.

DATA COLLECTION AND METHODOLOGY

SURVEY METHOD

In 2019, the City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) engaged Temple University's Institute of Survey Research (ISR) to administer and analyze an in-depth survey to better understand the challenges faced by Philadelphia residents living in poverty. The survey was conducted in late 2019 through the early part of 2020, concluding in late January/early February. Participants for the 2020 Community Needs Assessment Survey (CEO 2020) were recruited through three methods in order to target residents in high-poverty communities across the city.

Phase 1: In-Person Intercept Surveys

In-person intercept surveys were completed by ISR within nine neighborhoods identified by CEO. Fielding strategies were modified to include low-income sections of the following neighborhoods: (1) Lower Northeast, (2) Port Richmond/Fishtown/Kensington, (3) East Upper North, (4) Germantown/Penn Knox, (5) Strawberry Mansion, (6) East Lower North, (7) West Philadelphia, (8) Southwest Philadelphia, and (9) South Philadelphia. The field staff was instructed to intercept respondents at specified locations of high pedestrian traffic including intersections, businesses, and transportation centers close to the designated neighborhoods. ISR also deployed field staff to intersections near Philadelphia County Assistance Offices and other businesses that service low-income communities.

The field team consisted of eight experienced field interviewers, led by one field supervisor. The field supervisor monitored the sites to supervise data collection, troubleshoot field issues, and replenish materials. Field staff was deployed in groups of 2 to 4 to sites at various times throughout the day. This allowed ISR to experiment with different fielding times, traveling patterns, and other daily neighborhood activity shifts. As an incentive, each survey respondent received \$10 for in-person participation. ISR agreed to interview respondents regardless of income since recruitment would occur within high-poverty locations. This strategy ensured that the survey sample included both those likely to have incomes below poverty as well as respondents who were directly affected by the environment in which ISR encountered them.

Phase 2: KEYSPOTS and Community Buildings

ISR and CEO identified KEYSPOTs and community buildings within the targeted neighborhoods to promote the survey and make it accessible on public computers. CEO reached out to community partners in the selected neighborhoods to identify appropriate intersections or locations to recruit constituents. These community partners included workforce development centers, family development centers, social services, and community development centers. A flyer about the survey was displayed both online and in person at these locations encouraging residents to take the survey online or via the phone for a chance to win one of many \$20 gift cards. ISR field staff was deployed to these locations to deliver promotional materials and educate staff on the project.

Phase 3: BeHeardPhilly[™]

BeHeardPhilly[™] is a city-wide survey panel owned and operated by the Institute for Survey Research at Temple University. BeHeardPhilly[™] is a survey platform that allows Philadelphia organizations and agencies to better understand public opinion and perspectives in the city. For Philadelphia residents, BeHeardPhilly[™] is a chance to share their opinions by participating in surveys and weighing in on important social issues. BeHeardPhilly[™] includes Philadelphians 18 years and older, from every zip code in the city, and of all genders, races, ethnicities, and educational backgrounds. BeHeardPhilly[™] sends out surveys to members through their preferred contact mode. Everyone has the choice to receive surveys by email/web, phone or SMS text message.

For data collection, panel members had to live in the zip codes within the nine selected neighborhoods with a household income of less than \$40,000. To gain a comparison sample, ISR extended its BeHeardPhilly[™] sample selection to households that made up to \$75,000. A total of 2,542 eligible panel members living in the targeted neighborhoods who agreed to take surveys "more than once a month" from BeHeardPhilly[™] were invited to complete the survey. Total responses from BeHeardPhilly[™] were approximately 755, yielding a response rate of approximately 31 percent. The survey was distributed via phone, email, and text message. It is important to note that ISR's SMS platform for distribution of text surveys is not compatible with the original survey format. Therefore, participants receiving the text survey were asked to select phone call or email as an alternative delivery method for this survey. In addition to the initial invite, ISR sent two reminders to take the survey via the specified method.

Description of CNA Survey Respondents

Table II-1 presents the demographic data for the 1,050 respondents who completed the community needs assessment (CNA) survey. For the total sample, 71 percent identified as female, 26 percent identified as male, and 1 percent identified as "other" for gender. The mean age of the 1,027 respondents who replied with a birthdate was 48 years old. Respondents ranged in age from 18 years old to 92 years old. A majority of respondents identified their race as Black or African American (53 percent); 32 percent White or Caucasian; 12 percent Other; and 1 percent as Asian. Eleven percent of all participants identified their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latino.

Twenty-three percent of respondents indicated a household income of less than \$15,000 and 15 percent indicated an annual income of between \$15,000 and \$24,999. An additional 12 percent of respondents reported income between \$25,000 and \$34,999. Household size for respondents ranged from 1 to 12, with 37 percent of participants living alone; 24 percent living in a two-person household; 13 percent living in a three-person household; 9 percent living in a four-person household; and 5 percent living in a household with five or more people. Of those who responded, 30 percent reported that their household contained minors (under the age of 18). Twenty-four percent of participants reported that their household contained seniors age 65 or older. Five percent of respondents reported that they live in a household that includes both minors and seniors. Thirty percent indicated a high school diploma/GED or less as their highest level of education, and 20 percent reported some college but no degree. Thirty-two percent of respondents surveyed are living at or below 125 percent of the federal poverty level and over half (51%) are living at or below 200 percent of the federal poverty level.

Table II-1. Demographics of respondents of the 2020 CNA Survey (CEO 2020).

Demographic Profile of Respondents

Female7Other1Missing1Race1Asian1Black5White32 or more races1Missing1Ethnicity1Hispanic1	.6% 1% 1%
Female7Other1Missing1Race1Asian1Black5White32 or more races1Missing1Ethnicity1Hispanic1	1%
OtherInternationalOtherInternationalMissingInternationalAsianInternationalBlackInternationalBlackInternationalWhiteInternational2 or more racesInternationalMissingInternationalEthnicityInternationalHispanicInternational	
MissingRaceRaceAsianBlackOfferWhiteOr more racesMissingEthnicityHispanic	1%
RaceImage: state of the state of	
Asian	1%
Black 55 White 33 2 or more races 11 Missing 5 Ethnicity 11 Hispanic 11	
White32 or more races1MissingEthnicity1Hispanic1	1%
2 or more races1MissingEthnicity1Hispanic1	4%
MissingEthnicityHispanic1	2%
EthnicityHispanic1	2%
Hispanic 1	1%
Non-Hispanic 8	1%
-	6%
Missing	3%
Household Members**	
Under 18 (10% missing) 3	0%
65 or Older (10% missing) 2	4%
Under 18 AND 65 or Older	5%
Highest Level of Education	
Less than 9 th Grade	1%
9 th – 12 th Grade, no diploma	8%
High School graduate/GED 2	0%
Some College- no degree 2	0%
Associate's degree/Trade 1	2%
Bachelor's degree 2	0%
Graduate/Professional degree 1	8%
Missing	1%
Poverty125	1 70
Above 125% Poverty 6	1 70
Below 125% Poverty 3	8%

	%
Age	
18-24	6%
25-34	21%
35-44	18%
45-54	13%
55-64	21%
65-74	13%
75+	5%
Missing	2%
Age *: 48 years*(SD= 17)	
Household Size	
1	37%
2	24%

3 13% 4 9% 5+ 5% Missing 12% Parent/Caregiver to child (K-12) Yes 25% **Household Income** Less than \$14,999 23% \$15,000-\$24,999 15% \$25,000-\$34,999 12% \$35,000-\$49,999 14% \$50,000-\$74,999 15% \$75,000+ 9% Prefer not to say 11% Poverty200 Above 200% FPL 49% Below 200% FPL 51%

****** Participants age 18 or older were eligible for the survey.

GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONDENTS

Staff from CEO and ISR worked together to identify neighborhood boundaries that would constitute the sampling areas for residents. ISR staff started by using CEO's map of aggregated census tracts that constituted 157 small neighborhoods across the city. The neighborhoods were stratified according to the percentage of residents living at or below the federal poverty level. The five strata were defined as follows: 1=0 to 10 percent; 2 =10 to 14 percent; 3=14 to 20 percent; 4=20 to 40 percent; and 5=40 to 58 percent. The neighborhoods were designated into one of the five strata in 2009 and in 2017. We examined the neighborhoods to identify those where more than 20 percent of residents were living at or below the federal poverty level in 2009, in 2017, and at both time points.

Neighborhoods were then aggregated by combining geographically contiguous neighborhoods. Known neighborhood boundaries (major roads, parkland, rail lines, and other natural barriers) were taken into consideration. A zip code overlay neighborhood allocation was used in the absence of complete address information. The sampling area consisted of nine neighborhood zones. These zones and their census demographics are shown below in Table II-2, along with the total completed surveys from each neighborhood. Figure II-1 below shows the geographic distribution of respondents in the full sample who reported an address (n=737/1050) across the city of Philadelphia.

		#	Total		%	%	%	%	%	Total
Zone	NAME	Tracts	Рор	%	White	Black	Hisp.	Asian	Other	Surveys
1	Lower Northeast	14	88,971	13	21	35	25	16	7	82
2	PortRich/Fish/ Kens	22	113,125	17	32	28	35	3	5	144
3	East Upper North	17	79,537	12	6	43	41	9	3	129
4	German/PennKnox	19	75,425	11	8	84	3	2	5	93
5	Strwberry Mansion	10	31,602	5	7	85	3	2	5	148
6	East Lower North	21	86,192	13	15	23	58	3	3	68
7	West	12	51,792	8	2	93	3	0	4	84
8	Southwest	25	106,804	16	5	87	3	3	4	125
9	South	8	4,5851	7	45	18	11	22	7	81

Table II-2. Demographics of the nine sampling neighborhoods as defined by the 2018 American Community Survey Data (CEO 2020).



Figure II-1. Map of CNA survey respondents by ZIP code of residence (CEO 2020).

Survey instrument and analysis

The survey was structured in a way to allow a wide range of questions to be posed to the full sample of 1,050 respondents, and more detailed questions to smaller sub-samples based on their reported challenges and concerns. A copy of the survey instrument is provided in an appendix to this report. Selected results from both the full sample and for the sub-samples are provided in this report. Survey results were also segmented by income category, to identify differences in responses for those with incomes below 125 percent of the federal poverty level ("below poverty") and those earning above 125 percent of FPL ("above poverty"). This poverty threshold was chosen to align with the household eligibility requirements for programs and services funded through the Community Services Block Grant, which CEO administers in Philadelphia. Approximately 32 percent of the full sample had incomes below 125 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL) and 68 percent had incomes above 125 percent of FPL.

Figure II-2 below provides a summary of the responses to a survey question in which participants were asked to identify issues/topics that presented a top challenge to them or their families in the past year, broken out by those below poverty and above poverty as defined above. For those with incomes below poverty, "paying utilities", "crime and public safety", and "housing" were reported as challenges with the highest frequency. For those above poverty, "crime and public safety", "household budget and finances", and "physical and mental health" were among the most frequently-cited challenges. In most references throughout this report, survey responses are broken out by poverty status to enable a comparison across income groups and ensure that the specific needs and concerns of those living at and near the federal poverty line are made apparent.

Figure II-2. Percent of Survey Respondents who Ranked the Following Topics as a Top Three Challenge in the past 12 Months (CEO 2020).



FOCUS GROUP METHOD

The Institute for Survey Research (ISR) at Temple University conducted focus groups and qualitative interviews for the 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) on behalf of CEO in March of 2020. The goals of the CNA focus groups were to: 1) moderate five focus groups with 8 to 10 participants to collect information from Philadelphia residents on community needs; 2) compile data collected through the focus groups to transmit to CEO; and 3) analyze qualitative data and prepare a report summarizing key findings.

Targeted populations and protocol

The qualitative component of the 2020 Philadelphia CNA provided an opportunity to use preliminary results from the quantitative surveys being deployed in nine neighborhood zones to explore emerging topics in depth. The design of the focus group interview protocol was a collaborative effort between the Institute for Survey Research and CEO. Protocol development began in late January 2020. Staff from CEO identified five distinct populations whose needs they would like to learn more about. The focus groups and qualitative interviews included the following five subgroups of residents living at or below the poverty line in Philadelphia:

- 1. Employed individuals
- 2. Unemployed individuals
- 3. People with disabilities (receiving SSI or SSDI)
- 4. Opportunity youth+, 18 to 34 years of age (to align with the City's target age group for its gun violence initiative)
- 5. Residents returning from incarceration (returning citizens)

The following "Guiding Questions" structured the overall protocol:

- Whether and how perceptions of crime and public safety impact their daily behaviors. (Especially how they may create barriers to "economic mobility"—defined as wage and/or income growth over time.)
- The barriers people face in accessing employment paying a living wage, estimated at about \$25.00 per hour (Glasmeier, 2021).
- Whether and how housing insecurity impacts behaviors that hinder economic mobility. Their experience of housing insecurity (e.g., frequent moves, eviction, housing cost burdens, poor housing quality).
- Whether and how physical and mental health challenges create a barrier to economic mobility.
- What is the most effective way to increase awareness about resources and programs? (How do they get their information?) Further insight into questions from the survey about whether they know about available resources.

In mid-February 2020, ISR conducted cognitive interviews with six residents of the four targeted sample populations (excluding disabled residents). The cognitive interviews highlighted the need to expand the definition of economic mobility and livable wage. The constructs of both concepts were to increase one's earning potential so they could increase their livelihood. Interview participants were unable to process making at least \$25 an hour when at present, most were only making a minimum wage of \$7.25. Based on the cognitive interviews, the protocol remained general instead of focused on a specific income.

For people with disabilities, the goal for the protocol was to make it parallel to the protocol for non-disabled populations. CEO reached out to the Legal Clinic for the Disabled (LCD) to review the protocol for this target group. Physical and mental health emerged as an important issue in the CNA survey for a large number of respondents, but there was a concern that asking residents with a physical or mental health limitation about challenges related to physical or mental health may be intrusive or not align with the protocols of the other targeted groups. Because SSI and SSDI are awarded based on a claimant's demonstrated inability to work due to their disability, LCD recommended that ISR reframe the protocol to focus on challenges people face accessing resources or participating in community activities, instead of on their ability to improve income.

Focus Group Location

Participants were allowed to select the location of most convenience to attend the focus group. ISR hosted focus groups at Temple University's Main campus in North Philadelphia and in Center City (TUCC) Campus, located across from City Hall at 1515 Market Street. Due to the CDC recommendation prohibiting groups of people from congregating in limited spaces, qualitative phone interviews were conducted with the underemployed, people with disabilities, and opportunity youth.

Focus Group Process and Adaptation to Pandemic-related Restrictions

ISR recruited the focus group sample from participants in the CNA survey, BeHeardPhillysM members, inperson neighborhood recruitment, and organizations such as JEVS and the City of Philadelphia's E3 Center. JEVS Human Services holds a re-entry orientation for returning citizens in the same building as ISR's office. ISR staff collaborated with JEVS to invite all participants from their orientation to attend the focus group for returning citizens. JEVS also recruited youth from its youth program for participation in the opportunity youth focus group. Opportunity youth were also recruited from two of the City of Philadelphia's E3 Power Centers in North Philadelphia and West Philadelphia. The E3 Power Centers help youth acquire the skills and work experience they need to make a successful transition to adulthood. E3 stands for Education, Employment, and Empowerment.

To ensure that 8 to 10 individuals were available to participate in focus group discussions, ISR recruited 15 participants for each group. Temple ISR's staff encouraged active participation among all focus group members. Throughout the sessions, a note-taker documented all non-audible communications and dynamics. All participants who showed up for the scheduled focus group were compensated with \$35 in cash or with a \$35 Visa gift card.

In-person focus groups were held on March 10 – 11, 2020. On March 12, 2020, Temple University cancelled all non-essential events until further notice to comply with the CDC's social distancing guidelines for the COVID-19 pandemic. The focus groups for the underemployed, persons with disabilities, and opportunity youth were still pending. Temple ISR canceled participants from the in-person focus groups. Participants were asked to participate in a focus group, conference call, or interview by phone at a later date. On March 16, 2020, ISR held a conference call with underemployed residents. The group dynamic of the call limited open discussion and collaboration among participants. Due to varying access levels to the internet, ISR decided to hold qualitative interviews after trialing the conference call in lieu of in-person focus groups. From March 17 through March 25, 2020, ISR shifted the remaining focus groups (people with disabilities and opportunity youth) to one-on-one qualitative interviews.

DEMOGRAPHICS OF POVERTY IN PHILADELPHIA

Philadelphia is home to more than 1.57 million residents (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). Philadelphia reached its peak population in 1950, when it was the third largest city in the nation with 2.1 million residents. Philadelphia's population loss began in the 1960s due to factors that affected many older industrial cities such as white flight, suburbanization, and outmigration to the rapidly growing parts of the country (e.g., the sunbelt). The greatest population decline for Philadelphia occurred during the 1970s, when the city lost over a quarter of a million residents. The trends in population loss continued into the 1980s through the early 2000s, propelled by the progression of suburban sprawl and the growth of the outer ring suburbs. Philadelphia's population eventually began to see signs of modest growth starting in 2007 and continuing through 2019 (The Pew Charitable Trusts, 2020). Despite the recent upward trends, Philadelphia's rate of population growth remains slightly behind Pennsylvania's rate for the nearly two decades between 2000 and 2019 and is significantly less than the national rate of population growth (15.4%) during this period.

	Total Population, 2000	Total Population, 2019	Population Change from 2000-2019	Percent Change from 2000-2019
Philadelphia	1,517,550	1,579,075	61,525	4.05%
Pennsylvania	12,281,054	12,791,530	510,476	4.16%
United States	281,421,906	324,697,795	43,275,889	15.38%

Table III-1. Regional and national comparison of population change, from 2000 to 2019 (CAP 2021).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019.

Philadelphia's burgeoning population growth was not even across all parts of the city. A total of 52 of 372 residential Census tracts in Philadelphia saw more than a 25 percent increase in population between 2010 and 2019 (see Figure III-1). These areas of above-average growth were primarily located in Center City, Northern Liberties, Kensington/Fishtown, and parts of the Lower Northeast, with pockets of high growth in sections of University City, North Philadelphia (near Temple University), Northwest Philadelphia, and Northeast Philadelphia. Conversely, ten Census tracts *lost* more than 25 percent of their population between 2010 and 2019, including tracts in several neighborhoods in North Philadelphia (e.g., Tioga and Allegheny West) and sections of West and Southwest Philadelphia.





Philadelphia is a racially and ethnically diverse city: 42 percent of Philadelphia residents are Black or African American, 41 percent are white, 15 percent are Hispanic, and 7 percent are Asian. A small fraction—.5 percent of the population—is comprised of Native American and Alaskan Native, and Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander. Close to 10 percent of the population is made up of "some other race" and residents of "two or more races" (ACS 2019, 5-Year Estimates). Philadelphia is home to 106,563 children under the age of five, 238,998 children and young adults between the ages of 5 and 18, over 1.1 million residents of working age (18 to 64 years old), and 212,274 older adults over the age of 64. Table III-2 provides a snapshot of these demographic statistics.

	Philade	lphia	Pennsylvania		
Indicator	Number Percent		Number	Percent	
Population	1,579,075		12,791,530		
Percent Change from 2010		4.93%		1.42%	
Households	601,337		5,053,106		
Age and Gender					
Male	747,479	47%	6,265,113	49%	
0-4 Years	54,511	7%	706,563	6%	
5-17 Years	121,429	16%	1,001,143	16%	
18-64 Years	591,733	79%	4,745,795	76%	
Over 64 Years	84,838	11%	994,823	16%	
Female	831,596	53%	6,526,417	51%	
0-4 Years	52,052	6%	345,053	5%	
5-17 Years	117,569	14%	954,685	15%	
18-64 Years	591,865	71%	4,747,119	73%	
Over 64 Years	127,436	15%	1,286,897	20%	
Race and Ethnicity					
Not Hispanic or Latino					
White	642,060	40.7%	10,300,602	80.5%	
Black or African American	665,333	42.1%	1,430,664	11.2%	
Native American and Alaska Native	5,754	0.4%	24,691	0.2%	
Asian	114,315	7.2%	436,324	3.4%	
Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander	784	0.0%	4,198	0.0%	
Some Other Race	102,480	6.5%	275,177	2.2%	
Two or More Races	48,349	3.1%	319,874	2.5%	
Hispanic	231,858	14.7%	935,216	7.3%	

Table III-2. Demographic snapshot of Philadelphia and comparison to Pennsylvania, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year
Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Tables S0101, B03003, B02001

With just under a quarter of residents living below the poverty line, Philadelphia has the highest poverty rate of the ten largest cities in the nation. One-year census estimates (which are more current but have a higher margin of error compared to 5-year estimates) are useful for tracking data trends over time. The 1-year estimates show that after peaking in 2011 at 28.4 percent, Philadelphia's poverty rate has slowly been on the decline, falling to 23 percent in 2019 (ACS 2010 – 2019, 1-Year Estimates). In 2019, the poverty threshold for a 2-person household was \$17,196 in annual income (US Census Bureau 2019).





Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 1 Year, 2010 – 2019, Table S1701

Residents in poverty are not monolithic in racial composition, household type, educational attainment, or supportive services needed. Several sub-groups experience poverty at higher rates. Across race and ethnicity, Hispanic residents and those reporting "some other race" have the highest rates of poverty in Philadelphia, measuring 42.1 percent and 41.5 percent, respectively (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). Black or African American residents in Philadelphia comprise the most populous racial group living in poverty, at 190,475 individuals. Across family types, female householders are most likely to be living in poverty. Approximately 32 percent of female householders in Philadelphia are poor, and this rate increases when considering female householders with children. Forty-two percent (42%) of female-headed households with children live below the poverty level, an increase of 10 percentage points above the broader category of female-headed households, and more than double the rate for all families. The poverty rates rise to staggering levels as the number of children in the household increases, with rates rising to over 90 percent for female-headed households with 5 or more children (Figure III-3) (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).



Figure III-3. Poverty rate for female-headed households by number of children in household, Philadelphia, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Hispanic female-headed households and households of "some other race" have the highest prevalence of poverty of female-headed households by race and ethnicity. By total number, households headed by Black or African American women comprise the largest group of female householders in poverty across race or ethnicity in Philadelphia.

The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) established the Racially/Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty (RECAP) indicator to help municipalities, advocates, and community-based groups identify where areas of high poverty and communities of color intersect. HUD defines RECAP areas as census tracts having both a non-white population greater than 50 percent and a poverty rate above 40 percent (HUD 2021). As shown in Figure III-4, RECAP tracts are concentrated in North and West Philadelphia. These areas predominantly consist of African American communities in North Philadelphia, Hispanic communities in Eastern North Philadelphia and African American communities in West Philadelphia.

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table S1702

Figure III-4. Poverty rate and Racially- and Ethnically-Concentrated Areas of Poverty (RECAP) for Census tracts in Philadelphia, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).


In Philadelphia, 35 Census tracts have 20 percent or more of families living in "deep poverty" (Figure III-5). These households earn less than 50 percent of the poverty threshold—or \$12,875 per year or less in income for a family of four (U.S. Dept. of HHS, 2019). Deep poverty census tracts are predominantly located in North Philadelphia neighborhoods, including Sharswood, Tioga and North Central; in the Eastern North Philadelphia neighborhoods of Fairhill, Harrowgate, and Kensington; as well as West Philadelphia neighborhoods, such as Belmont, West Powelton and East Parkside; and sections of Southwest Philadelphia. A snapshot of statistics relating to poverty and demographics in Philadelphia is included in Table III-3 below.

Figure III-5. Census tract map of percent in deep poverty, 2019 (ACS 5 Year Estimates).



Indicator	Number Below Poverty	Percent Below Poverty
Population	373,727	24.3%
Age		
Under 18 years	117,886	34.8%
18-64 Years	219,727	22.2%
Over 64 Years	36,114	17.6%
Gender		
Male	168,143	23.2%
Female	205,584	25.4%
Race		
One race		
White	102,500	16.5%
Black or African American	190,457	29.2%
American Indian and Alaska Native	1,345	24.2%
Asian	25,587	23.3%
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander	313	40.4%
Some other race	42,022	41.5%
Two or more races	11,503	24.6%
Hispanic or Latino origin (of any race)	85,287	42.1%
Educational Attainment		
Less than high school graduate	58,904	36.6%
High school graduate	82,158	23.9%
Some college, Associates' degree	40,398	16.9%
Bachelor's degree or higher	28,053	8.8%
Employment Status for Civilians over age 16		
Employed	65,999	9.5%
Unemployed	27,659	39.4%
Families Below Poverty	62,576	19.2%
With children under 18	45,882	28.5%
Married-couple	16,019	9.4%
Female householder	38,709	32.1%
Female-Headed Households Below Poverty		
White	7,037	24.3%
Black or African American	24,056	32.4%
American Indian and Alaska Native	193	27.8%
Asian	1,189	29.5%
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander	45	43.7%
Some other race	5,424	53.6%
Two or more races	834	34.2%
Hispanic or Latino origin (of any race)	9,903	48.8%

Table III-3. Snapshot of poverty in Philadelphia by demographics, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Tables S1701 and S1702

OTHER DEMOGRAPHIC POPULATIONS

Older Adults

At 18 percent, the poverty rate for Philadelphia seniors (age 65 and older) is significantly below the citywide poverty rate of 24 percent (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). According to a recent report by the Philadelphia Corporation for Aging (PCA), the proportion of older adults in Philadelphia (age 60 and above) living in deep poverty, with incomes below 50 percent of the federal poverty level, rose by 4 percentage points between 2013 and 2018: from 6 percent to 10 percent. The overall poverty rate for adults 60 and above is on the rise as well, growing from 20 percent in 2013 to 22 percent in 2018 (PCA 2020).

Immigrants

Immigrants in Philadelphia experience poverty at a rate that is essentially equal to the native-born population (approximately 24 percent in 2019). However, within the foreign-born population, the poverty rate for permanent residents (29%) is almost 60 percent higher than the poverty rate for naturalized citizens (19%). Poverty rates also vary by region of origin, with the highest rates of poverty experienced by those from Latin America (29%) followed by the Americas (28.7%) and Asia (26.7%) (Figures III-6 & III-7).





Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table B17025





The 375,300 people living in poverty in Philadelphia can be broken out across several broad demographic categories, such as age, gender, race, ethnicity, disability status, and employment status, to provide a quick visual profile of the composition of this population. Figure III-8 depicts the population in poverty in Philadelphia as predominated by younger adults (under 35) who are largely female, Black non-Hispanic, non-disabled, and not in the labor force. While this graphic provides a static illustration of the demographic characteristics of the population in poverty in Philadelphia, it should be understood as the result of long-term inequities embedded in institutions and systems that have made it difficult for people of color (and, in particular, Black women with children) to live in healthy, safe environments that support opportunities to invest in education and training, build marketable skills, and nurture inherent talent. This means that the process of promoting economic mobility and reducing the incidence of deep and persistent poverty will require the transformation of systems (e.g., housing, education, criminal justice), while at the same time extending important services and resources to those most impacted by existing inequities. Both approaches are needed to respond to the immediate crises faced by those most impacted, and to address the underlying structural forces that create and reproduce the experience of poverty as a common feature of life in Black and brown communities.

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2019, Table S0201

Figure III-8. Profile of population in poverty, Philadelphia (ACS 2018 5-Year Estimates; adapted from City of Philadelphia, 2018).



Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2014-2018.

Geographic Distribution of CEO Programs and Investments

In response to the long-term geographic patterns of poverty in Philadelphia, CEO has invested in communitybased programs that are located within or near many of the most impacted areas, as well as more centrallylocated services accessible to residents from all neighborhoods across the city by public transportation. A map showing the location of programs and services receiving support from CEO is provided below in Figure III-9.

The following sections provide an in-depth look at how poverty affects all aspects of life, including being able to remain in your home, secure and maintain employment, access educational and skill-building opportunities, manage finances and build wealth, and maintain a healthy life.

Figure III-9. Sites and programs supported by CEO (2019).



EMPLOYMENT

Philadelphia's labor market was greatly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and economic crisis. In 2020, more than 51,000 jobs were lost due to the economic shutdown that began in March. Between March and October 2020, more than 233,000 Philadelphians submitted initial unemployment claims with the state to make ends meet, as they suffered unemployment or a reduction in hours (Philadelphia Works, 2020).

In the second quarter of 2020, the city's unemployment rate peaked at more than 18 percent—two points higher than Pennsylvania's unemployment rate and four points higher than the national rate. While unemployment in Philadelphia has declined to 9.3 percent as of December 2020, it is likely to take several months to return to pre-pandemic levels (Philadelphia Works, 2020).

The pandemic and resulting economic crisis have had uneven effects across the city's labor force. More than 84 percent of employment declines were concentrated among occupations in the bottom 20 percent of the wage spectrum, with low-wage industries declining by more than 30,000 jobs in the second quarter of 2020. Almost 80 percent of Philadelphians working in the Accommodations and Food Services industries filed for state unemployment benefits between March and December 2020 (Philadelphia Works, 2021). However, the number of jobs at the higher end of the median wage range saw virtually no change, as seen in Figure IV-1.



Figure IV-1. Employment change by occupational median wage in Philadelphia, 2019 to 2020 estimates (Philadelphia Works, Inc. 2021).

Source: Philadelphia Works analysis of data from EMSI, Inc. and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Author: Matthew Hutton, Senior Research Analyst at Philadelphia Works, Inc.; Research, Policy, and Innovation Because low-wage positions often do not require postsecondary education, the loss of these jobs disproportionately affects residents without a college degree. Philadelphia Works found that 86 percent of employment declines were among occupations that typically require a high school diploma or no educational credential, shown in Figure IV-2 (Philadelphia Works, 2020).



Figure IV-2. Occupational employment growth by typical degree requirements in Philadelphia, 2019 to 2020 estimates (Philadelphia Works 2020).

Source: Philadelphia Works analysis of data from EMSI, Inc. and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Author: Matthew Hutton, Senior Research Analyst at Philadelphia Works, Inc.; Research, Policy, and Innovation

Areas with higher concentrations of non-white residents are more likely to be affected by the employment crisis caused by the pandemic. Making up approximately 40 percent of Philadelphia's labor force, Black workers represented nearly half of all initial claims filed from March to December 2020. Geographic analyses of unemployment assistance data show the disproportionate impact the pandemic has had on Philadelphia's communities of color, where higher numbers of initial unemployment claims correspond with majority-BIPOC neighborhoods in West, Southwest, and North Philadelphia that have been historically affected by employment barriers, poverty, and lower levels of educational attainment (Philadelphia Works, 2021b).

Overview of Philadelphia's Labor Force

More than 773,900 adults over the age of 16 in Philadelphia, out of a total of 1.23 million, are in the labor force, comprising a labor force participation rate of 61 percent. In 2019, Philadelphia's unemployment rate of 5.7 percent surpassed both the state-wide (4.2%) and national averages (3.8%) (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

In Philadelphia, younger adults are more likely to be unemployed than middle-aged and older adults, and Black residents have the highest unemployment rate (12.9%) across all racial groups. While the proportion of white Philadelphians working fewer than 35 hours per week has declined by 6 percent since 2012, the percentage for Black and Latinx Philadelphians has risen by 1 percent and 3 percent, respectively (Shields & Hornstein, 2020).

Income poor communities of color also tend to be areas of high unemployment, illustrating the entanglements between race, geography, and workforce development that contribute to the economic struggles of individuals and families. Many sections of Lower North, Upper North, West, and Southwest Philadelphia have some of the highest unemployment rates in the city, as shown in Figure IV-3. In Strawberry Mansion, a neighborhood in Lower North Philadelphia, almost one in three residents is unemployed (32.6%) (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).





One of the major correlates to unemployment is poverty, yet active, full-time employment does not guarantee living above the poverty line if wages are low. Over 40 percent of workers in Philadelphia are in jobs where the median hourly wage is below \$20.65 (Budick et al., 2020), the estimated living wage for a family of four with two working householders (Glasmeier, 2021). Low-wage jobs are in the industries of food service, personal care, healthcare support, and building maintenance. Put plainly, a large portion of Philadelphia's active labor force is struggling to make ends meet despite being employed.





Hardest-to-Serve Populations

Improving working conditions and increasing base wages are workforce development strategies that will contribute to poverty alleviation. But, for populations that experience barriers to entering and maintaining stable work, supportive work programs and policies tailored to these career-seekers are also needed. Hardest-to-serve populations include adults with limited work experience, adults with low literacy or educational attainment, adults with a disability, foreign-born adults (especially those with low for enrolled in school). Hardest-to-serve populations are not mutually exclusive, as a single person may possess several of these attributes. Table IV-1 provides a snapshot of the labor force participation and unemployment rate for each of the "hardest-to-serve" populations. The following subsections expand upon each group in greater detail (Philadelphia Works, 2021).

Table IV-1. Summary of labor force engagement of "hardest-to-serve" populations in Philadelphia, 2019. (Philadelphia Works 2021).

	Percent of Age Group	Unemployment Rate	Labor Force Participation Rate
Population ages 25-64	100.0%	7.8%	75.0%
Limited work history	20.0%	N/A	6.5%
Seasonal Workers	5.8%	28.2%	73.3%
Low educational attainment	13.4%	16.2%	49.0%
With disabilities	16.6%	17.5%	32.6%
Limited English speakers	7.0%	8.6%	62.6%
Youth 16-24		17.1%	52.1%
Disengaged youth	15.5%	N/A	33.2%

Limited work history and low educational attainment

About 20 percent of working-age adults in Philadelphia have limited work histories, meaning that about 172,200 adults work less than half of the year or have not worked in the last 5 years. Over one in seven (15%) of working-age adults lacks a high school diploma or equivalent, and the data suggest that the lost earning potential of those without a diploma compared to those with a diploma is significant (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). On average, having a high school diploma corresponds with an additional \$616 of income per month (BLS 2020). Only about half of adults with low educational attainment were engaged in the labor force, and of those that were, 16 percent were unemployed.

Advanced education often improves one's ability to secure quality paying jobs. As of 2019, about 115,300 adults, or 13 percent of all adults between the ages of 25 and 64 in Philadelphia, lacked a high school diploma or equivalent. Less than half (49%) of adults with low educational attainment were engaged in the labor force, and of those that were, 16 percent were unemployed (Philadelphia Works, 2021c). The median income for these adults was \$22,902, compared to \$28,430 for adults with a high school diploma or equivalent certification. This results in approximately \$460 per month in lost wages due to differences in educational attainment (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Adults with Disabilities

Philadelphia's population has the largest proportion of people with disabilities of any major city; about 17 percent of Philadelphia residents have a disability (Eichel & Martin, 2018). Around 18 percent of working-age adults with disabilities are unemployed. Approximately one in three (32.6%) adults with disabilities participate in the labor force. "Disability" is a broad term, encompassing varied physical, emotional, and cognitive attributes that individuals may experience on a daily, recurring, or sporadic basis. Adults with cognitive disabilities and those facing difficulties living independently were most likely to be unemployed, as 26.5 percent and 28.8 percent of these adults, respectively, were out of work. Moreover, one in three persons with disabilities is living below the poverty line, for a total of about 87,085 people (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Foreign-Born Adults and those with Limited English Proficiency

Approximately 14 percent of Philadelphia residents were born outside of the United States. Foreign-born residents are more likely to have lower educational attainment, lower median income, and lower English proficiency than native-born residents, yet are slightly more likely to be employed. Of all foreign-born residents, 26 percent lacked a high school degree or equivalent and 51 percent have low English proficiency. Their median household income is \$43,014, compared with the citywide average of \$45,927 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). For individuals ages 25 to 64 with limited English language proficiency, 63 percent are engaged in the labor force, and of these, 9 percent are unemployed (Philadelphia Works, 2021c).

	Native- Born	Foreign-Born Natur	alized Citizen	Not a U.S. Citizen
Percent of population	86%	14%	7%	6%
Percent with low educational attainment	13%	26%	22%	29%
Percent with low English-speaking proficiency	5%	53%	47%	57%
Percent unemployed	6%	5%	5%	6%
Median household income	\$46,455	\$43,014	\$47,523	\$38,872

Table IV-2. Socio-economic characteristics of native- and foreign-born populations, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table S0501

Opportunity Youth

Opportunity youth comprise 17 percent (approximately 34,000) of all young adults between the ages of 16 and 24 (Philadelphia Works, 2020b). Because they are not in school or working, these young people are disconnected from the labor market and academic opportunities, and as a result have limited access to the skill- and experience-building activities that could serve them throughout their lifetime. Researchers from Philadelphia Works mapped Census microdata on opportunity youth ages 18 to 24 and found the city's highest concentrations were in North, West, and Southwest Philadelphia—areas that are disproportionately impacted by unemployment and poverty. They also found that, relative to their peers enrolled in school or employed, disconnected, representing three-quarters of all opportunity youth in Philadelphia (Philadelphia Works, 2020b).

Returning Citizens

As of 2019, about 82,000 people were incarcerated in prisons or jails in Pennsylvania. Of that total, 46,000 people were incarcerated in prisons—the sixth-highest total prison population in the country. Pennsylvania also has the unfortunate distinction of ranking seventh among all states in disparities between Black and white incarceration rates and ranking seventh among all states for juvenile imprisonment. The Pennsylvania Department of Corrections reports that in 2019, Philadelphia was the top committing county, making up 24.7 percent of committed inmates (PA Department of Corrections, 2019).

Approximately 11,000 former prisoners were successfully discharged to Philadelphia County in 2018. Nationally, there has been a growing understanding that returning citizens and those with criminal records face severe barriers to maintaining a safe and supportive life. They may be denied or evicted from housing, have difficulty obtaining public services and benefits like Medicare and Medicaid, be denied employment and access to lines of credit, and face repeated stigmatization and dehumanization based on their criminal record. In Pennsylvania, approximately one in four incarcerated individuals has less than a 12th grade education and 81 percent are unskilled or possess no skills, further exacerbating barriers to stable employment (PA Department of Corrections, 2019).

Employment Needs from the 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) Survey

Across the sixteen potential challenges presented to the respondents to CEO's 2020 CNA Survey, employment was chosen as a top three challenge by about 14 percent—186 out of 1,050 total respondents. Respondents who identified employment as a challenge received follow-up questions to gather additional information about their concerns. Of these 186 respondents, 47 percent indicated that they were employed, and 79 percent stated that they experienced a period of unemployment in the last 12 months. For respondents below poverty, only one-third reported being currently employed, while 46 percent were "out of work and looking" for employment.

Transportation was the most frequently cited barrier to finding or keeping a job, with 33 percent of the subsample noting this as an issue. About one in four (25%) of low-income respondents reported needing help finding or keeping a job because of childcare, and nearly one in four (24%) noted that their criminal history was a barrier. Thirty-two percent of the sub-sample reported that someone in the household needed training or job-related skills, while only 18 percent stated that they were aware of employment assistance services. When asked to list employment programs, respondents included the following: Career Builders, career fairs, Career Link, Impact Services, Philadelphia Works, Temple Community Relations, and the Youth Fathers program.



Figure IV-5. Responses to 2020 CNA Survey relating to employment status (CEO 2020).

Figure IV-6. Responses to 2020 CNA Survey relating to employment barriers (CEO 2020).



Findings from 2020 CNA Focus Groups

Crime: Respondents across all five focus groups — the unemployed, underemployed, returning citizens, people with disabilities, and opportunity youth — described the impact crime and neighborhood safety had on their ability to find jobs and improve income. Many expressed a daily fear of victimization or incarceration, which influences their employment, housing, childcare, and transportation decisions as well as their physical and mental health. Focus group participants indicated crime as a barrier to accepting some employment opportunities (e.g., concern over personal safety while returning home on public transportation late at night, fear that their children would not receive enough supervision).

Discrimination: The most common barrier to accessing career employment expressed by focus group participants was discrimination. Unemployed and underemployed residents mentioned discrimination against ethnic-sounding names as a major barrier to receiving job interviews when applying for employment through different career services programs. Disabled participants felt these same programs discriminated against them because of their disability, only showing them jobs without opportunities for career growth. Returning citizens also cited discrimination as a barrier to finding employment, with those on parole or living in a halfway house being barred from positions that required more paperwork from their parole or probation officer.

Resource Limitations and Competition: Another barrier to career-oriented employment expressed across focus groups was increasing competition for career training opportunities. Focus group participants mentioned that jobs linked to the completion of career training programs were often based on grant funding and, therefore, only temporary. They believed that programs often train participants for low-paying jobs or give them credentials that are not helpful during a job search (e.g., Microsoft certification). One participant mentioned the availability of jobs outside of Philadelphia that pay better but cited childcare needs and a lack of adequate public transportation as access barriers. Participants across all five focus groups expressed frustration trying to balance taking part in unpaid training and educational opportunities with working enough hours to meet daily needs and pay bills. Often, residents chose a lower-paying job to make ends meet because they could not afford to go without income while searching for higher-paying opportunities.

Help with resumes and interviews were mentioned as barriers, but participants across all focus groups were generally aware of the services and programs within the city designed to meet these needs. In all five groups, only two participants mentioned finding employment through a career services program. Other participants said they found jobs through employment agencies, social networking, and word of mouth.

Participants across all focus groups experienced housing insecurity. Many reported being on waiting lists for public housing. A few shared that they experienced homelessness and stayed with relatives as a short-term fix to housing issues. However, participants mentioned that it is difficult to apply for a job without an address. All focus groups expressed a need for household budgeting and financial management training.

Overall, participants from across all focus groups heard about available employment resources by word of mouth and social networks. This suggests that active community engagement is necessary to increase awareness of employment services in Philadelphia's hardest hit communities. Additionally, programs focusing on crime reduction and increasing the availability of public transit and other transportation options will be imperative in helping residents who are hesitant to travel outside of their respective neighborhoods to access services.

CEO Activities Supporting Employment Opportunities

CEO invests in several employment initiatives that attempt to help the hardest-to-serve careerseekers. Launched in Philadelphia in 2016, the **Center for Employment Opportunities** is a nationally recognized, evidence-based workforce development model that connects returning citizens to quality transitional employment and job training opportunities. The Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity, in partnership with Philadelphia Parks and Recreation, provides funding to support the program, which placed 115 adults in transitional work in 2019. CEO also administers the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services' Work Ready program, which is operated by **JEVS Human Services** and assists residents eligible for Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF). In 2019, 1,666 individuals received job readiness and employment training through JEVS Work Ready. Finally, CEO provides funding support to **First Step Staffing**, a low-barrier staffing agency for semi-skilled and entry-level workers that provides career coaching, door-to-door transportation, and housing placement assistance to its employees. In 2019, 2,648 individuals received services through First Step Staffing.

EDUCATION

Access to a quality educational system, especially in the early years of life, can both improve long-term employment outcomes and provide pathways out of poverty. One of the highest priorities for local officials in Philadelphia is to create a stronger network of educational opportunities to serve residents throughout their lifetimes. It is especially important to consider how those in poverty can better access high-quality childcare, early learning, and adult basic education resources, and how well the existing educational networks serve the most vulnerable populations.

ADULT ATTAINMENT

In Philadelphia, 15 percent of adults over the age of 25, or 164,444 individuals, do not have a high school diploma or equivalent (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). In this regard, Philadelphia lags behind the statewide (9.5%) and national (11.9%) averages for educational attainment (CAP Data Tool 2021). Moreover, 22 percent of Philadelphia's adults over the age of 16 lack basic literacy skills (CAP Data Tool 2021). This rate is considerably higher than the overall rate for adults with limited literacy in Pennsylvania, at 13 percent.

	Percent No High School Diploma	Percent High School Only	Percent Some College	Percent Associates Degree	Percent Bachelor's Degree	Percent Graduate or Professional Degree
Philadelphia	15.3%	32.6%	16.7%	5.7%	17.31%	12.4%
Pennsylvania	9.5%	34.7%	15.9%	8.5%	19.0%	12.4%
United States	11.9%	26.9%	20.4%	8.5%	19.8%	12.4%

Table V-1. Comparison of city-wide, state-wide, and national educational attainment rates for adults over the age of 25, 2019 (CAP 2021).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019.

For individuals living below the poverty line, educational attainment is even further from reach. Nearly 37 percent of adults over the age of 25 lacking a high school diploma or equivalent credential live in poverty, and 14 percent live in deep poverty (Figure V-1) (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). These data also illustrate the impact that educational attainment has on economic mobility: poverty rates decline by about 35 percent for Philadelphians who complete high school, while earning an advanced degree is associated with declines ranging from 54 to 75 percent.



Figure V-1. Educational attainment for adults living in poverty (below 100% poverty line) and deep poverty (below 50% poverty line), Philadelphia, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Families headed by single women with low educational attainment are the most likely to be living in poverty (48.3%) as compared to all families (35.4%) and married couples (22.9%) (Figure V-2; ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). Low educational attainment appears to be highest in the RECAP neighborhoods of North and West Philadelphia (Figure V-33).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table S1703.



Figure V-2. Poverty rate by educational attainment and family type (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table S1702.

Figure V-3. Census tract map of the percent of population with less than a high school education (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).



When examining rates of post-secondary educational attainment by race and ethnicity within Philadelphia, data show that whites and Asians earn bachelor's degrees at comparable rates (41.6 percent and 40.3 percent, respectively). However, there is a clear and significant disparity in the rate at which African American and Latinx populations complete post-secondary education: the percentage of Black adults in Philadelphia with at least a bachelor's degree is approximately 58 percent lower than the percentage of white adults with at least a bachelor's degree, while the percentage of Hispanic adults with at least a bachelor's degree is 65 percent lower than for whites.



Figure V-4. Educational Attainment by Race in 2019: Philadelphia (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table S1501

Approximately one-third (33%) of respondents to CEO's 2020 CNA Survey who ranked education as a top concern indicated that they or an adult in their household needed help getting into a post-secondary or vocational program over the past 12 months. Respondents living below poverty were more likely to report needing help with reading/writing, math, and accessing programs to obtain a GED or high school diploma. Those living below poverty were also more likely to be aware and take advantage of programs and services to help with adult education. Figure V-5 presents additional information on responses to questions on adult education needs.



Figure V-5. Responses to 2020 CNA Survey related to adult educational needs (CEO 2020).

YOUTH ENGAGEMENT

Close to 35 percent of children in Philadelphia are in poverty. While this figure represents a slight downward trend from prior years, Philadelphia continues to see nearly double the state-wide rate of childhood poverty (17.6%) and to significantly exceed the national average (18.5%) (CAP Tool, 2021). Moreover, between 2000 and 2018, childhood poverty increased by nearly 6 percentage points in Philadelphia, while only increasing 3 percentage points state-wide and only about 2 percentage points nationally (CAP 2021). When considering the demographics of childhood poverty, racial disparities become clear. While 15 percent of non-Hispanic white children were in poverty in 2019, 40 percent of African American children and 48 percent of Hispanic/Latino children were in families living below the poverty level (Table V-22) (CAP Tool 2021).

	Non- Hispanic White	Black or African American	Native American, Alaska Native	Asian	Native Hawaiian, Pacific Islander	Some Other Race	Multiple Race	Hispanic, Latino
Philadelphia	14.8%	40.0%	26.3%	27.9%	87.2%	55.5%	27.8%	48.0%
Pennsylvania	10.8%	35.5%	25.7%	13.6%	47.4%	41.4%	24.5%	36.0%
U.S.	11.1%	33.2%	32.2%	10.6%	24.1%	29.2%	18.8%	26.6%

Table V-2. Percent of children under 18 years of age in poverty by race and ethnicity, 2019 (CAP 2021).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019.

High-Quality Early Learning and Child Care Opportunities

Approximately 118,100 children under the age of six live in Philadelphia. Twenty-nine percent are in families below poverty and another 33 percent of children under six are in households with incomes right above the poverty level (i.e., 100 to 200 percent of the poverty level) (ACS 2019 1-Year Estimates). Philadelphia's rate of early childhood poverty surpasses the state-wide rate by 12 percentage points (see Figure 6).





Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, Table S1701.

Nearly fifty years of research has found compelling evidence that high-quality early childhood education is one of the most effective means to reduce intergenerational poverty. High-quality early learning narrows the academic achievement gap and prepares students to succeed in school and later in life. Children who are at risk of school failure based on two or more early childhood risk factors make the most dramatic gains in early childhood education. They are much less likely than their peers to require special education, remediation, grade repetition, or to enter the juvenile justice system. They perform better on standardized achievement tests and have higher rates of high school graduation and college attendance than their peers. As adults, they earn more and rely less on public benefits (Camilli et al. 2010).

The Reinvestment Fund conducts an annual assessment of changes in the supply and demand of seats in "high quality" childcare facilities in Philadelphia, defined as sites that receive a score of 3 or 4 from Pennsylvania's Keystone STARS rating system. Its most recent analysis found that the number of high-quality childcare seats increased by 2.1 percent between 2018 and 2019 and by 8.3 percent since 2014. When considering only certified childcare facilities, high-quality slots comprised 40.2 percent of total available slots—an increase of 2.2 percentage points from the previous year. The analysis identified several Philadelphia neighborhoods with severe shortages of high-quality seats, including Roxborough, Germantown, Eastwick, Cobbs Creek, Kensington/Fishtown and Port Richmond (Rosch et al., 2019) (Goldstein et al., 2020). The report also noted that the Pennsylvania Office of Child Development and Early Learning (OCDEL) changed the way in which it treats facilities that were previously unrated under the Keystone STARS system. Starting in 2018, in addition to low-scoring childcare sites that participate in STARS, all unrated childcare facilities receive a 1 STAR designation. Figure 7 provides a breakdown of certified and un-certified childcare providers and slots by STARS ratings.



Figure V-7. Percentage of childcare slots that are certified and with a Keystone STARS rating, 2019 (adapted from Goldstein et al., 2020).

Access to childcare was a highly-ranked concern among the respondents to the 2020 CNA Survey who were parents of young children. A total of 86 survey respondents identified "childcare" as one of their top 3 challenges, which represented just over 8 percent of the full sample. Among the sub-sample that identified childcare as a top challenge, 78 percent had trouble accessing safe, reliable and/or affordable childcare, and about half encountered problems accessing employment or other services because childcare was unavailable. As illustrated in Figure V-8 below, while accessing childcare was a shared challenge for respondents regardless of income category, childcare presents employment barriers at a significantly higher rate for those with incomes below poverty. Also, just under one-third (32%) in this sub-sample were aware of any services or organizations in their neighborhood that help people with childcare.



Figure V-8. Problems faced by survey respondents reporting childcare as a top challenge (CEO 2020).

School Performance

The COVID-19 pandemic led to the closure of all public and private schools beginning in mid-March 2020 and extending through early 2021, when plans were announced for a hybrid reopening plan that would allow for a gradual return to the classroom, starting with kindergarten through second grades (Graham, 2021). The massive disruption in the availability of standardized, classroom instruction during the 2019-2020 school year made it impossible for the School District of Philadelphia (SDP) to collect reliable measurements of the performance metrics used in typical school years. The most recent data available are from the 2018-2019 school year, which are provided below.

The School District of Philadelphia (SDP) had 126,229 children and young adults enrolled across 218 District schools during the 2018-2019 school year. The District annually uses data on student and teacher performance to categorize schools into four tiers, ranked from highest- to lowest-performing. The tiers are as follows: 1) Model, 2) Reinforce, 3) Watch and 4) Intervene. Since school year (SY) 2014-2015, the percentage of District schools in the lowest-performing tier overall ("Intervene") declined by 18 percentage points — from 41 percent in SY 2014-15 to 23 percent in SY 2018-19 (Schlesinger and Tanz, 2020). While the highest-ranking "Model" tier still accounted for a small fraction of District schools in SY 2018-19 (6%), the proportion of schools in the Model tier increased by almost 150 percent since 2014-15. A similar trend is observed for the category "Reinforce," which includes schools that show positive gains in performance metrics: the percentage of schools in this tier more than doubled over the same time frame. (Figure V-9 below).

For the 2018-2019 school year, 63 percent of District schools were in the bottom two tiers of "Watch" and "Intervene", a decline of 20 percentage points since SY 2014-15. Figure V-10 shows the geographic distribution of District schools by tier and proximity to RECAP census tracts (School District of Philadelphia, 2020b).



Figure V-9. Composition of District Schools across performance tiers, 2014-2019 (Schlesinger and Tanz, 2020).

Source: School District of Philadelphia, 2020.

Figure V-10. Philadelphia District schools, mapped against RECAP tracts, 2019 (School District of Philadelphia, 2020b).



Among the standardized test results included in the Achievement Metrics section of the SDP Progress Report, only PSSA Mathematics and PSSA Science show a consistent upward trend in the percent of students receiving a score of "proficient or advanced" from SY 2016-17 through SY 2018-19. The Keystone Exam in Literature exhibits the highest overall rates of proficiency (42%) for any of the standardized tests, however the percentage has declined slightly between 2016 and 2019 (Figure V-11).

Figure V-11. Student performance in District schools, School Years 2016-17 through 2018-19 (School District of Philadelphia).

ACHIEVEMENT METRICS	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019	Trend
PSSA Mathematics - Percent Proficient or Advanced	19%	20%	22%	• • • •
PSSA Mathematics - Percent Advanced	6%	7%	8%	•
PSSA ELA (Grades 4-8) - Percent Proficient or Advanced	33%	36%	36%	
PSSA ELA (Grades 4-8) - Percent Advanced	8%	8%	8%	• •
PSSA Science - Percent Proficient or Advanced	32%	36%	40%	•
PSSA Science - Percent Advanced	7%	9%	11%	•
Keystone Exam Algebra I - Percent Proficient or Advanced	21%	22%	20%	•
Keystone Exam Algebra I - Advanced Rate	7%	7%	8%	••
Keystone Exam Biology - Percent Proficient or Advanced	29%	29%	28%	• • •
Keystone Exam Biology - Advanced Rate	9%	11%	10%	
Keystone Exam Literature - Percent Proficient or Advanced	43%	42%	41%	• • •
Keystone Exam Literature - Advanced Rate	4%	7%	5%	
ACCESS for ELLs: Proficiency	8%	10%	10%	

Source: School District of Philadelphia, District Scorecard, 2021. Retrieved from

https://www.philasd.org/performance/programsservices/school-progress-reports/district-scorecard/#AG1_achievement

Between SY 2012-13 and SY 2017-18, the high school graduation rate for the School District of Philadelphia fluctuated between about 65 and 70 percent, with a reported rate of 63 percent in SY 2017-18. With Pennsylvania and nationwide graduation rates converging toward 87 percent in 2018, data trends reveal a sizable and persistent gap between graduation rates in Philadelphia and in these comparison jurisdictions, averaging approximately 21 percentage points across this period (Figure V-12) (CAP Tool 2021).

The high school graduation rate also exhibits clear disparities by race and ethnicity. In Philadelphia, as in Pennsylvania and the U.S., the graduation rate for white non-Hispanic students significantly exceeds the graduation rate for Black and Hispanic students. The disparity in graduation rates between white non-Hispanic and Black students in Philadelphia in SY 2017-2018 measured 8 percentage points while the disparity between white non-Hispanic and Hispanic students was 12 percentage points. The patterns of racial and ethnic disparity in graduation rates are not consistent across comparison areas. Hispanic students experience the greatest disparity in Philadelphia, while Black students face greater disparities at both the state and national levels (CAP Tool 2021).



Figure V-12. High School Graduation Rates, School Years 2012-13 through 2018-19 (CAP Tool, 2021).

Source: US Department of Education, EDFacts. Additional data analysis by CARES. 2017-18. Source geography: School District

Table V-3. High School Graduation	Rate by Student Race and	Ethnicity (CAP Tool 2021)
Table V-5. Tight School Graduation	Rate by Student Rate and	Luminicity (CAF 1001, 2021)

Report Area	Non-Hispanic White	Black or African American	Hispanic or Latino
Philadelphia	68.0%	61.0%	56.0%
Pennsylvania	92.1%	71.3%	72.8%
United States	90.5%	81.6%	83.0%

Source: US Department of Education, EDFacts. Additional data analysis by CARES. 2017-18. Source geography: School District

CEO ACTIVITIES SUPPORTING EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES

Promise Corps is a college- and career-readiness program operated by CEO that serves students in four public high schools in West Philadelphia: Overbrook High School, High School of the Future, West Philadelphia High School, and Sayre High School. During the 2019 -2020 school year, 13 College and Career Coaches (CCC's) worked with 539 students in grades 10-12, providing nearly 4,700 individual or small group sessions. On average, Promise Corps students received 29 hours of personalized, one-on-one support in the areas of Academic Assistance, College and Career Advising and Naviance Support. CEO's Youth Strategies Unit also sponsors a Summer Work Ready program for middle and high school students from all parts of the city. In 2020, the Summer Work Ready program provided a 6-week virtual summer job experience for 40 young people between the ages of 12 and 18.

INCOME AND ASSETS

The wages, income, benefits, and assets available to a household are among the most basic measures of economic well-being. Income, in particular, is an important indicator of how well a household can pay bills, respond to emergencies, and plan. Families in poverty are often not afforded those choices, instead managing survival through a series of complex trade-offs, juggling the costs of food, health care, education, housing, and other basic necessities, from one day to the next. Public benefits are a major source of assistance that can supplement income and help low-income families meet basic needs and offset the immediate crisis of poverty.

HOUSEHOLD INCOME

Over the past five years, median household income across the city has increased 15 percent, up from \$41,233 in 2015 (inflation-adjusted 2015 dollars) to \$47,474 in 2019 (ACS 1-Year Estimates, 2015 and 2019). While this change is a promising indicator of renewed economic vitality, not all households have seen income gains and many families still rely on various forms of assistance to meet basic needs. The average household in Philadelphia spends \$72,460 per year on living expenses, with housing as the single largest expense (BLS 2021). As a point of comparison, the federal poverty level for a household of four in 2019 was \$25,750, meaning that families in poverty in Philadelphia earn about one-third of what the average household in the Philadelphia area spends annually (U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, 2019).





A smaller fraction of Philadelphia households derive income from earnings (73%), compared to Pennsylvania (75%) and the United States (78%) — a disparity that is also evident in other income categories that are linked to prior earnings, such as Social Security income and retirement income. The percentage of households in Philadelphia that receive income from investments or asset holdings (i.e., interest, dividends or net rental income) is substantially smaller than state or national figures, suggesting the presence of a wealth gap relative to other regions. Consistent with its relatively high poverty rate, a much larger proportion of households in Philadelphia receive income from public benefits such as Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or cash assistance (e.g., TANF) compared to state or national figures.

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Philadelphia Division Economic Summary, 2021.

	Philadelphia	Pennsylvania	U.S.
HOUSEHOLD INCOME			
All households	601,337	5,053,106	120,756,048
With earnings	73.0%	75.4%	77.6%
With interest, dividends, or net rental income	14.5%	23.5%	20.9%
With Social Security income	29.3%	35.2%	31.2%
With Supplemental Security Income (SSI)	10.4%	5.8%	5.3%
With cash public assistance income or Food Stamps /SNAP	26.9%	14.0%	12.4%
With cash public assistance	6.1%	3.2%	2.4%
With retirement income	16.3%	22.4%	19.9%
With other types of income	8.3%	10.1%	10.3%

Table VI-1. Household income in past 12 months by source of income, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and United States (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Table S1902

Sharp income disparities across race, ethnicity, and region are clear when examining per capita income. White per capita income in Philadelphia exceeds white per capita income for both Pennsylvania and the U.S. by approximately \$2,000. The relative affluence of Philadelphia's white population is even more pronounced in racial and ethnic comparisons: white per capita income in Philadelphia exceeds Black per capita income by almost \$9,000, and Asian and Latinx per capita income by a staggering \$22,000.

Table VI-2. Per Capita Income by Race / Ethnicity (CAP Tool, 2021).

Report Area	White	Black or Afr. American	Asian	Some Other Race	Hispanic/Latino
Philadelphia	\$39,017	\$20,394	\$16,290	\$15,165	\$16,204
Pennsylvania	\$37,086	\$21,638	\$21,164	\$17,221	\$18,566
United States	\$37,326	\$23,383	\$20,844	\$19,071	\$20,515

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2018

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Traditional banking services can provide valuable resources to individuals and families to manage their income via savings accounts, lines of credit, access to loan products, and technical assistance on how to create budgets. Yet many residents of Philadelphia are shut out from accessing these services and, as a result, are "underbanked" or "unbanked". A 2019 survey conducted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) found that 5.2 percent of the population in the Philadelphia metropolitan area are unbanked, down slightly from the 5.9 percent reported in 2017 (FDIC 2020). Individuals with lower educational attainment are unbanked at higher rates; in 2019, 21.4 percent of individuals without a high school diploma and 8.1 percent with just a high school diploma were unbanked, as compared to 4.3 percent of individuals with some college and 0.8 percent of adults with a college degree (FDIC 2020). Nationally, the top three reasons given for not obtaining a bank account (aside from "other" or "unknown") were that they

- 1) "Do not have enough money to meet minimum requirements" (29% of unbanked households)
- 2) "Do not trust banks" (16%)
- 3) Have "personal ID, credit or former bank account problems" (8%) (FDIC, 2020).

Prosperity Now provides estimates of unbanked and underbanked households, as well as other measures of financial well-being at the city, state, and national level. According to Prosperity Now, Philadelphia's unbanked rate is approximately 13 percent, which is 166 percent greater than the unbanked rate for Pennsylvania and more than 90 percent greater than the U.S. rate. Philadelphia's rate of underbanked households exceeds state and national figures by 9 percentage points, and almost a quarter (23 %) of households in Philadelphia have zero net worth, compared to 16 percent of households in both Pennsylvania and the U.S. (Figure VI-2).





Source: Prosperity Now Scorecard, 2021, retrieved from https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/

Within Philadelphia, Latinx households are unbanked at the highest rate (24.6%) and have the highest percentage of households with zero net worth (29.6%), while Black households are underbanked at the highest rate (29%) and have the second-highest percentage with zero net worth (28%). In contrast, only 4 percent of white households are unbanked, and 18 percent have zero net worth.





Low-income residents able to obtain lines of credit may be more likely to be behind on paying off their debt or have sub-par credit scores. According to data published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, about 59 percent of credit consumers from low- or moderate-income neighborhoods in the Philadelphia metro region have limited credit or poor- to-fair credit, compared to about 33 percent of consumers from middleand upper-income neighborhoods (FRBNY 2021). Moreover, consumers from low- to moderate-income neighborhoods are more likely to be severely delinquent on their debt payments. Roughly 28 percent of credit consumers from low- or moderate-income neighborhoods in the Philadelphia metro region were severely delinquent in their debt payments, compared to only 12 percent of middle and upper-income consumers in the region (FRBNY 2021).

State level data illustrate a growing trend in the volume of credit card debt for consumers between 2003 and 2019. The average amount of credit card debt for Pennsylvanians rose from a low of \$2,650 in 2013 to \$3,260 in 2019, an increase of 23 percent (Figure VI-4). Trends in consumer loan delinquency by type of credit show that since 2012, rates of student loan delinquency have exceeded delinquency rates for all other loan types, including auto, and mortgage (Figure VI-5). And while mortgage delinquency has seen downward trends, both auto loan and credit card delinquency are on the rise (FRBNY 2020).

Source: Prosperity Now Scorecard, 2021, retrieved from https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/







Figure VI-5. Consumer Loan Delinquency in Pennsylvania, 2003 - 2019 (FRBNY 2020).

Source: New York Fed Consumer Credit Panel / Equifax

Two hundred and four (204) CNA Survey respondents (or about 17 percent) ranked "household budget and finances" as a top three challenge, making it the third-most highly-ranked challenge across the full sample. These respondents received follow-up questions to gather additional information about their circumstances, and of this sub-sample of 204, approximately 87 percent indicated having difficulty managing their household budget. While budgeting was a challenge for most of the sub-sample, households with incomes below poverty were much more likely to be financially strained at the end of a typical month, consistent with findings noted above (i.e., less use of traditional banking or credit services) (Figure VI-6). Twenty-six percent of respondents below poverty lacked a bank account and 45 percent lacked a personal credit card, compared to 7 percent and 16 percent of respondents above poverty respectively. Moreover, 28 percent of low-income respondents use check-cashing services, compared to 15 percent of higher-income households. Unaffordable municipal fines and fees was a problem for 43 percent of respondents below poverty reported not having enough money at the end of the month to make ends meet, compared to 22 percent of higher-income respondents. Figure VI-6 and VI-7 show responses to survey questions on financial management.



Figure VI-6. Responses to survey questions on financial management needs (CEO 2020).


Figure VI-7. Responses to survey questions on ability to meet monthly expenses (CEO 2020).

Given the expressed difficulty for households, especially lower-income households, to manage finances and make ends meet, it is not surprising that many respondents indicated also having difficulty paying utilities. Paying utilities was ranked as the second highest challenge across the entire sample and *the* highest challenge for respondents below poverty. A total of 218 respondents (17.6 percent of the full sample) reported "paying utilities" as a top challenge. Of this sub-sample, higher income respondents were more likely to report "difficulty paying utilities" in general as a top problem (96%) and to experience a "health problem due to a utility shut-off" (14%). However, lower income respondents were more likely to report having utility services terminated (29%). Those below poverty were also more likely to be "aware of utility assistance services" (68%) and to report taking advantage of utility assistance programs (46%) (Figure VI-8).



Figure VI-8. Survey responses relating to paying utilities in the last 12 months (CEO 2020).

The full CNA Survey sample (1,050 respondents) was asked about the availability of financial institutions within their neighborhoods. Respondents below poverty were more likely to report having "none" or "one" bank or credit union in their neighborhoods, while those above poverty were more likely to report "some" or "a lot" of these resources. These response patterns suggest that, in addition to the top concerns noted by the unbanked in the FDIC survey (i.e., not enough money to cover minimum balances, lack of trust in banks, problems with IDs or previous bank account), issues of basic access to banking services may also be a factor influencing the financial habits of unbanked, low-income consumers.



Figure VI-9. Access to financial institutions in neighborhood (CEO 2020).

ACCESS TO BENEFITS

Public benefits work to close the gap between not having enough to afford basic needs and having enough to get by. However, accessing public benefits often requires navigating complex systems and having the time and resources to persist through multi-step processes. As a result, many families encounter difficulties enrolling in and maintaining critical assistance programs.

According to the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services (PA DHS), an estimated 458,000 people in Philadelphia were enrolled in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) during 2019, comprising 26 percent of the state's estimated population of SNAP recipients (Argenio, 2020). An estimated 48,400 individuals in Philadelphia were enrolled in Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), comprising 45 percent of all individuals receiving TANF state-wide (Argenio 2020). This figure represents a decline of 61 percent since 2016, when TANF caseloads were closer to 78,000 in Philadelphia and 160,000 in Pennsylvania. Over half (51%) of children under the age of 18 live in households receiving some form of public assistance, underscoring the importance of assistance programs in supporting Philadelphia's youngest residents (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). As Figure VI-10 below illustrates, the areas in Philadelphia with the highest concentrations of households receiving public assistance generally correspond with areas of concentrated poverty and racial/ethnic concentration. Figure VI-10. Geographic Distribution of Households Receiving Public Assistance (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).



For survey respondents, access to income supports, both formal and informal, is critical. Thirty-four percent of the full sample of survey respondents and 67 percent of respondents below poverty indicated that they receive SNAP dollars. LIHEAP was the second highest public benefit reported by lower income respondents, while receiving "money from friends or family" ranked high across both income categories. Respondents with incomes below poverty were more likely than respondents above poverty to participate in federal benefits programs such as SNAP, TANF, SSI, WIC and SSDI.



Figure VI-11. Types of assistance used by survey respondents (CEO 2020).

CEO ACTIVITIES SUPPORTING BENEFITS ACCESS AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) provides funding support to Benefits Data Trust (BDT) to assist residents in accessing public benefits through a network of community-based BenePhilly Centers. Through the BenePhilly Centers, residents can apply for and enroll in an array of benefit programs at a one-stop shop. In 2019, the BenePhilly Centers enrolled more than 3,300 individuals in public benefits valued at an estimated \$7.4 million. In addition, CEO and Clarifi operate seven Financial Empowerment Centers, which offer free one-on-one financial counseling sessions to Philadelphia residents. Since launching in 2013, the FECs have completed 30,328 sessions for 14,445 unique individuals, and helped participants reduce their debt by \$16.9 million and increase their savings by \$3 million. The FECs have also helped nearly 2,000 clients increase their credit score by at least 35 points and have helped 584 open safe and affordable bank accounts. CEO also commits funding to partners such as Community Legal Services of Philadelphia to advocate directly with PA DHS on difficult public benefits applications, and to process criminal record expungements. CEO also provides support to the Campaign for Working Families (CWF) to offer free tax preparation assistance and financial literacy workshops for income eligible Philadelphia residents. In 2019, CWF assisted more than 19,400 tax filers in Philadelphia, helping them to claim over \$35 million in tax refunds, including approximately \$11 million in the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC).

HOUSING

Philadelphia remains one of the most affordable big cities in the country, and according to a recent analysis conducted by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), the housing market for both buying and renting remained stable in 2019 (Shinn 2019). However, for many Philadelphians who live, work, and raise their families in neighborhoods across the city, safe, affordable housing remains out of reach.

While some neighborhoods experience an increase in housing construction and new commercial development to make way for more affluent in-movers, existing residents are seeing their rents and real estate taxes rise. With wage stagnation and rising rental costs, the number of cost-burdened households (paying more than 30 percent of income in rent) is growing fastest in low-income sections of Philadelphia, such as Eastern North and North Philadelphia, and West and Southwest Philadelphia (Howell et al. 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the plight of the housing insecure population. Since the start of the pandemic, the number of families falling behind on rent nationwide rose to more than 9.6 million (U.S. Census Bureau 2021). In Philadelphia, the average amount of back rent owed as reported in eviction filings in 2020 was approximately \$4,000, an increase of more than 7 percent from 2019 (PLA, 2021).

The federal and local protections enacted during the pandemic, including moratoria on eviction filings and lockouts and the launch of a new Eviction Diversion Program, have helped to keep most renters at risk of displacement in their homes. To continue to keep vulnerable renters housed, every effort must be made to ensure that all eligible tenants in need receive assistance from the \$97 million made available from the federal American Rescue Plan (Allen 2021). This strategy will benefit both tenants and small landlords who depend on revenue from their units to support their own household income. Implementation will require more resources devoted to outreach, communications, and training for community partners and housing counseling agencies to assist landlords and tenants with the application process for new rental assistance programs.

TENURE AND AFFORDABILITY

Access to safe, affordable, and secure housing is a basic human right. However, too often low-income families and individuals are unable to afford their housing, are more vulnerable to foreclosures and evictions, and live in substandard conditions. Moreover, lower income households are more likely to rent, as the accumulated savings and higher credit scores required for homeownership are frequently out of reach. This propensity towards renting is particularly true for extremely low-income households (approximated by households making less than \$20,000 per year). Sixty-five percent of the 150,000 extremely low-income households in Philadelphia are renters, compared to only 31 percent of all households making more than \$75,000 annually. As household income increases, the likelihood of owning a home also increases, as illustrated in Figure VII-1 below (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).





Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019, Tables B25074, B25095

HOUSING AFFORDABILITY

While Philadelphia may be regarded as one of the more affordable major cities on the East Coast, many households struggle to cover their housing costs. Thirty-two percent of all owners and nearly 53 percent of all renter households in Philadelphia are cost-burdened, paying more than 30 percent of their income towards housing costs. Census tracts with high rates of cost-burdened homeowners (over 45 percent) are fairly scattered throughout the city, while the spatial pattern of rental cost-burdens is both more prevalent and widespread (Figures VII-2 and VII-3) (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Figure VII-2. Census tract map of cost-burdened owners in Philadelphia, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).



Figure VII-3. Census tract map of cost-burdened renters in Philadelphia, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).



Nearly three out of every four extremely low-income residents (72.3%) cannot reasonably afford their home. While extremely low-income homeowners and renters are cost-burdened at a similar rate, many more extremely low-income households rent. Approximately 70,800 extremely low-income renter households are cost-burdened, exceeding the number of cost-burdened renter households for all other income brackets combined. Figure VII-4 shows the number of cost-burdened homeowners and renters by income bracket. Over three quarters of low-income renters (approximated by households with incomes below \$35,000) are cost burdened in Philadelphia, and over half (53 percent) have a severe cost burden—defined as paying more than 50 percent of income on housing costs. In comparison, 60 percent of low-income homeowners (with incomes below \$35,000) are cost burdened, and 37 percent are severely cost burdened (Figure VII-5).





Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019. Tables B25074, B25095

Figure VII-5. Cost-burdened and severe cost-burdened households by tenure and income class, Philadelphia, 2019 (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).



Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019. Tables B25074, B25095

One reason so many low-income renters are cost-burdened is that there simply are not enough housing units at the lower end of the market. Rental units in Philadelphia are predominantly targeted to middle-income households, with rents ranging between \$900 and \$1,840 per month (HUD 2020). For middle- and upper-income renters, Philadelphia very may well be an affordable city, especially in comparison to other cities along the Northeast corridor. However, it is a divided city, with most low-income renters unable to afford their housing.

In CEO's 2020 CNA Survey, housing was the second highest-ranked concern for those below poverty, and the fourth highest ranked concern across all 1,050 survey respondents. A total of 186 respondents ranked housing as one of their top three challenges in the past 12 months. Many of the issues around affordability reflected in the survey data align with the statistics presented in the sections above. In the last 12 months, over 75 percent of low-income survey respondents who reported housing as a top-ranked concern had difficulty accessing safe, affordable housing. A large majority of low-income respondents in this sub-sample needed help paying utility bills (64%) and needed help paying rent (62%). Not surprisingly, a higher percentage of respondents with incomes above poverty reported needing help with paying a mortgage (13%). These findings are presented in Figure VII-6 below.



Figure VII-6. Survey responses related to housing affordability and insecurity (CEO 2020).

Subsidized Housing

For extremely low-income renter households, subsidized housing often is the only feasible option for realizing both quality and affordability. As of 2019, there were an estimated 47,061 occupied units of housing subsidized by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) in Philadelphia. These units house an estimated 83,000 people and are funded across six different HUD programs: public housing; Housing Choice Vouchers; Project-Based Section 8; Moderate Rehabilitation; Section 202/Project Rental Assistance Contract (PRAC), Supportive Housing for Elderly Persons; and Section 811/PRAC, Supportive Housing for Persons with Disabilities. Subsidized housing primarily serves extremely low-income households making less than \$20,000 (83%). Philadelphia households residing in subsidized units are predominantly African American (74%) and headed by a female householder (66%) (HUD 2019). Table VII-1 below presents additional statistics on households in subsidized housing.

	нсv	Public Housing	Project- Based Section 8	Section 202 Elderly	Mod Rehab	Section 811 Disabled	All
Occupied Units	21,620	13,031	9,306	2,380	425	299	47,061
Total People	41,585	27,348	12,716	2,492	535	329	85,005
Monthly Rent	\$372	\$434	\$294	\$308	\$239	\$309	\$326
Median HH Income	\$15,699	\$17,554	\$12,609	\$13,303	\$9,832	\$13,055	\$13,675
HH Income <\$20,000 (%)	74	71	87	87	94	86	83
HH Income >\$20,000 (%)	26	30	13	12	6	14	17
Female Householder (%)	81	85	67	65	50	46	66
Minority (%)	91	97	79	76	88	75	84
Black Non-Hisp. (%)	83	90	59	59	81	70	74

Table VII-1. Summary of HUD-subsidized housing in Philadelphia, 2019 (HUD 2019).

Note: HH = Households, HCV = Housing Choice Voucher, Mod Rehab = Moderate Rehabilitation.

Administered by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program provides another affordable housing option for low- to moderate-income families, by means of tax credits made available to investors to incentivize the financing of below market-rate housing developments. Units constructed using LIHTC typically target households earning closer to 50 or 60 percent of area median income, which in 2020 ranged from \$48,000 to \$58,000 for a family of 4 in the Philadelphia metropolitan area (HUD, 2020b). Accordingly, LIHTC units are often not affordable to extremely low-income households without an added layer of subsidy. Currently, there are an estimated 15,960 LIHTC-financed units sited within 516 housing developments in Philadelphia (HUD 2021).

While subsidized housing helps to close the affordability gap, there are not enough units to meet the demand, leaving many low-income families in desperate circumstances while they wait for units to become available. For new applicants to public housing, the average wait time is more than a decade (PHA 2013). The waitlist for Housing Choice Vouchers was last open in 2010 after a decade of being closed, and for the 54,000 applicants in 2010, only 2,500 vouchers are available each year (AffordableHousingOnline.com 2021).

HOUSING SAFETY

Despite the surge of new construction and development in recent years, large swaths of Philadelphia's housing stock are aging and in need of minor to substantial repairs. The median age of residential properties in Philadelphia is 72 years—16 years older than the average Pennsylvania house (CAP Tool 2021). The American Community Survey estimates that over 84,000 homes in Philadelphia are vacant, comprising 1.9 percent of all homeowner properties and 6.1 percent of all rental units (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). The City of Philadelphia publishes a spatial dataset of buildings that are likely to be vacant based on various indicators derived from administrative datasets on utilities, property assessment, and code violations. The model suggests that building vacancy is concentrated in West and North Philadelphia, as well as parts of South Philadelphia, west of Broad (Figure VII-7).

Figure VII-7. Vacant building heatmap, 2021 (City of Philadelphia 2021).



Housing quality remains an on-going challenge in Philadelphia — a city that experienced decades of depopulation and disinvestment, has an older housing stock, and has high, spatially-concentrated vacancy. One proxy for tracking housing quality is code violations. In 2019, the Department of Licenses and Inspections issued 88,480 code violations, deemed 1,814 buildings as unsafe, and deemed 98 buildings as imminently dangerous due to being structurally unsound. As shown in Figure VII-8, these buildings are largely concentrated in RECAP neighborhoods. Figure VII-8. Point density map of buildings deemed unsafe and imminently dangerous in 2019 (City of Philadelphia 2019).



Of the more than 601,000 occupied homes in the city, approximately 3,000 lack complete plumbing and 5,480 lack complete kitchen facilities (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). While unsafe and unsanitary homes are a small fraction of all homes in Philadelphia, the families occupying these properties are often living in the most desperate circumstances, placing their health and mental health at risk, and experiencing the collateral consequences of substandard housing such as truancy, difficulty finding and keeping employment, and in extreme cases, homelessness.

CNA Survey respondents' answers to in-depth questions about housing conditions and safety were generally consistent with these trends. Close to one third of survey respondents with incomes below poverty reported that they were in housing that was "too crowded" (35%) or "not safe" (33%). Respondents above poverty were much less likely to report living in overcrowded or unsafe conditions. (Figure VII-9).



Figure VII-9. Survey responses to in-depth questions on housing conditions and safety (CEO 2020).

SECURITY OF TENURE

Foreclosure and eviction are two dimensions of housing security that are particularly relevant to low-income residents in Philadelphia. In 2019 there were approximately 2,880 residential mortgage foreclosure filings, more than 4,000 residential tax foreclosure filings, and 19,800 eviction filings (PLA, 2021 and 2021b). The filing of a legal compliant is one of the initial steps in the process of a foreclosure or eviction action, and not all complaints result in the loss of a homeowner's property by means of a Sheriff's sale, or the involuntary displacement of a tenant. A Sheriff's deed, which is filed when a property changes hands after a Sheriff's sale, can serve as conservative estimate of the total number of homeowner properties lost due to a Sheriff's sale. A total of 300 Sheriff's Deeds were recorded following foreclosure. For rental properties, the final step in the eviction process is the filing of an alias writ of possession in Municipal court, which may be followed by the physical removal of the tenant from the premises by the landlord-tenant officer from the Sheriff's Office. In 2019, there were 6,900 alias writs of possession filed in Philadelphia, representing about 35 percent of all eviction complaints filed (PLA, 2021).

Foreclosures and Tangled Title

The total number of residential mortgage foreclosure filings has declined by 29 percent between 2016 and 2019, as the economy has continued its long-term recovery from the financial crisis of 2008. Tax foreclosure filings have also fallen since that time, from 8,800 in 2016 to 4,000 in 2019—a 54 percent decline. Compared to mortgage foreclosure filings, tax foreclosure filings are largely found in lower-income neighborhoods. This is because many of the older properties in low-income neighborhoods have mortgages that were paid off decades ago. A recent analysis by The Pew Charitable Trusts found that the sections of Philadelphia with the highest percentages of homes owned free and clear were in North Philadelphia, Eastern North Philadelphia, Southwest and West Philadelphia (Howell, et al., 2020). However, despite the lack of an existing mortgage, the current occupants may struggle to keep up with property tax payments, especially if their neighborhoods begin to gentrify. "Tangled title" or heir property is also a common problem in these communities. Tangled title occurs when the original owner of a residential property dies without leaving a will. Heirs of the original owner may reside in the property but not be legally listed on the deed, and therefore unable to apply for loans or programs that could assist with home repairs. Without a will, the estate will typically require settlement in probate court, which can be a complex, time consuming, and expensive process. The death of a longtime homeowner without a will can set off a downward spiral of deferred maintenance, property decline, vacancy, and abandonment, and is a contributing factor to the prevalence of substandard housing conditions in many low-income neighborhoods in Philadelphia.



Figure VII-10. Total tax and mortgage foreclosure filings, Philadelphia, 2016-2019 (PLA, 2021b).

Source: J. Pyle, Philadelphia Legal Assistance, 2021.

Evictions

The total number of evictions filed in Philadelphia has been on a downward trend over the past few years: from about 22,100 in 2017 to 19,700 and 19,800 in 2018 and 2019, respectively. The number of alias writs of possession filed have also declined slightly, falling from 7,830 in 2017 to 6,920 in 2019—a 12 percent decrease. Figure VII-11 shows the pattern in monthly eviction filings between 2016 and 2020. Each line chart (prior to 2020) exhibits a similar seasonal pattern in filings, dipping in early spring—a time when the receipt of tax refunds allows many low-income tenants to catch up on past due rent; peaking over the summer and early fall; and picking up slightly as the holiday season approaches in December. The chart also illustrates the dramatic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on eviction filings in 2020. With court closures and eviction moratoria adopted in the early weeks of the pandemic, eviction filings collapsed between April and July 2020, and then resumed at a much lower volume starting in August, due both to the continuation of the federal moratorium on eviction filings and renter protection policies enacted locally. Total eviction filings in 2020 numbered only 7,600 which was less than half (40%) of the average number of filings in Philadelphia.



Figure VII-11. Monthly trends in eviction filings from 2016 through 2020 (PLA, 2021)



Research by the Reinvestment Fund (Goldstein et al., 2019) has shown that census tracts in Philadelphia with a higher percentage of African American households experience higher rates of eviction, even after controlling for income and the presence of public housing (which tends to inflate the filing rate). The filing rates in neighborhoods that are 40 to 80 percent Black are 2.1 times greater than the rates in neighborhoods that are under 10 percent Black; in neighborhoods that are over 80 percent Black, the eviction filings rates are 2.5 times greater. In all, 56 percent of all eviction filings occur in majority-Black communities and 81 percent of all eviction filings occur in communities of color (Goldstein et al., 2019).

Homelessness

For households that are displaced due to eviction or foreclosure and have no other housing options, going through intake and being placed in an emergency shelter facility is the first step in the longer-term process of regaining stable housing. This process often involves placement in one of the city's transitional housing facilities, receipt of intensive services and housing search support, and ultimately access to a suitable permanent housing arrangement. The City's continuum of care system, administered by the Office of Homeless Services (OHS), provides a spectrum of services and housing supports to meet the needs of the homeless and at-risk households in Philadelphia. Each year OHS conducts a census of the total number of families and individuals who are homeless, including both those residing in one of the city's shelter facilities and those living on the street. The January 2020 "point-in-time" census found that there were a total of 5,634 homeless adults and children in Philadelphia, comprising 4,293 separate households. Of the 4,293 households, 612 were composed of adults with children, 25 were households comprised of adults with children were recipients of either emergency shelter (434) or transitional housing (178). There were 11 child-only households (no adults) found to be without shelter.

African Americans accounted almost three-quarters of all homeless individuals in Philadelphia in 2020. Whites have grown as a percentage of Philadelphia's homeless population, from 14 percent in 2015 to 22 percent in 2020 — an increase of 8 percentage points. There are also distinct gender patterns apparent in the point-in-time count of Philadelphia's unsheltered homeless, with men making up a large majority of the population (62%). The percentage of homeless transgender people, while small, doubled between 2015 and 2020 — from .3 percent to .6 percent of the homeless population. An additional .2 percent of the homeless population in 2020 identified as Gender Non-Conforming / Non-Binary (Table VII-2).

Table VII-2. Demographic Characteristics of Philadelphia's Homeless Population, 2015 and 2020 (HUD 2015, HUD 2020).

Point-in-Time Count of Homeless Population	2015	2020	
Total homeless households	4,213	4,293	
Total individuals	5,998	5,634	
Gender			
Male	58.6%	62.0%	
Female	41.1%	37.1%	
Transgender	0.3%	0.6%	
Gender Non-Conforming / Non-Binary	N/A	0.2%	
Race			
Black	83.1%	73.5%	
White	14.1%	22.0%	
Asian	0.6%	0.5%	
Multiple Races	1.2%	3.1%	
Ethnicity			
Hispanic	14.5%	10.5%	
Non-Hispanic	85.5%	89.5%	

Source: Philadelphia Continuum of Care (CoC), U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2015, 2020

An estimated 17 percent of Philadelphia's homeless population was unsheltered and living on the street in 2020. Many of these individuals are also considered among the chronically homeless—alternatively living on the streets or in emergency shelter facilities for years at a time. The chronically homeless, which accounted for 20 percent of the city's homeless population in 2020, has higher rates of behavioral health disorders, including substance abuse and mental health problems. Despite the rise of a nationwide opioid epidemic in the past decade, the percentage of Philadelphia's homeless population characterized as having a chronic substance abuse disorder declined by 3 percentage points, from 29 percent in 2015 to 26 percent in 2020. However, the percentage of the population with a severe mental illness increased, from 24 percent in 2015 to 31 percent in 2020.



Figure VII-12. Characteristics of the homeless population in Philadelphia and the United States (HUD 2020).

Philadelphia's emergency shelter system serves approximately 3,650 people each day, including an estimated 2,290 individuals and 450 families with children (HUD 2020). OHS administers the federal Emergency Solutions Grant, which provides operating support to 143 emergency shelter and transitional housing facilities across the city (City of Philadelphia, 2020). The City's Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual disAbility Services along with Project HOME and other local non-profits, operate Street Outreach Teams, which make efforts to locate and engage homeless individuals living on the street, encouraging them to seek shelter and services. In 2019, Project HOME's Outreach Coordination Center workers made 13,000 contacts and placed 2,700 individuals in emergency shelter or transitional housing (Project HOME 2019).

CNA Survey Findings

The 2020 CNA Survey provided further evidence of the nature of the many challenges facing low-income households in Philadelphia. Forty-four percent (44%) of the total sample were renters. Of those, 2 percent had been evicted over the past twelve months. The most common reason cited for being evicted was because they fell "behind on their rent" or had a "dispute with their landlord." Only 60 percent of those facing eviction had ever been served with an official eviction notice. Fourteen percent of the total sample had moved more than twice in the past twelve months. The most frequently cited reasons included "housing condition," a "rent hike," and "to save money."

About one-third of lower income survey respondents who identified housing as a top 3 challenge (and answered in-depth questions on housing) reported experiencing housing issues such as homelessness or having to move more than twice in the past year. Fourteen percent of respondents with incomes below poverty said they were denied housing because of a past criminal record. The response patterns confirm that those below poverty experience housing insecurity at much higher rates than those above poverty. The only issue in which the comparative frequency across income groups was similar was having "a problem with a landlord;" otherwise, the gap between the two income categories in housing security indicators ranged from 12 to more than 20 percentage points.



Figure VII-13. Responses to survey questions on housing security (CEO, 2020).

Focus Group Findings

Qualitative interviews were conducted with adult participants from the following subgroups: people who were recently incarcerated (returning citizens), the unemployed, the underemployed, people with disabilities, and opportunity youth/young adults (ages 18 to 34) who were neither working nor enrolled in school. Participants across all subgroups experienced housing insecurity—specifically in obtaining affordable housing. Interview participants reporting being on long waiting lists for public housing, experiencing homelessness and staying with relatives as short-term fixes to housing issues. Participants also mentioned that it is very hard to apply for a job without an address. Many participants were struggling to pay utilities and household expenses, and all subgroups mentioned the need for assistance with household budgeting and financial management. Returning citizens and opportunity youth said that having a criminal record (or fear of a criminal record) was keeping them from housing or being added to the lease of a family member in public housing. Court fees and the need to pay them while juggling expenses also created challenges for returning residents. They described paying the bare minimum monthly fee to avoid re-incarceration or violation of parole. Oftentimes these fees took money away from basic household expenses such as rent and food. Participants were aware of services to help them with landlord issues but were wary of using them for fear of eviction.

CEO ACTIVITIES SUPPORTING QUALITY HOUSING OPTIONS

CEO supports partnerships, policies and programs that work to create more safe, affordable, and stable homes for low-income households in Philadelphia. Currently, CEO provides funding to the Department of Public Health's Lead and Healthy Homes program. This program provides information, technical assistance and home repair assistance to low-income families with a child found to have an elevated blood lead level (over 9 µg/dL). In 2019, the Lead and Healthy Homes program assisted 218 households and 797 individuals. CEO provides funding support for the Homeless Prevention Program, which is operated by the Office of Homeless Services (OHS) and provides rental assistance to individuals and families facing the threat of eviction and homelessness. In 2019, the program assisted 449 households (1,221 individuals) with back rent payments and security deposits. CEO also convenes the Housing Security Working Group which is a table of cross sector stakeholders representing City agencies, nonprofit organizations, policy analysts, landlord associations, and legal services agencies, that work together to implement a series of recommendations issued in 2018 by the Mayor's Eviction Task Force. The Housing Security Working Group has six sub-committees that each focuses on a specific recommendation, including public education and outreach, expanding legal representation, reducing illegal evictions, creating new options for landlord-tenant mediation, addressing displacement due to Sheriff's Sales, and eviction record sealing.

SOCIAL AND HEALTH STATUS

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a substantial impact on Philadelphians' mental and physical wellbeing.

Polling by the Pew Charitable Trusts, conducted during the summer of 2020, found that 58 percent of Philadelphia residents knew someone who tested positive for COVID-19, while 33 percent of Black residents and 35 percent of Latinx residents knew someone who died from the virus (Eichel 2020). According to the Philadelphia Department of Public Health, nearly 2,300 people lost their lives to COVID-19 in 2020. The majority of those who died (53 percent) were people over the age of 75 (City of Philadelphia, 2021). The pandemic has also raised levels of anxiety and depression, and made it more difficult for Philadelphians to access medical and mental health care (Eichel 2020). The new challenges introduced by the pandemic exposed the existing health disparities and barriers to access that have long affected families and individuals living in poverty, and have elevated the stakes for those seeking to promote equity and accessibility in our city's healthcare systems.

OVERVIEW

There has been a growing understanding of the relationship between poverty and health. Nationally, lower income residents face increased rates of mortality and risk for serious health conditions and decreased access to, and quality of, health care. A 2016 study found that, for women, there is a 10-year gap in life expectancy between the wealthiest one percent of the American population and the poorest one percent (Chetty et al., 2016). For men, this disparity increases to 15 years. Low-income adults are more likely to experience serious physical and mental health issues such as coronary heart disease, diabetes, chronic arthritis, vision trouble, kidney disease and depression. They are also three times as likely to have limitations with routine activities (e.g., eating, bathing, and dressing) due to chronic illness, compared with more affluent individuals. Children living in poverty are more likely to have risk factors such as obesity and elevated blood lead levels, affecting their future overall health (Chokshi 2018). In teasing apart health disparities between poor and non-poor residents, it is important to consider social determinants of health, such as access to health care coverage and exposure to crime, and how vulnerable populations may be disproportionately affected.

HEALTH COVERAGE

Every two years, the Public Health Management Corporation (PHMC) releases the results of its Household Health Survey, a longitudinal and representative sample of over 10,000 individuals in Southeastern Pennsylvania. Based on 2019 results, the percentage of adults (18 to 64) lacking health insurance in the Philadelphia region was approximately 11 percent, an increase of about 2 percentage points from 2015 (PHMC 2019). Yet, disparities in health coverage continue across race, ethnicity, gender, and age.

According to 2019 census estimates, roughly 92 percent of Philadelphians have some form of health insurance. Young adults (ages 26 to 34) have the lowest rates of health insurance coverage, at 87 percent. Once the population reaches age 65—the age at which Medicare eligibility begins—coverage rates approach 99 percent (Figure VIII-1). Men are slightly more likely to be uninsured (10%) than women (7%), and at 15 percent, Hispanic or Latinx residents lack health insurance at higher rates than any other racial/ethnic group (Figure VIII-2).



Figure VIII-1 Health insurance coverage by age in 2019: Philadelphia (ACS 2015-2019 5-Year Estimates).

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019. Table S2701



Figure VIII-2 Health insurance coverage by race/ethnicity in 2019: Philadelphia (ACS 2015-2019, 5-year estimates).

According to census data, foreign-born individuals without citizenship in Philadelphia are uninsured at a rate of 31 percent, greatly surpassing the 6 percent uninsured rate for native-born residents (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates).

Intermittent or complete lack of employment can also present a barrier to obtaining health insurance. About 23 percent of those who are unemployed lack health insurance and 16 percent of those who worked less than full-time were uninsured (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). Disparities in health insurance coverage are especially apparent when comparing educational attainment and employment status. Almost 95 percent of Philadelphians who hold a bachelor's degree or higher are insured compared to only 86 percent of those who have not graduated high school. Even more striking is the 12-percentage point difference in coverage between those who are employed (89%) and those who are unemployed (77%). The demographic and economic characteristics of the uninsured are summarized in Table VIII-1 below.

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019. Table S2701

Table VIII-1. Characteristics of the uninsured, Philadelphia (ACS 2015-2019, 5-year estimates).

Characteristics of the Uninsured Population, Philadelphia	Total Uninsured	Percent Uninsured
Total Population (Civilian, Non-Institutionalized)	127,508	8.1%
Sex		
Male	73,028	9.9%
Female	54,480	6.6%
Nativity and Citizenship Status		
Native born	83,892	6.2%
Foreign born	43,616	19.7%
Naturalized	9,957	8.8%
Not a citizen	33,659	31.1%
Educational Attainment (ages 26 and older)		
Less than high school graduate	21,520	13.6%
High school graduate (includes equivalency)	36,413	10.9%
Some college or associate's degree	20,033	8.7%
Bachelor's degree or higher	15,774	5.2%
Employment Status (ages 19 to 64)		
In labor force	83,055	11.5%
Employed	68,571	10.4%
Unemployed	14,484	23.0%
Not in labor force	29,904	11.2%
Work Experience		
Employed Full-Time	42,054	8.7%
Employed Part-Time	38,536	15.9%
Did not work	32,369	12.2%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019. Table S2701

Medicaid provides health care coverage to low-income individuals and families unable to obtain or afford private insurance. In Pennsylvania, eligible families are those at or below 138 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL), which translates to about \$1,931 or less in combined monthly income for a household of two (Benefits.gov, 2021). Table VIII-2 shows that Medicaid-eligible Philadelphians are insured at rates that are generally comparable to statewide averages, while Philadelphians with incomes above the 138 percent FPL threshold are insured at rates just below state figures. The data also show that state and local health insurance coverage rates exceed the national rates across both income categories.

Table VIII-2. Health insurance coverage by Medicaid eligibility thresholds: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and United States (ACS 2015-2019 5-year estimates).

	Insu	ired	Uninsured		
	Below 138 Percent of FPL	138 to 399 percent of FPL	Below 138 Percent of FPL	138 to 399 percent of FPL	
Philadelphia	89.9%	90.4%	10.1%	9.6%	
Pennsylvania	90.0%	92.8%	10.0%	7.2%	
United States	84.2%	89.2%	16.9%	11.1%	

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015-2019. Table S2701

Survey Results: Physical and Mental Health Challenges

Physical and mental health was the fourth most frequently reported problem in CEO's 2020 CNA Survey, with 175 respondents, or 17 percent of the full sample, ranking it as a top 3 challenge in the past 12 months. Of these 175 respondents, 69 percent had a problem with their physical health in the past 12 months, and more than 3 in 4 (78%) had a mental health issue in the past 12 months. Respondents with incomes below poverty were more likely than higher income respondents to report having suffered an issue with their physical health, but were equally as likely to have had a mental health issue as their higher income counterparts. Respondents below poverty were also more likely to have an untreated and ongoing physical health problem and have greater difficulties getting health insurance (Figure VIII-3). However, lower income respondents were more likely to both be aware of and use physical and mental health assistance programs.

With respect to insurance coverage, about 42 percent of the survey respondents with incomes below poverty were insured through Medicaid. In comparison, nearly 50 percent of those with incomes above poverty were insured through their employer (Figure VIII-4).



Figure VIII-3. Physical and mental health challenges reported by survey respondents (CEO, 2020).

Figure VIII-4. Type of health insurance coverage reported by survey respondents (CEO, 2020).



Figure VIII-3 above also shows that lower income respondents reported using emergency rooms for regular medical treatment at a significantly higher rate than higher income respondents, with reported frequencies of 43 percent and 26 percent respectively. In addition to differences in insurance coverage, this could be an issue related to accessibility of health care, since more than one-fifth of respondents with incomes below poverty reported that there are no doctor's offices or clinics in their neighborhoods (Figure VIII-5).





DEMOGRAPHICS OF HEALTH STATUS

Race and Ethnicity

A report published by the Philadelphia Department of Public Health found that overall, 22 percent of Philadelphians rated their health as "poor" or "fair", with significant differences across racial and ethnic groups (Farley et al., 2019). Hispanics were most likely to report their health as poor or fair (32%), while Asians were least likely (13%) (Figure VIII-6). That close to one-third of Hispanics self-report as being in poor or fair health is noteworthy, since the Hispanic population has one of the highest life expectancies in Philadelphia, second only to Asians. Black Philadelphians have the lowest life expectancy (Farley et al., 2019). Figure VIII-7 shows the disparities in life expectancy by race and sex.



Figure VIII-6. Self-reported "poor" or "fair" health by race/ethnicity in Philadelphia (Adapted from Farley et al., 2019).



Figure VIII-7. Life expectancy by race/ethnicity and sex in Philadelphia (Adapted from Farley et al., 2019).

Life expectancy is one of the clearest indicators of socioeconomic disparity. As noted above, life expectancy varies by race, gender and ethnicity. Given the geographic patterns that are evident across demographic categories such as race, ethnicity and median income, it is not surprising that life expectancy varies considerably by neighborhood. Figure VIII-8 below is a map of life expectancy by census tract in Philadelphia. The map illustrates that not only is life expectancy significantly lower in lower-income neighborhoods and areas of racial concentration, but the stark disparity in outcomes for neighborhoods that are relatively close in proximity (Farley et al., 2019).



Figure VIII-8. Life expectancy by census tract in Philadelphia (Adapted from Farley et al., 2019).



CHILDREN'S HEALTH

The incidence of chronic health conditions, including obesity, asthma, and lead exposure are more prevalent among Hispanic and Black youths in Philadelphia. Obesity among Black girls and Hispanic boys surpasses the citywide average of approximately 22 percent. In addition, Hispanic and Black children under 18 are hospitalized for asthma at a rate four and five times higher than white children, respectively (Farley et al., 2019). Asthma hospitalizations are greater in lower-income parts of the city, including West and Lower North Philadelphia. Similarly, rates of childhood lead exposure are highest in the city's lowest income neighborhoods, illustrating the strong link between poverty and negative health outcomes (Farley et al., 2019).

The health risks presented by lifestyle choices such as smoking and alcohol consumption, continue to be a concern for Philadelphia's teens (grades 9 to 12). Although cigarette smoking among teens fell to just 2 percent and binge drinking declined to 5 percent, e-vapor use has increased in recent years and is now used regularly by 7 percent of teens (Farley et al., 2019).

The Southeastern Pennsylvania Community Health Needs Assessment (City of Philadelphia, 2019) used data collected from across the Philadelphia region to identify residents' health needs and concerns. Philadelphia residents who participated in focus groups and community meetings noted the following as among the biggest health challenges facing the city's youth:

- Use and availability of drugs, especially among middle and high school students
- Spending too much time on their phones, tablets, and social media
- Lack of affordable activities such as sports, and safety concerns contributing to physical inactivity
- Autism rates among young children
- Trauma resulting from environmental exposures including drugs and violence
- Teen pregnancy
- Tobacco and drug use
- Poor nutrition
- Need for childhood immunization awareness and education for parents

A 2019 survey of approximately 260 low-income families in North, West and Southwest Philadelphia, conducted by CEO in partnership with Children's Health Watch, asked several questions pertaining to childhood health and access to health care. Only 6 percent of respondents reported that their children were in "fair" or "poor" health, compared to 32 percent for adults (Children's Health Watch, 2019). Also, while a large majority of the parents surveyed (64%) indicated that healthcare and prescription drug costs did not have an impact on their ability to cover other family expenses, those that struggled with health care costs reported cutting back in areas such as housing costs (16%), food (16%), and transportation (12%) (Figure VIII-9).



Figure VIII-9. Household expenses cut back due to healthcare or prescription drug costs. (Children's Health Watch, 2019).

SENIOR HEALTH

Over a quarter of all households in Philadelphia include at least one person 65 years of age or older, and almost half (46 percent) of older-adult households include just one household member (ACS 2019 5-Year Estimates). According to a recent report by the Philadelphia Corporation for Aging (PCA), less than one-third of all older adults surveyed reported their health to be "fair" or "poor" (PCA 2020). The most common health condition reported was hypertension, which affected 66 percent of respondents. Seventeen percent of respondents had been previously diagnosed with a mental illness, and roughly 20 percent were found to have a disability that limited an Instrumental Activity of Daily Living (IADL), such as shopping, managing finances, or accessing transportation. The report also examined the social determinants of health for older adults. When asked about their barriers to healthy aging, 73 percent of respondents reported economic insecurity, followed by transportation challenges (57%), lack of social interaction (56%) and unsafe neighborhoods (54%). Figure VIII-10 below lists the barriers reported by survey respondents with a frequency of 48 percent or higher (PCA, 2020).


Figure VIII-10. Identified barriers to healthy aging for older adults: (PCA, 2020)

Environmental Health Factors

Despite having less vehicular traffic on average, high poverty neighborhoods in Philadelphia have higher levels of air pollution than wealthier neighborhoods. Unsafe air conditions increase the risk of heart disease and exacerbate respiratory conditions like asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Diez Roux et al., 2017).

The urban heat island effect is another environmental hazard affecting lower income neighborhoods. Average surface temperature data for Philadelphia show that some neighborhoods can be as much as 22°F hotter than others. Census data also show that low-income residents and people of color are more likely to live in these hotter neighborhoods. This pattern of unequal exposure to potentially dangerous heat islands is a clear illustration of the reality that climate change is not only a global public health issue, but also an issue of racial and social equity at highly localized scales. (Hammer et al., 2020). Neighborhoods such as Cobbs Creek, Point Breeze, Strawberry Mansion, and Hunting Park are among the hottest and most heat vulnerable neighborhoods in Philadelphia (Figure VIII-11). The common reasons why some neighborhoods are hotter than others include decreased tree canopy, fewer green spaces, more exposed asphalt and dark surfaces (including black roofs), and a history of red-lining and disinvestment (City of Philadelphia, 2019b).

Figure VIII-11. Differences of average surface temperatures from the Philadelphia County mean by census block group (Reprinted from Hammer et al., 2020).



CEO's CNA Survey confirmed that residents of lower income neighborhoods have less access to green space, parks and recreation centers. The full sample (1050 respondents) was asked whether they had parks or recreation centers in their neighborhoods. Almost half of those with incomes below poverty (48%) reported having either one or no parks or recreation centers in their neighborhoods. This response rate shrinks to 38 percent for those with incomes above poverty, a difference of 10 percentage points. (Figure VIII-12).





Food Insecurity and Access to Healthy Food

Hunger is another condition that disproportionately affects those living in poverty. Approximately one in six Philadelphians is food insecure, which equates to roughly 258,000 people without sufficient resources to afford an adequate amount of food from day to day (Feeding America, 2018). Often, high poverty neighborhoods exist within "food deserts"— areas that lack access to the grocery stores, supermarkets and farmers' markets that carry healthy items such as fresh produce, whole grains, and legumes at an affordable cost. Instead, many of these areas are inundated with inexpensive but unhealthy fast-food chains that contribute to rising rates of obesity and diabetes. However, since 2014 the number of supermarkets in the city has steadily increased, leading to a decline in the percentage of Philadelphians who live in areas with lowto-no high produce supply store access, from 17 percent to 13 percent in 2018 (Farley et al., 2019).

Respondents to the CNA Survey were asked whether they had places to purchase healthy food in their neighborhoods. More than one in five (23%) of the respondents with incomes below poverty reported having no place in their neighborhood to buy healthy food, compared to only about 16 percent of those living above poverty (CEO, 2020).

"Access to healthy food" was also included among the challenges that survey respondents were asked to rank. One hundred and six (106) survey respondents (or 9% of the full sample) reported that access to healthy food was a top 3 challenge in the past twelve months. Of this sub-sample, 87 percent reported having "trouble accessing healthy food" in the past 12 months. An alarming 57 percent said they had "run out of money buying food" at least once during the previous year. This figure jumps to 73 percent for those below poverty (Figure VIII-13). Lower income respondents reported that they "lacked a full working kitchen" at rates that were more than double the rate for those above poverty (15 percent and 6 percent respectively). Frequenting fast-food outlets more than once per week was a practice reported by almost half of all respondents below poverty and nearly 60 percent of respondents above poverty. Only 27 percent of the respondents who reported "access to healthy food" as a top challenge were aware of organizations that assist people with obtaining healthy food. Examples of the organizations noted by respondents included churches, mosques, Philabundance, and APM.



Figure VIII-13. Food insecurity and challenges accessing healthy food (CEO, 2020).

Public Safety

In recent years, violent crime in Philadelphia has been on a downward trend. Between 2015 and 2019, the incidence of violent crime in the city declined by 5.7 percent—from about 16,000 cases to 15,100 (Figures VIII-14a and VIII-14b). However, the number of homicides has increased by almost 29 percent, rising from 270 in 2015 to 347 in 2019. Philadelphia's homicide mortality rate also saw an increase, from 15.5 percent in 2013 to 21.5 percent in 2018, a rise of 6 percentage points or about 39 percent overall (Farley et al., 2019).



Figure VIII-14a. Violent crimes by type of crime in Philadelphia, 2015-2019 (City of Philadelphia, 2019c).



Figure VIII-14b. Violent crimes by type of crime in Philadelphia, 2015-2019 (City of Philadelphia, 2019c).

Long term patterns in crime vary substantially when the data are broken out by Police District. Districts with the highest incidence of violent crime in 2019, depicted in the darkest shade in Figure VIII-15 below, include the 15th (Frankford, Bridesburg, Tacony/Wissinoming, and Mayfair), the 22nd (North Central Philadelphia-West), the 24th (Port Richmond, Harrowgate, Kensington), the 25th (Hunting Park, Fairhill, Juniata Park/Feltonville), and the 35th (Olney, Oak Lane). Other high crime districts include the 12th (Southwest Philadelphia), the 19th (Wynnefield, Overbrook), and the 39th (Nicetown, Allegheny West, East Falls). The high crime areas overlap with many of the areas of concentrated poverty in the city — particularly sections of North Philadelphia, West Philadelphia, Kensington, and Frankford (City of Philadelphia, 2019c).





Source: Open Data Philly, Crime Incidents-2019; map displays combined counts for robbery, assault, and rape only. Also see Public Data Dashboard, Philadelphia District Attorney's Office; https://data.philadao.com/Incidents_Report.html

Philadelphia's Black population is disproportionately affected by violent crimes and homicides. The homicide mortality rate among Black residents is nearly ten times higher than for whites, and double that of Hispanics (Farley et al., 2019).

"Crime prevention and public safety" was the single most frequently reported challenge for respondents to the CNA Survey, with 17.3 percent (or 294 total) citing it as one of the top three challenges experienced in the past 12 months. Out of these 294 respondents, 88 percent said they felt unsafe in the previous year and 31 percent reported being the victim of a crime. Low-income respondents were more likely to report having witnessed a crime (62%) than higher income respondents (49%) (Figure VIII-16).

Public safety also affects housing and employment. Neighborhood crime was cited as a reason for moving by 12 percent of the survey participants who moved in the past year. In focus groups discussing the topic of employment barriers, fear of victimization was raised frequently, with many indicating crime as a reason they declined some employment opportunities. Examples provided included concerns over personal safety when returning home from work late at night, and fear for their children's safety while away at work due to lack of supervision.



Figure VIII-16. Crime and public safety challenges (CEO, 2020).

CEO PROGRAMS SUPPORTING HEALTH AND WELLNESS

CEO invests in several programs and initiatives that support health and wellness goals. CEO provides funding support to the Philadelphia Department of Parks and Recreation, which operates six <u>Older Adult Centers</u> in neighborhoods across Philadelphia. The Older Adult Centers provide meals, food assistance, nutritional education, wellness programs, information and referral, utility assistance, and opportunities for social interaction. In 2019, these programs served 3,358 older adults, including 1,548 (46%) over the age of 75. The centers are listed below:

	Site Name	Address	ZIP code
1	Juniata Park Older Adult Center	1251 East Sedgley Avenue	19134
2	M. L. King Older Adult Center	2101 W. Cecil B. Moore Avenue	19121
3	Mann Older Adult Center	3201 N. 5th Street	19140
4	Northeast Older Adult Center	8101 Bustleton Avenue	19152
5	South Philly Older Adult Center	1420 E. Passyunk Avenue	19147
6	West Oak Lane Senior Center	7210 Ogontz Avenue	19138

As noted above, CEO contributes funding support to the Philadelphia Department of Public Health's Lead and Healthy Homes program, which provides outreach, information, lead removal and other home repairs for income-eligible families with children found to have elevated blood lead levels. The program can address home maintenance issues that contribute to other health conditions such as asthma and other respiratory illness arising from exposure to pests and mold, drafts, or lack of basic utilities. In 2019, the Lead and Healthy Homes Program assisted 218 households comprising 797 individuals, including 560 children.

BenePhilly Centers provide streamlined assistance with benefits applications, including health insurance programs such as Medicaid and CHIP. It also helps older adults apply for Pennsylvania's PACE Prescription Assistance Program. In 2019, BenePhilly completed more than 3,300 enrollments for various public benefits programs, including approximately 620 enrollments for health insurance and prescription assistance programs.

CEO serves as the lead agency for the West Philadelphia Promise Zone (WPPZ), which is a place-based initiative designed to support community driven strategies to improve the quality of life and economic opportunity for existing residents. The Health and Wellness Committee of the WPPZ brings community stakeholders and representatives from the many medical and healthcare institutions that are within or adjacent to the WPPZ. The Health and Wellness Committee has hosted health fairs, developed new resources, and conducted outreach and education campaigns to assist neighborhood residents. The WPPZ also has a Public Safety Committee that includes participation from non-profit organizations, community residents, local academic institutions, and the Philadelphia Police Department. The Public Safety Committee has advanced initiatives to address crime hotspots, and implemented projects designed to improve relations and dialogue between community residents and law enforcement.

CIVIC ENGAGEMENT

Philadelphia has a strong tradition of public participation and civic engagement, dating back to its origins as the cradle of American democracy. Effective program and policy development are made possible when City and elected officials receive meaningful input from residents, and when ordinary people have open access to public institutions and are encouraged to participate in civic life. The extent of civic engagement in any jurisdiction reflects the willingness of its citizens to contribute to the well-being and improvement of their communities by engaging in activities such as volunteering, voting, and participating in the decennial census. It is also evidenced in their collective experience and perceptions of core institutions such as local government, the courts, and the criminal justice system. Finally, internet connectivity is increasingly seen as a basic utility required to fully participate in 21st century economic, social, and civic life. The social distancing guidelines stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic have profoundly altered the ways in which routine interaction and communication occurs between public and private institutions and community residents, with the suspension of in-person meetings and an expanded reliance on virtual or web-based platforms. This means that low-income households who lack technological skills, computer equipment and reliable internet service face structural barriers not only to economic opportunity and social interaction, but also to avenues for civic participation.

VOLUNTEER PARTICIPATION

The Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Volunteer Service (MOCEVS) works to strengthen the capacity of both Philadelphia residents and City staff members to "participate in volunteer activities that will create positive and lasting change" (City of Philadelphia, 2019). MOCEVS oversees several programs including:

- Civic Engagement Academy, which trains program participants to work with fellow neighbors and stakeholders to address community-level problems.
- AmeriCorps VISTA (Volunteers in Service to America) program, which provides added capacity to City Departments that serve people living in poverty.
- Mayor's Volunteer Corps—a program that connects Philadelphia volunteers to high quality service opportunities that are aligned with the mayor's priorities; and
- Foster Grandparents Program, which connects older adult volunteers (over 55 years of age) with children and youth (pre-K through 3rd grade) to provide mentorship and academic support (City of Philadelphia, 2019).

Through these and other programs, 2,578 MOCEVS volunteers logged close to 156,380 volunteer hours in 2019. In 2020, MOCEVS adapted to the changing needs that arose due to the pandemic—making volunteers available to support 49 food distribution sites, as well as non-profit organizations requesting assistance. It also moved its training and capacity building programs to a web-based format, and launched the Equitable Engagement Collaborative, which is designed to increase the ability of City agencies to be more effective in connecting with underserved and hard-to-reach communities. MOCEVS's response to the needs of the pandemic and the expanded reach of these engagement programs is evident in its recent trends in annual outcomes. While total volunteer hours across all MOCEVS programs declined slightly between 2019 and 2020, the total number of people engaged increased by over 150 percent, and the number of events rose by 6.4 percent (Table IX-1) City of Philadelphia, 2019 and 2020)

Table IX-1. Community Engagement Outcomes: Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Volunteer Service 2019-2020.

Accomplishments by Year	2019	2020	Percent Change
Volunteer Hours Served	156,378	153,147	-2.1%
Number of People Engaged	2,578	6,514	152.7%
Number of Events Held	141	150	6.4%

Source: City of Philadelphia, MOCEVS, 2019, 2020

CENSUS PARTICIPATION

To support robust participation in the 2020 decennial census, Philly Counts 2020 was launched in January 2019 with a goal of using multiple communications tools and employing networks of trained, trusted messengers to encourage all adults residing in Philadelphia on April 1, 2020 to complete the census. The original engagement strategy of Philly Counts 2020 was "centered around person-to-person outreach" (Cooper et al., 2021, p. 20). The pandemic created a significant challenge for implementation of the plan of action, requiring on-the-fly adaptations to original outreach and communications strategies to accommodate the new environment. Philly Counts responded by employing a targeted canvassing approach, focusing on neighborhoods and census tracts with the lowest response rates; relying on "door hanger canvassing" to avoid in-person contact; and making tablets available so that people could complete the census on-line as well as register to vote (Cooper et al., 2021). Philly Counts volunteers also adopted a trauma-informed approach to its phone banking procedures, which involved conducting a short needs assessment to ensure the household was connected to resources and services, and only then raising the issue of census participation.

Philadelphia's self-response rate for the 2020 census was 57 percent (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021). While this figure was below the 63 percent participation rate from the 2010 census (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021b), there were several structural challenges related to the pandemic that may help explain the decline, including the "internet first" approach employed by the Census Bureau, which created barriers for those lacking internet service; the fear and misinformation caused by politically motivated attempts to prevent undocumented people from participation; and the departure of large numbers of college students in late March after academic institutions transitioned to remote classes (Cooper et al., 2021). A map of participation in the 2020 census by census tract is provided in Figure IX-1 below.



Figure IX-1. Census self-response rates by census tract, 2020 decennial census (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021).



Philly Counts 2020's investment in training and community engagement created a network of active community residents, representing multiple populations in the city, including residents of low-income communities, Black and brown communities, immigrants, the LGBTQ+ community, people with disabilities, and older adults. A total of 5,940 "Census Champions" received training, and more than 289,000 households were canvassed across 87 neighborhoods (Cooper et al., 2021 pp. 15, 40). Given the success of the engagement efforts, Philly Counts plans to continue to mobilize this network for other citywide organizing projects and to use its platform to advocate for more resources to support civic engagement efforts in Philadelphia (Cooper et al., p. 66). As an example, Philly Counts is using the Census Champions training model to train trusted messengers to share information about the coronavirus vaccines and increase awareness of the City's COVID-19 vaccine distribution plan. The work of Philly Counts 2020 has substantially increased Philadelphia's capacity to support ongoing civic engagement efforts by building a diverse network of trained and committed volunteers and organizations eager to participate in future projects.

VOTING

The voter turnout rate for the 2020 general election in Philadelphia was 66.3 percent, with 749,000 votes cast by roughly 1.13 million registered voters (City of Philadelphia, 2021). Trends in voter registration over the past 20 years reveal a modest increase over time, punctuated by peaks coinciding with presidential election years and driven primarily by patterns in Democratic party registration. In contrast, Republican party affiliation has been declining slightly over time—falling by 34 percent between 2000 and 2020—while independent and other party affiliations have trended upward during this period.



Figure IX-2. Trends in voter registration, 2000-2020, Philadelphia County, (City of Philadelphia, 2021b)

Geographic patterns in voter registration and turnout in Philadelphia, like census participation, tend to vary with measures of income, with higher rates of voter engagement in more affluent neighborhoods. As illustrated in Figure IX-3 and Figure IX-4 below, which show the turnout rate across Philadelphia wards in 2016 and 2018, participation is greater in presidential election years across all neighborhood types.







Figure IX-4. Voter Turnout by Political Ward in 2018, Philadelphia (Galpern, 2020)

A 2019 survey of 260 low-income families with children in North, West, and Southwest Philadelphia, conducted by CEO in partnership with Children's Health Watch, asked respondents whether they were registered to vote. Over 70 percent reported being certain that they were registered at their current address and another 4 percent thought they were "probably registered but weren't sure". Fifteen percent were not registered to vote, and 3 percent indicated they did not have to register, possibly due to ineligibility (Children's Health Watch, 2019).



Figure IX-5: Voter Registration status for a sample of low-income families in North, West, and Southwest Philadelphia (Children's Health Watch, 2019).

In the run up to the 2020 presidential election, the Philadelphia County Board of Elections took measures to increase the number of safe voting options available to residents, and, along with other City departments and non-profit partner organizations, conducted outreach campaigns to ensure that people were aware of procedures for voting during the pandemic. These efforts included expanding the availability of mail-in ballots, providing 17 satellite election offices—where people could register to vote, apply for a mail-in ballot, and drop off completed ballots; and recruiting volunteers to increase the City's capacity to process mail-in ballots.

Recent attempts by state legislatures across the country to place limitations on the use of mail-in ballots and to give more authority to partisan officials to challenge vote counts, particularly votes cast in urban centers, is reviving the issue of voting as a central political battleground. Black and Brown communities, people living in high poverty areas, and other historically disenfranchised populations stand to be most impacted by these new restrictions. Organizing efforts to preserve and expand voting rights are essential for ensuring that all Philadelphians are able to participate in our democratic system of government without barriers or hindrances, and that their votes will be fully counted.



View from 13th and Market Street on November 4, 2020. Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity.

PERCEPTIONS OF LOCAL INSTITUTIONS

A recent survey of Philadelphia residents found that only 23 percent of respondents gave local City government a rating of "excellent" or "good" with respect to its effectiveness in providing opportunities for resident feedback on City services (Figure IX-6) (City of Philadelphia, 2020b). Residents have the opportunity to provide feedback to City representatives through traditional avenues such as public meetings, town halls, and City Council hearings, as well as periodic surveys and focus groups. The rise of social media platforms such as Twitter, Facebook and Instagram also enable residents to offer immediate feedback on City services, policies and community concerns. More than 325,000 people currently follow the City of Philadelphia on Twitter, and most City Departments maintain individual Twitter accounts. CEO has just over 4,000 followers on Twitter, and recently launched a Facebook page for streaming virtual community meetings via Facebook Live and posting notices about events, resources and services.



Figure IX-6. How would you rate the Philadelphia City government in terms of getting feedback from residents about City services through community meetings, events or other means? (City of Philadelphia, 2020b).

Source: 2019-2020 Philadelphia Resident Survey, City of Philadelphia.

The City's 2019-2020 resident survey also asked respondents if they had reached out to contact a City agency and what means they used to make contact—whether by calling the City's 311 phone line or by contacting the City agency directly. More than half of the 11,300 survey respondents (53.2 percent) had contacted a City agency within the past year (City of Philadelphia, 2020b). Of those who contacted the City, 20 percent contacted a City agency directly, 48 percent called 311, and 27 percent used both. Forty percent of respondents reported being either satisfied or very satisfied with their experience of connecting with the City, and 23 percent reported being "unsatisfied". Figure IX-7. Overall, how satisfied were you with your experience contacting someone in City government? (City of Philadelphia, 2020b).



Source: 2019-2020 Philadelphia Resident Survey, City of Philadelphia.

While CEO's 2020 CNA survey did not address the question of perceptions of local institutions directly, it did ask respondents about their experience with one institution in particular: the courts and criminal justice system. A total of 84 respondents (7.6 percent) ranked "fair treatment with the courts" as one of their top 3 problems. Of this relatively small subsample, the most frequent challenge reported was encounters with law enforcement. Approximately 74 percent had a negative experience with a police officer, which represented almost 6 percent of the full sample. What is striking is the high frequency of this response across income classes. Respondents with incomes above the poverty level were *more* likely to report a negative encounter with police (76 percent) than those living below poverty (70 percent). The pattern was reversed for all other problems listed: people living below poverty were more likely to report: (1) a negative experience with a member of the court (53 percent); (2) having the experience of being detained or arrested (47 percent); (3) being unable to pay outstanding court fines and fees (38 percent; and (4) spending time in jail (47 percent).



Figure IX-8. Survey responses related to fair treatment with court system (CEO 2020).

INTERNET CONNECTIVITY

The digital divide refers to the growing gap between households that can afford the computer hardware, software, and high-speed internet connections needed to fully participate in the modern digital world, and those who cannot. It also includes the challenges faced by older adults and people with low levels of literacy who may lack the technical skills to navigate complex websites or social media apps. In Fairhill, one of the city's most economically distressed neighborhoods, only 36 percent of households have a broadband internet subscription, compared to 85 percent in Center City. With the internet and social media platforms becoming the dominant vehicles for sharing information about public events, City services and community meetings, households lacking internet connections are placed at a disadvantage with respect to civic engagement. Moreover, the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic has meant that most public hearings and community meetings have moved to virtual (on-line) spaces, effectively excluding those who are on the wrong side of the digital divide.

Addressing the digital divide will require new partnerships with businesses and institutions. Universities and many larger companies upgrade their computer technology on a regular basis and may provide a source of refurbished computers that could be offered to households in need. Large internet service providers such as Comcast and Verizon have begun to offer more free and low-cost options for those who need it. As a longer-term strategy, Philadelphia should reconsider investing in community internet services. This service would have the potential of offering faster, more stable internet services at a lower cost for everyone

Figure IX-9. Percent of Households without Internet Access by Census Tract in Philadelphia (2014-2019 5-year estimates, ACS)



CEO ACTIVITIES SUPPORTING CIVIC ENGAGEMENT

In 2019, CEO released a strategic framework that characterized meaningful engagement with community residents and stakeholders as an overarching strategy that would be pursued across all CEO activities and initiatives:

"CEO is guided by listening to, supporting, and including communities while working collaboratively to foster greater economic mobility" (City of Philadelphia, 2019b, p. 8)

CEO currently supports civic engagement efforts in several ways. It employs a collective impact approach to implement initiatives such as the West Philadelphia Promise Zone, which supports economic and community revitalization work in a 2-mile section of West Philadelphia; and the Housing Security Working Group, which is supporting the implementation of recommendations issued by the Mayor's Task Force on Eviction Prevention and Response. Collective impact initiatives bring stakeholders and people with lived experience together to build relationships and work in partnership to address complex social problems.

CEO also holds community meetings, community events and roundtables that give community residents and stakeholders an opportunity to make new connections and strengthen their social and professional networks. In 2019 and 2020, CEO held more than 20 separate public events addressing topics such as right to counsel, wage inequality, the racial wealth gap, consumer protection, eviction protection, benefits eligibility for immigrants, criminal fines and fees, the basics of being a landlord, domestic violence, and family law.

CONCLUSIONS

The 2020 Community Needs Assessment (CNA) provides an overview of data from multiple sources and across six domains of analysis (employment, education, income and assets, housing, social and health status, and civic engagement) to support the Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) in future planning and investment decisions. This report will be used by CEO to inform options for new strategies and initiatives across three primary levels of intervention:

- **Individual and family**: client-centered programs, services and resources that are made available to individuals and households that meet eligibility criteria
- **Community**: investment in resources or infrastructure that increase the physical or social-service assets present within a community setting, benefitting the community at large
- **Agency**: opportunities available to CEO to bolster the capacity of its staff or Oversight Board, create new strategic partnerships, or engage in research, policy or advocacy efforts that increase its range of influence.

These categories are used as an organizing structure to present a few key conclusions from the 2020 CNA and highlight the implications for CEO's initiatives and priorities going forward.

INDIVIDUAL AND FAMILY

Female-headed households as a priority population:

Census data show that Black, female-headed families with children comprise the largest segment of the population in poverty within Philadelphia, making up 24,000 total families (or nearly 40 percent of families in poverty). The 2020 CNA also showed that families headed by single women with low educational attainment are the most likely to be in poverty. Moreover, although Hispanic/Latinx female-headed households comprise only about 16 percent of all families in poverty, they have among the highest rates of poverty across all family types (49 percent).

This population (female-headed households with children) intersects with the demographic characteristics of participants in the Work Ready program, which CEO currently administers through JEVS Human Services on behalf of the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services. The program provides job readiness, employment training, and career counseling for adults receiving TANF (Temporary Assistance to Needy Families). The work that CEO is currently engaged in to expand the services and resources available to clients of this program is important because it responds to the needs of those comprising the largest populations in Philadelphia experiencing deep and persistent poverty. The high numbers of extremely low-income, female-headed households with children residing in public and subsidized housing also suggests that partnerships with the Philadelphia Housing Authority and owners of other subsidized housing developments may offer an efficient strategy for delivering supportive programming that targets these families.

Support for financial management:

The 2020 CNA survey found that 28 percent of respondents below poverty used check cashing services, and more than half reported not having enough money at the end of the month to make ends meet. Other survey data found that in Philadelphia, Latinx households are unbanked at the highest rate (25 percent) and have the highest percentage of households with zero net worth (30 percent), while Black households are underbanked at the highest rate (29 percent) and have the second highest percentage of households with zero net worth (30 percent), while Black households with zero net worth (28 percent). Focus group participants shared their struggles to cover monthly utilities and household expenses, and participants across all focus group categories (i.e., the unemployed, underemployed, people with disabilities, and opportunity youth/young adults) identified a need for assistance with household budgeting and financial management.

Local and statewide trends in rising auto loan and credit card delinquency suggest that, even pre-pandemic, many households in Philadelphia were experiencing increasing levels of financial distress. These findings reaffirm the need for programs such as the Financial Empowerment Centers, which assist clients with opening bank accounts, developing a budget, reducing debt, and establishing savings. They also highlight the importance of incorporating a racial equity lens into financial services programming, to both better understand and respond to the specific disparities evident across race and ethnicity.

Utility assistance and other public benefits:

The need for help paying for utilities was one of the most frequently cited challenges in the 2020 CNA Survey across both income categories. For those below poverty, it was the single highest-ranking challenge. This finding, in addition to the wide range of public benefits and services received by survey participants, confirms the continued need for BenePhilly Centers and CEO's Mobile Benefits Access Unit. These programs also assist clients with applications to affordable health insurance options and, for older adults, prescription drug assistance. The near universal challenges associated with paying for utilities by survey respondents should be further explored by CEO staff, through conversations with utility assistance providers such as UESF and specific programs, such as LIHEAP, the City's Tiered Assistance Program, and programs offered through PECO and PGW, to identify any application barriers and opportunities to expand information and outreach efforts.

Housing:

Over 75 percent of CNA Survey respondents with incomes below poverty, and 65 percent of respondents above poverty, reported difficulty accessing safe and affordable housing. Respondents also reported problems with paying rent—a challenge which has likely been exacerbated by the pandemic. Focus group participants reported being on long waiting lists for public housing, experiencing homelessness and staying with relatives as short-term fixes to housing issues. Participants also mentioned that it is very hard to apply for a job without an address.

CEO currently invests in the Homeless Prevention Program, operated by the Office of Homeless Services (OHS). The program provides rental assistance to help families and individuals avoid homelessness. Given the new resources from the American Rescue Plan that will be channeled to cities to prevent evictions, CEO's investment in the Homeless Prevention Program may present new opportunities to strategically leverage these federal resources. In addition, supporting the work of the Division of Housing and Community Development in expanding the capacity of local social service organizations to assist with processing applications to the City's emergency rental assistance programs will also help to minimize the amount of available federal funding that is left unspent. There is a need for additional staff capacity, training for trusted messengers and more robust on-line tools to support the outreach work. Finally, the concerns expressed by focus group members on the difficulty of obtaining employment without a permanent housing situation suggests opportunities to explore housing supports within the context of economic mobility programming.

Education and Employment:

The 2020 CNA shows a clear need for continued support for programs such as Promise Corps, which provides college and career counseling services to high school students, as well as continuing and expanding partnerships with the School District of Philadelphia (SDP) to provide enhanced services and academic supports to SDP youth, especially in high poverty areas. The 2020 CNA also provided evidence that Hispanic/Latinx students experience the greatest disparity in graduation rates in Philadelphia, which may have implications for CEO's future partnerships in youth programming.

Adult basic education and help with earning a GED is critical for improving employment prospects and supporting future economic mobility. The 2020 CNA included findings from Philadelphia Works showing the heightened economic vulnerability of low-skilled workers during the pandemic. Education support may be leveraged through whole-family interventions that serve parents as well as their children, which has emerged as a strategic priority for CEO. In addition, CEO's continued focus on providing employment supports for hard-to-serve populations (such as returning citizens, people with limited work histories, those with limited English proficiency, and formerly homeless people) through programs such as the Center for Employment Opportunity and First Step Staffing remains critical for addressing the needs of some of the most vulnerable households.

The 2020 CNA Survey found that transportation was the highest-ranking employment barrier for people with incomes below poverty. Focus group participants also noted that transportation assistance was needed for both employment and participation in job training programs. They expressed safety concerns about using public transportation to travel to and from work late at night—fearing that they would become a victim of crime. They also recognized that there were well paying employment opportunities in the surrounding areas that they could not easily access due to transportation challenges. Addressing the transportation challenges for those who are unemployed, underemployed, or disconnected from the labor force may prove to be one of the most basic and practical strategies for promoting economic mobility.

COMMUNITY

Public safety:

One of the clearest community-level needs revealed in the 2020 CNA was the problem of public safety. "Crime prevention and public safety" was the single most frequently reported challenge for respondents to the 2020 CNA Survey, with 17.3 percent citing it as one of their top concerns. Respondents expressed feeling unsafe as well as being the victim of a crime in the past year, while respondents below poverty were more likely to report having witnessed a crime. This is in addition to the fears associated with late-night travel referenced above. Public safety was also shown to have racial equity implications: research by the Philadelphia Department of Public Health found that Philadelphia's Black population is disproportionately affected by violent crimes and homicides. The homicide mortality rate among Black residents is nearly ten times higher than for whites, and double that of Hispanics. The City of Philadelphia, through its Roadmap to Safer Communities plan, is implementing interventions that are designed to reduce gun violence and increase perceptions of public safety. CEO is a partner with the City's Office of Criminal Justice and Public Safety, which is leading this work. In addition, the West Philadelphia Promise Zone's Public Safety Committee is actively working on new strategies to promote public safety across Promise Zone neighborhoods. These efforts may generate new opportunities for community-level investments for CEO.

Civic Engagement:

The 2020 CNA reviewed the work of City Departments such as the Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Philly Counts in offering trainings and programs that build the capacity of Philadelphia residents to be active in their communities by participating in outreach and volunteer efforts. These and other City programs are building a network of engaged and committed residents that may have interest in working with CEO on specific outreach and education programs. Investing in existing community-based organizations or Neighborhood Advisory Committees (funded by the Division of Housing and Community Development) is another viable strategy to expand the reach of CEO engagement efforts.

CEO has a long history of offering convenings that bring together residents, community stakeholders, nonprofit partners, and City officials—providing a space to build new relationships, provide input and strengthen service networks. This work remains as a priority identified in CEO's Strategic Framework and will help advance the goal of increased civic engagement.

Support for digital inclusion programs that would increase low-income residents' access to computer equipment, free or low-cost internet service and technical support, was identified in the 2020 CNA as an increasingly important prerequisite for civic engagement, particularly in the midst of a pandemic that has eliminated opportunities for in-person community meetings. CEO is a member of the City's Digital Equity Coordinating Committee and is actively exploring options for promoting new programs that expand internet access to underserved populations.



Fines and Fees Advocacy

The CNA Survey provided evidence supporting CEO's ongoing work advocating for reform in the City's policies regarding municipal fines and fees. Unaffordable municipal fines and fees was reported to be a problem for 43 percent of survey respondents below poverty, compared to 26 percent of respondents above poverty. The CNA Focus Group found that court fees created a particular challenge for returning citizens. They described attempts to pay the bare minimum monthly fee to avoid re-incarceration or violation of parole, and said that court fees often took money away from basic household expenses such as rent and food.

Research

The troubling statistics on poverty and access to services for those within the Latinx/Hispanic population presented in the 2020 CNA suggest that more needs to be done to understand the nature of poverty in this diverse community. The CNA noted that the Latinx community had among the highest rates of poverty across race and ethnicity (second only to "some other race"), the highest percentage of households with zero income, the largest disparities with respect to high school graduation rates, and the highest percentage of households lacking health insurance. CEO is exploring opportunities to sponsor research in this area as a starting point. New partnerships with advocacy organizations and programs serving the Latinx community is another option to build agency capacity and offer support to ongoing initiatives.

Strategic Priorities

The 2020 CNA reinforces the need for many of the agency priorities identified in CEO's 2019 Strategic Framework (CEO 2019). In particular, the overarching strategies listed below:

- CEO advocates for and invests in solutions that improve mobility out of poverty across multiple levels (including programmatic, procedural and systems)
- CEO is guided by listening to, supporting, and including communities while working collaboratively to promote greater economic mobility.

Incorporating these strategies across CEO's portfolio of investments and its policy priorities will require a continued focus on building staff capacity, expanding training opportunities, strengthening partnerships (local and national) and creating opportunities to draw upon the skill and expertise of its Oversight Board.

These conclusions are only a sub-set of the range of needs reflected in the 2020 CNA and the potential opportunities they present for CEO action in programming (both community-level and family/individual level) and agency-level strategic direction. CEO will engage with staff, partner organizations and community stakeholders around the report to receive input and identify additional opportunities for new interventions and resources that respond to the issues and concerns outlined in this Assessment.

REFERENCES BY CHAPTER

DATA COLLECTION AND METHODOLOGY

City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) (2020). *2020 Philadelphia Community Needs Assessment Survey: Final Draft Report.* Prepared by Temple University, Institute for Survey Research, Philadelphia, May 5, 2020.

Glasmeier, A.K. (2021). *Living Wage Calculation for Philadelphia County, Pennsylvania*. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Retrieved from <u>https://livingwage.mit.edu/counties/42101</u>.

DEMOGRAPHICS OF POVERTY IN PHILADELPHIA

City of Philadelphia (2019). Mayor's Policy Office. Trends in Composition of People in Poverty (2016-2017). Unpublished.

Community Action Partnership (CAP) (2021). *Population Change.* Data export from the Community Needs Assessment online tool. Accessed February 24, 2021.

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) (2021). RECAP tract current and historic. Accessed at: https://hudgis-hud.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/56de4edea8264fe5a344da9811ef5d6e_0?geometry=-75.242%2C28.845%2C-168.230%2C67.170

Philadelphia Corporation for Aging (PCA) (2020). Area Plan: 2020-2024. Accessed at: <u>https://pcacares.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/PCA-Area-Plan-FINAL-for-dissemination.pdf</u>

The Pew Charitable Trusts (2020). *State of the City 2020*. Retrieved from https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/reports/2020/04/philadelphia-2020-state-of-the-city

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Age and Sex*. 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019. Table S0101. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Populations%20and%20People&g=0400000US42_0500000US42101&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S0101&hidePreview=false

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Hispanic or Latino Origin*. 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019. Table B03003. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Race%20and%20Ethnicity&g=0400000US42_050000US42101&tid=AC SDT5Y2019.B03003&hidePreview=false

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Race*. 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019. Table B02001. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b02001&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B02001

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2010-2019). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months.* 1year average estimates, 2010 to 2019. Table S1701. Retrieved from <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1701&g=050000US42101&tid=ACSST1Y2010.S1701</u>

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2018). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months*. 5-year average estimates, 2014-2018 Table S1701. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1701&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST5Y2018.S1701

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months*. 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019 Table S1701. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1701&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST1Y2010.S1701

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months of Families.* 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019 Table S1702. Retrieved from <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1702&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1702</u>

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Ratio of Income to Poverty Level of Families in the Past 12 Months.* 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019 Table B17026. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b17026&g=050000US42101,42101.140000&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B17 https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b17026&g=050000US42101,42101.140000&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B17 https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b17026&g=050000US42101,42101.140000&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B17 https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b17026&g=0500000US42101,42101.140000&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B17

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months by Nativity*. 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019 Table B17025. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b17025&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B17025.

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Selected Population Profile in the United States*. 1-year average estimates, 2019 Table S0201. Retrieved from <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=-</u> <u>B0%20-%20All%20available%20places%20of%20birth%3APoverty&g=1600000US4260000&tid=ACSSPP1Y2019</u> <u>.S0201&hidePreview=false</u>

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2010 & 2019). *Total Population*. 5-year average estimates, 2006-2010. *Total Population*. 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019. Table B01003. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b01003&g=0500000US42101.140000&tid=ACSDT5Y2010.B01003

U.S. Department of Human Services (HHS) (2019). 2019 Poverty Guidelines. Accessed at: <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/2019-poverty-guidelines</u>

EMPLOYMENT

Budick, S., Eichel, L., Compart., E. and Ohanian, O. (2020, May). *How Philadelphia's Minimum Wage Compares with Other U.S. Cities*. The Pew Charitable Trusts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewtrusts.org/-</u>/media/assets/2020/05/howphildelphiasminimumwagecompareswithotheruscities v3.pdf

Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) (2019). May 2019 Metropolitan and Nonmetropolitan Area Occupational Employment and Wage Estimates. Accessed at: <u>http://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes_37964.htm</u>

City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) (2020). *2020 Philadelphia Community Needs Assessment Survey: Final Draft Report.* Prepared by Temple University, Institute for Survey Research, Philadelphia, May 5, 2020.

Eichel, L. & Martin, K. (2018, July 17). *Disability Rate in Philadelphia Is Highest of Largest U.S. Cities*. The Pew Charitable Trusts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-</u> <u>analysis/articles/2018/07/17/disability-rate-in-philadelphia-is-highest-of-largest-us-cities</u>

Glasmeier, A.K. (2021). *Living Wage Calculation for Philadelphia County, Pennsylvania*. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Retrieved from <u>https://livingwage.mit.edu/counties/42101</u>.

Pennsylvania Department of Corrections. (31 December 2019). *Inmate Statistics*. <u>https://www.cor.pa.gov/About%20Us/Statistics/Documents/Budget%20Documents/2019%20Inmate%20Profile.pdf</u>

Philadelphia Works, Inc. (2020, December). *Increasing Inequities: A Brief on the Uneven Economic Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic in Philadelphia*. <u>https://www.philaworks.org/increasing-inequity/</u>

Philadelphia Works, Inc. (2020b, November). *Opportunity Youth in Philadelphia: Demographic Trends*. <u>https://www.philaworks.org/opportunity-youth/</u>

Philadelphia Works, Inc. (2021, February). *Philadelphia's Labor Market* [PowerPoint Slides]. <u>https://www.philaworks.org/guarterly-philadelphia-labor-market-report-february-2021/</u>

Philadelphia Works, Inc. (2021b, February). *Patterns of Spatial Inequity: Negative Employment Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic*. <u>https://www.philaworks.org/patterns-of-spatial-inequity-negative-impacts-of-the-covid-19-pandemic/</u></u>

Philadelphia Works, Inc. (2021c, March). Philadelphians with Barriers to Employment [PowerPoint Slide].

Shields, M. & Horstein, J. (2020, February 19). *A Snapshot of Philadelphia's Part-Time Workforce*. The Economy League. <u>https://economyleague.org/providing-insight/leadingindicators/2020/02/19/parttimephl</u>

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020, September). Unemployment Rates and Earnings by Educational Attainment, 2019. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bls.gov/emp/chart-unemployment-earnings-education.htm</u>

U.S. Census Bureau (2020). *Earnings in the Past 12 Months (In 2019 Inflation-Adjusted Dollars),* 5-Year Estimates 2015-2019, Table S2001. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=income&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2001&hidePreview= false

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Employment by Disability Status and Type*, 1-Year Estimates. Table B18120. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Employment%20and%20Labor%20Force%20Status&g=0500000US421 01&y=2019&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B18120&hidePreview=false

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Employment Status*, 5-Year Estimates, 2015-2019. Table S2301. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=Employment%20and%20Labor%20Force%20Status&g=0500000US421 01&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2301&hidePreview=true.

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Employment Status*, 5-Year Estimates, 2015-2019. Table S2301. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Employment%20and%20Labor%20Force%20Status&g=0500000US421 01.140000&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2301&hidePreview=false

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Selected Characteristics of the Native and Foreign Born-Populations*, 5-year Estimates, 2015-2019. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Native%20and%20Foreign%20Born&g=0500000US42101&y=2019&tid https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Native%20and%20Foreign%20Born&g=0500000US42101&y=2019&tid https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Native%20and%20Foreign%20Born&g=0500000US42101&y=2019&tid https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Native%20and%20Foreign%20Born&g=0500000US42101&y=2019&tid

EDUCATION

Camilli, G, S. Vargas, and S. Barnett (2010). "Meta-analysis of the effects of early education interventions on cognitive and social development," Teachers College Record, 112 (3). Retrieved from http://www.gregorycamilli.info/papers/early%20education%20interventions.pdf

City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) (2020). *2020 Philadelphia Community Needs Assessment Survey: Final Draft Report.* Prepared by Temple University, Institute for Survey Research, Philadelphia, May 5, 2020.

Community Action Partnership (CAP) (2021). *Children in Poverty by Race Alone, Percent: Age 0 - 17.* Data export from the Community Needs Assessment online tool. Accessed February 24, 2021.

Community Action Partnership (CAP) (2021). *Children in Poverty by Ethnicity Alone: Age 0 - 17*. Data export from the Community Needs Assessment online tool. Accessed February 24, 2021.

Community Action Partnership (CAP) (2021). *Educational Attainment*. Data export from the Community Needs Assessment online tool. Accessed February 24, 2021.

Community Action Partnership (CAP) (2021). *High School Graduation Rate by Student Race and Ethnicity*. Data export from the Community Needs Assessment online tool. Accessed February 24, 2021.

Community Action Partnership (CAP) (2021). *High School Graduation Rate by Year, 2012-13 through 2017-18*. Data export from the Community Needs Assessment online tool. Accessed February 24, 2021.

Goldstein, I., and Rosch, J. (April 2020). *Estimating Changes in the Supply and Demand for Childcare in Philadelphia*, Reinvestment Fund. Retrieved from <u>https://www.reinvestment.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2020/04/ReinvestmentFund_WPF_PHL-Childcare_2020.pdf</u>

Graham, K., March 9, 2021, Philly students could attend school this summer and stay hybrid in the fall, the superintendent says, *The Philadelphia Inquirer*. Retrieved from https://www.inquirer.com/education/philadelphia-school-district-reopen-hybrid-20210309.html

Rosch, J., Kim., A., Simmons, J., and Norton, M. (July 2019). *Estimating Changes in the Supply and Demand for Childcare in Philadelphia*, Reinvestment Fund. Retrieved from <u>https://www.reinvestment.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/07/Reinvestment-Fund-Policy-Report-PHL-Childcare_Summary.pdf

Schlesinger, M. and Tanz, A. (February 2020). *Trends in Performance on the School Progress Report (SPR) from 2014-15 to 2018-19*, School District of Philadelphia, District Focus Series. Retrieved from https://www.philasd.org/research/wp-content/uploads/sites/90/2020/02/SPR-trends-14-15-through-18-19-February-2020.pdf

School District of Philadelphia (2020b). *School Progress Reports, SY2018-2019, School Metric Scores (20200127),* Excel XLSX file. Retrieved from <u>https://www.philasd.org/performance/programsservices/open-data/school-performance/#school_progress_report</u>

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Educational Attainment*, 5-year Estimates, 2015-2019. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1501&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1501.

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Educational Attainment*, 5-year Estimates, 2015-2019. Table S1501. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1501&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1501&hidePreview =false

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months of Families by Household Type by Educational Attainment of Householder*, 5-year Estimates, 2015-2019. Table B17018. Retrieved from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=b17018&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B17018.

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months*. 1-year Estimates, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, & 2019. Table S1701. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1701&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S1701

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Selected Characteristics of People at Specified Levels of Poverty in the Past 12 Months*. 5-year Estimates, 2015-2019. Table S1703. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?text=s1703&g=0500000US42101&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S1703

INCOME AND ASSETS

Argenio, J., *Medical Assistance, Food Stamps and Cash Assistance statistics reports* (January 2020), Pennsylvania Department of Human Services, Bureau of Program Support. <u>http://listserv.dpw.state.pa.us/ma-food-stamps-and-cash-stats.html</u>

City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) (2020). *2020 Philadelphia Community Needs Assessment Survey: Final Draft Report.* Prepared by Temple University, Institute for Survey Research, Philadelphia, May 5, 2020.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), *How America Banks: Household Use of Banking and Financial Services*, 2019 FDIC Survey (October 2020). Retrieved from https://economicinclusion.gov/surveys/2019household/

Federal Reserve Bank of New York (February, 2020). *State Level Household Debt Statistics 2003-2018*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.newyorkfed.org/microeconomics/databank.html</u>

Federal Reserve Bank of New York/Equifax Consumer Credit Panel, tabulated by the Federal Reserve Banks of Philadelphia and Minneapolis and accessed via the Consumer Credit Explorer (date accessed: April 18, 2021). Retrieved from https://www.philadelphiafed.org/surveys-and-data/community-development-data/consumer-credit-explorer

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021). Mid-Atlantic Information Office. *Philadelphia Division Economic Summary*, Updated March 19, 2021. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bls.gov/regions/mid-atlantic/summary/home.htm</u>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2019). Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, *2019 Poverty Guidelines*. Retrieved from <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/2019-poverty-guidelines</u>.

US Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2015). *Median Income in the Past 12 Months (in 2019 inflation-adjusted dollars)*, 1-year estimates, 2015. Table S1903. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=&text=s1903&g=050000US42101&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S1903

US Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Median Income in the Past 12 Months (in 2019 inflation-adjusted dollars*), 1-year estimates, 2019. Table S1903. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=&text=s1903&g=050000US42101&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S1903

HOUSING

Affordable Housing Online (2021). Philadelphia Housing Authority. Retrieved from https://affordablehousingonline.com/housing-authority/Pennsylvania/Philadelphia-Housing-Authority/PA002

Allen, T. (March 23, 2021). More aid in on the way for Philadelphia renters. Here's what you need to know to apply. *WHYY, Plan Philly*. Retrieved from <u>https://whyy.org/articles/more-aid-is-on-the-way-for-philly-renters-heres-what-you-need-to-know-to-apply</u>.

City of Philadelphia (2021). Vacant Property Indicators. Retrieved from <u>https://www.opendataphilly.org/dataset/vacant-property-indicators</u>

City of Philadelphia, Department of Licenses and Inspections (2019). *L&I Violations – 2019 to present*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.opendataphilly.org/dataset/licenses-and-inspections-violations</u>.

City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) (2020). *2020 Philadelphia Community Needs Assessment Survey: Final Draft Report.* Prepared by Temple University, Institute for Survey Research, Philadelphia, May 5, 2020.

City of Philadelphia, Office of Homeless Assistance (2020). 2020 HIC Inventory List for PA 500 Philadelphia CoC HDX Submission (Excel file).

Goldstein, I., Dowdall, E., Weidig, C., Simmons, J., & Carney, B. (October 2019). *Evictions in Philadelphia: A Data & Policy Update*, Philadelphia, PA, Reinvestment Fund. Retrieved from <u>https://www.reinvestment.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019/10/ReinvestmentFund_PHL-Evictions-Brief-Oct-2019.pdf</u>

Howell, O., Eichel, L., Compart, E., Murphy-Tofig, C., & Ohanian, B. (September 2020), *The State of Housing Affordability in Philadelphia: Who's cost-burdened and why*. The Pew Charitable Trusts. Retrieved from https://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2020/09/phillyhousingreport.pdf

Philadelphia Housing Authority (PHA) (2013). *PHA Waitlist Times*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pha.phila.gov/media/94668/pha_wl_time_2013.pdf</u>

Philadelphia Legal Assistance (PLA) (2021). Exports from the Philadelphia Municipal Court, *Eviction Filings-Summary Table*. Datasets compiled by J. Pyle.

Philadelphia Legal Assistance (PLA) (2021b). Exports from the Philadelphia Municipal Court and Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County, *Foreclosure cases-tax filings-full list*. Datasets compiled by J. Pyle.

Project HOME (2019). *Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report*. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Retrieved from <u>https://projecthome.org/sites/default/files/2020-</u> <u>11/Project%20HOME%20FY19%20Infographic%20%28final%20version%29.pdf</u>

Shinn, J. (2019). *Comprehensive Housing Market Analysis, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania*. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Office of Policy Development and Research. Retrieved from https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/pdf/PhiladelphiaPA-CHMA-19.pdf

U.S. Census Bureau (February 2021). *Week 23 Household Pulse Survey, January 20 – February 1*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/hhp/hhp23.html</u>.

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Household Income by Gross Rent as a Percentage of Household Income in the Past 12 Months*, 5-year estimates, 2015-2019. Table B25074. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=&text=b25074&tid=ACSDT5Y2019.B25074

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Household Income by Selected Monthly Owner Costs as a Percentage of Household Income in the Past 12 Months*, 5-year estimates, 2015-2019. Table B25095. Retrieved from <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=&text=b25095&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B25095</u>

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2015). Continuum of Care Homeless Populations and Subpopulations Report. Philadelphia Continuum of Care. Retrieved from https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/coc-homeless-populations-and-subpopulations-reports/

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2019). *Assisted Housing: National and Local*, HUD User, Office of Policy Development and Research (PD&R). Retrieved from https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/assthsg.html#null

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2020). *HUD Fair Market Rents, FY 2020, 2 BR, Philadelphia county*. /Retrieved from <u>https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/fmr.html</u>.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2020b). Continuum of Care Homeless Populations and Subpopulations Report. Philadelphia Continuum of Care. Retrieved from https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/coc-homeless-populations-and-subpopulations-reports/

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2020b). *Income Limits. Section 8 Income Limits, FY 2020.* HUD User, Office of Policy Development and Research (PD&R). Retrieved from https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/il.html#2020 data.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2021). Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) Database Access. Retrieved from <u>https://lihtc.huduser.gov/</u>.

SOCIAL AND HEALTH STATUS

Benefits.gov (2021). Pennsylvania Medicaid program. Retrieved from https://www.benefits.gov/benefit/1148.

Chetty, R., Stepner, BA., Abraham, S., et al. (2016). *The association between income and life expectancy in the United States*, 2001-2014. JAMA. Retrieved from <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/2513561</u>

Children's Health Watch (2019). Community Data Collection Tool Pilot Program [unpublished raw data on social determinants of health]. Boston, MA.

Chokshi, D.A. (2018). Income, poverty, and health inequality. JAMA. Retrieved from <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2677433</u>
City of Philadelphia, Department of Public Health (2019). *Southeastern Pennsylvania Community Health Needs Assessment*. Regional Community Health Needs Assessment II: Geographic Profiles, pp. 141, 145, 146. Retrieved from https://www.phila.gov/documents/regional-community-health-needs-assessment/

City of Philadelphia, Department of Public Health (2021). COVID-19 Deaths. Retrieved from <u>https://www.opendataphilly.org/dataset/covid-deaths</u>.

City of Philadelphia, Office of Sustainability (2019b). *Beat the heat: Hunting Park*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.phila.gov/media/20190719092954/HP_R8print-1.pdf</u>

City of Philadelphia, Police Department (2019c). Open Data Philly, Crime Incidents-2019. Retrieved from <u>https://www.opendataphilly.org/dataset/crime-incidents</u>.

Diez Roux A. V., Moore K. A., Melly S. J., Wang X, Joshi R. (2017). *Neighborhood health and poverty in Philadelphia*. Urban Collaborative Data Brief Number 2. Dornsife School of Public Health, Drexel University: Philadelphia PA. Retrieved from <u>https://drexel.edu/uhc/resources/briefs/</u>

Eichel, L. (2020). *How COVID-19 has undercut Philadelphians' physical and financial wellbeing*. The Pew Charitable Trusts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2020/10/how-covid-19-has-undercut-philadelphians-physical-and-financial-well-being</u>

Farley, T., Washington, R., & Whitley, J. (2019). *Health of the city 2019: Philadelphia's community health assessment*. City of Philadelphia Department of Public Health. <u>https://www.phila.gov/media/20191219114641/Health of City 2019-FINAL.pdf</u>

Feeding America (2018). *Food insecurity in Philadelphia County*. Retrieved from <u>https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2018/overall/pennsylvania/county/philadelphia</u>

Hammer, J., Ruggieri, D. G., Thomas, C., et al., (2020). *Local extreme heat planning: an interactive tool to examine a heat vulnerability index for Philadelphia, Pennsylvania*. Journal of Urban Health 97, 519–528 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-020-00443-9

Philadelphia Corporation on Aging (2020). *PCA Area Plan: 2020-2024*. Retrieved from <u>https://pcacares.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/PCA-Area-Plan-FINAL-for-dissemination.pdf</u>

Philadelphia District Attorney's Office. (2018). Incidents: public data dashboard. Retrieved from <u>https://data.philadao.com/Incidents_Report.html</u>

Public Health Management Corporation. (2019). *PHMC releases 2018-2019 southeastern PA household health survey results*. Retrieved from <u>https://research.phmc.org/52-project-spotlight/248-southeastern-pennsylvania-household-health-survey</u>.

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) (2019). *Selected Characteristics of Health Insurance Coverage in the United States*, 5-year average estimates, 2015-2019. Table S2107. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=&text=s2701&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2701

CIVIC ENGAGEMENT

Children's Health Watch (2019). Community Data Collection Tool Pilot Program [unpublished raw data on social determinants of health]. Boston, MA.

City of Philadelphia Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (2019). *CEO Strategic Framework*, retrieved from <u>https://www.phila.gov/documents/strategic-framework/</u>.

City of Philadelphia, Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Volunteer Service (2019). *2019 Annual Report*, p 1. Retrieved from <u>https://www.phila.gov/media/20200119164629/OCEVS-Annual-Report-2019.pdf</u>

City of Philadelphia, Mayor's Office of Civic Engagement and Volunteer Service (2020). *2020 Annual Report*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.phila.gov/media/20210306091558/FINAL -2021-MDoSR-Annual-Report.pdf</u>

City of Philadelphia, Office of Community Empowerment and Opportunity (CEO) (2020). *2020 Philadelphia Community Needs Assessment Survey: Final Draft Report.* Prepared by Temple University, Institute for Survey Research, Philadelphia, May 5, 2020.

City of Philadelphia, Office of Performance Management (2020b). *2019-2020 Philadelphia Resident Survey Report*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.phila.gov/documents/philadelphia-resident-survey-report/</u>

City of Philadelphia, Office of the City Commissioners (2021). Voter turnout. Retrieved from <u>https://www.philadelphiavotes.com/index.html</u>

City of Philadelphia, Office of the City Commissioners (2021b). *Voter registration by party: 1940-2020*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.philadelphiavotes.com/en/resources-a-data/reports-and-publications.html</u>

Cooper, A., Warner, D., Raczka, G., et al. (2021). *Philly Counts 2020 Final Report: City of Philadelphia's 2020 Census Participation Effort*. Philly Counts. City of Philadelphia, Managing Director's Office. Retrieved from https://www.phila.gov/documents/philly-counts-2020-final-report/

Galpern, Danny (October 27, 2020). *Philadelphia Voting Data Dashboard*. Retrieved from <u>https://public.tableau.com/profile/danny.galpern#!/vizhome/PhiladelphiaVotingDataDashboard/VotingDashb</u>oard?publish=yes

U.S. Census Bureau (2021). *United States Census 2020. Self-Response Rate Map*. Retrieved from <u>https://2020census.gov/en/response-rates/self-response.html</u>

U.S. Census Bureau (2021b). *United States Census 2010. 2010 Census Self Response Rates*. Retrieved <u>https://2020census.gov/en/response-rates/self-response.html</u>.

Appendix A: Survey Instrument

2019 Empowerment and Opportunity Survey

Contents

Section A: Eligibility/Introduction	1
Section B: Identifying Challenges	2
Section B1: Challenges in Depth	3
Section C: Community Services and Experiences	9
Section D: Demographics	11
FINAL SECTION: BeHeardPhilly Invite	13

Section A: Eligibility/Introduction

Street Intercept/In Person

Hello, my name is (your name). I am working with Temple University and the City of Philadelphia on the 2019 Empowerment and Opportunity Survey (EOS) to help fight poverty in Philadelphia. I am doing a survey today to learn about the needs of different communities and neighborhoods. If you have a few minutes I would love to get your opinion on these topics. If you take the survey I will also give you \$5 in cash when we finish. All of your answers will be kept completely confidential and your name and information will never be shared with anyone. Are you willing to take the survey?

1. Yes

2. No

Web

Thank you for participating in the 2019 Empowerment and Opportunity Survey (EOS)! Temple University has partnered with the City of Philadelphia on this project to help fight poverty in Philadelphia. We have some questions for you so that we can learn about the needs of different communities and neighborhoods. All of your answers will be kept completely confidential and your name and information will never be shared with anyone. When you finish this survey, you will be entered into a raffle to win one of many \$20 gift cards.

Are you willing to take the survey?

1. Yes

2. No

Q	Variable	Question	Notes
1.	BHP_ZIP	What is your home zip code?	
	220-200	[If BHP_ZIP < 19100 or BHP_ZIP > 19199 \rightarrow NOT ELIGIBLE, END SURVEY]	
2.	legalage	Are you 18 or older?	
		Yes	
		 No [NOT ELIGIBLE, END SURVEY] 	
lf No	ot Eligible		

Not Eligible	Unfortunately, you are not eligible to take this survey. Thank you for your time and	
- 1. 	have a great day.	

Saction	D.	Identifying	Chal	landar
Section	D:	identifying	Chai	lenges

/ariable	Question	Notes
Q3_1	We want to try and understand some of the challenges you and members of your	
	household might have faced in the last 12 months. Below is a list of 16 potential	
	challenges you might face. Please select the ones that have been a challenge for you or	
	someone in your household in the last 12 months. (Select all that apply)	
	A. Child Care (Costs or Availability)	
	B. Immigration and Language Services	
	C. Crime Prevention or Public Safety	
	D. Education (Finding a good school)	
	E. Emergency Assistance Services (such as emergency food, shelter or utilities)	
	F. Employment	
	G. Access to Healthy Food	
	H. Household Budget and Financial Management	
	I. Housing (Finding affordable and safe housing)	
	J. Getting Fair Treatment With Police Or Courts	
	K. Accessing Legal Services	
	L. Physical or Mental Health Services	
	M. Senior Support & Services	
	N. Accessing or Paying for Transportation	
	O. Paying Utilities	
	P. Opportunities for Youth	
	Q. Other (please specify):	
	R. I/we have not faced any challenges like these in the last 12 months	
	RANDOM Alternative Q3.1 We want to try and understand some of the challenges you	
	and members of your household might have faced in the last 12 months.	
	OPTIONS CODES ARE THE SAME AS 3 1	
	Below is a list of potential challenges in family care and wellness you might face. Please	
	select the ones that have been a challenge for you or someone in your household in the	
	last 12 months. (Select all that apply)	
	3 1A Family Care and Wellness	
	A. Child Care (Costs or Availability)	
	D. Education (Finding a good school)	
	L. Physical or Mental Health Services	
	M. Senior Support & Services	
	P. Opportunities for Youth	
	R. I/we have not faced any challenges like these in the last 12 months	
	Below is a list of potential challenges in economic and housing security you might face.	
	Please select the ones that have been a challenge for you or someone in your household	
	in the last 12 months. (Select all that apply)	
	3_1B Economic and Housing Security	
	I. Housing (Finding affordable and safe housing)	
	E. Emergency Assistance Services (such as emergency food, shelter or utilities)	
	F. Employment	
	G. Access to Healthy Food	
	H. Household Budget and Financial Management	
	2	

	O. Paying Utilities	
	R. I/we have not faced any challenges like these in the last 12 months	
	Below is a list of potential challenges in Public Services and Resources you might face.	
	Please select the ones that have been a challenge for you or someone in your household	
	in the last 12 months. (Select all that apply)	
	3 1C Public Services and Resources	
	J. Getting Fair Treatment With Police Or Courts	
	K. Accessing Legal Services	
	N. Accessing or Paying for Transportation	
	B. Immigration and Language Services	
	C. Crime Prevention or Public Safety	
	Q. Any Other Potential Challenge (please specify):	
	R. I/we have not faced any challenges like these in the last 12 months	
	3 1 D From list A you identified \${q://QID5/ChoiceGroup/SelectedChoices} as challenges	
	that you or people in your household have faced over the past year. Of these which are	
	your 1st, 2nd and 3 rd (if applicable) biggest challenges?	
	your ist, zhu and 5 (h applicable) biggest chanenges:	
	3_1 E From list B you identified \${q://QID5/ChoiceGroup/SelectedChoices} as challenges	
	that you or people in your household have faced over the past year. Of these which are	
	your 1st, 2nd and 3 rd (if applicable) biggest challenges?	
	3.1 F From list C you identified \${q://QID5/ChoiceGroup/SelectedChoices} as challenges	
	that you or people in your household have faced over the past year. Of these which are	
	your 1st, 2nd and 3 rd (if applicable) biggest challenges?	
23_2	You identified \${q://QID5/ChoiceGroup/SelectedChoices} as challenges that you or	
	people in your household have faced over the past year. Of these which are your 1st, 2nd	
	and 3 rd (if applicable) biggest challenges?	
	1. 1 st biggest challenge {{select from dropdown}}	
	2. 2 nd biggest challenge {{select from dropdown}}	

Section B1: Challenges in Depth

{{SHOW ONLY TOP 3 CHALLENGS from B_Q3.2}}

Q	Variable	Category	Question
	Q4	Child	Related to Child care, in the last 12 months, did you or someone in your
		care	household
			Q4_1. Have trouble accessing safe, reliable and/or affordable childcare?
			(yes/no)
			Q4_2. Have to take a child out of childcare? (yes/no)
			Q4_3. Have a problem accessing employment or other services you need
			because childcare was unavailable? (yes/no)
			Q4_4. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with
			childcare? (yes/no)
			Q4_4a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)
			Q4_5. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with
			3

		childcare? (yes/no) Q4_5a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q5	Immigrat	Related to Immigration and Language Services, in the last 12 months, did	
	ion and	you or someone in your household	
	Language	Q5_1. Have trouble accessing services you need because of your citizenship	
	Services	status or English proficiency? (yes/no)	
		Q5_2. Need help with learning English? (yes/no)	
		Q5_3. Need help in adjusting to American culture? (yes/no)	
		Q5_4. Have trouble getting a job because of your citizenship status or	
		English proficiency? (yes/no)	
		Q5_5. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with immigration and language services? (yes/no)	
		Q5_5a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q5_6. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		immigration and language services? (yes/no)	
		Q5_6a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q6	Crime	Related to Crime Prevention or Safety, in the last 12 months, did you or	
	Preventi	someone in your household	
	on or	Q6_1. Feel unsafe in your neighborhood? (yes/no)	
	Safety	Q6_2. Experience being a victim of a crime? (yes/no)	
		Q6_3. Witnessed a crime in your neighborhood? (yes/no)	
		Q6_4. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		crime prevention or safety? (yes/no)	
		Q6_4a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q6_5. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with crime prevention or safety? (yes/no)	
		Q6_5a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q7	Educatio	Related to Education , in the last 12 months, did you or an adult (18 and	
	n*	older) in your household	
		Q7_1. Need help with reading or writing? (yes/no)	
		Q7_2. Need help with math? (yes/no)	
		Q7_3. Need educational programs for obtaining high school diploma or	
		GED? (yes/no)	
		Q7_4. Need help to get into post-secondary education (e.g. technical	
		institutes, college, university, etc.)? (yes/no)	
		In the last 12 months, did you or a child (18 or under) in your household	
		Q7_5. Need help to be successful in school? (yes/no) Q7_6. Need help with reading or writing? (yes/no)	
		Q7_5. Need help with reading of writing? (yes/ho) Q7_7. Need help with math? (yes/no)	
		Q7_8. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		education? (yes/no)	
		Q7_8a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q7_9. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		education? (yes/no)	
		Q7_9a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q8	Emergen	Related to Emergency Assistance Services, in the last 12 months, did you or	
	су	someone in your household	
		Q8_1. Need emergency assistance? (yes/no)	
		4	

	Assistanc e	Q8_2. Get free support for housing, utilities, or food in an emergency situation? (yes/no)	
		Q8_3. Have a problem accessing housing, utilities, or food in an emergency situation? (yes/no)	
		Q8_4. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with emergency assistance? (yes/no)	
		Q8_4a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q8_5. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		emergency assistance?	
		Q8_5a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q9	Employm	Q9_1. Related to Employment, are you currently?	
	ent*	Employed	
		Out of work and looking for work	
		 Out of work but not currently looking for work 	
		A student	
		Retired	
		Unable to work	
		In the last 12 months, did you or someone in your household	
		Q9_2. Have a period of unemployment? (yes/no)	
		Q9_3. Need help finding or keeping a job because of child care? (yes/no)	
		Q9_4. Need help finding or keeping a job because of transportation?	
		(yes/no)	
		Q9_5. Need help finding or keeping a job because of criminal history?	
		(yes/no)	
		Q9_6. Need help finding or keeping a job because of language barriers?	
		(yes/no)	
		Q9_7. Need training for job related skills? (yes/no)	
		Q9_8. Have a problem with an employer? (yes/no)	
		Q9_9. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		employment? (yes/no)	
		Q9_9a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open) Q9 10. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		employment? (yes/no)	
		Q9_10a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q10	Healthy	Related to Access to Healthy Foods, in the last 12 months, did you or	
	Food *	someone in your household	
BHP_H		Q10_1. Have trouble accessing healthy food? (yes/no)	
OUSIN		Q10 2. Run out of money to buy food? (yes/no)	
G		Q10_3. Have a working kitchen? (yes/no)	
		Q10_4. Purchased fast food, such as McDonald's or 7/11, more than once a	
		week? (yes/no)	
		Q10_5. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people to	
		get healthy foods?	
		Q10_5a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q10_6. Have you used any services or organizations that help people to get	
		healthy foods?	
		Q10_6a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	

Q11	Househol	Related to Household Budget and Financial Management, in the last 12	
	d Budget	months, did you or someone in your household	
	and	Q11_1. Have difficulty managing your household's budget? (yes/no)	
	Financial	Q11_2. Have a bank account in your name? (yes/no)	
	Manage	Q11_3. Have a personal credit card? (yes/no)	
	ment*	Q11_4. Use check-cashing services? (yes/no)	
		Q11_5. At the end of the month, do you usually have	
		Not enough to make ends meet	
		Just enough to make ends meet	
		Some money left over	
		Q11_6. Do you have any outstanding municipal fines or fees that you cannot	
		pay? (for example parking tickets, late fees for taxes or water bills, L&I fines)	
		Q11_7. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		household budgeting and financial management? (yes/no)	
		Q11_7a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q11_8. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		household budgeting and financial management?	
		Q11_8a) If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q12	Housing*	Q12_1. Related to Housing , which best describes the building you live in?	
		One-family house	
		One house with multiple units	
		An apartment building	
		Other:	
		In the last 12 months, did you or someone in your household	
		Q12_2. Have difficulty accessing safe, affordable housing? (yes/no)	
		Q12_3. Have a period in which you were homeless? (yes/no)	
		Q12_3. Have to move more than twice? (yes/no)	
		Q12_5. Live in housing that is too crowded? (yes/no)	
		Q12_6. Live in housing that is not safe? (yes/no)	
		Q12_7. Need help with paying utility bills? (yes/no)	
		Q12_8. Need help with paying rent? (yes/no)	
		Q12_9. Need help with paying a mortgage? (yes/no)	
		Q12_10. Get denied housing because of past criminal record? (yes/no)	
		Q12_11. Have a problem with a landlord? (yes/no)	
		Q12_12. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people	
		with housing? (yes/no)	
		Q12_12a) If "yes", which services/organizations?	
		Q12_13. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		housing? (yes/no)	
012		Q12_13a) If "yes", which services/organizations?	
Q13	Issues	Related to Getting Fair Treatment with Police or Courts, in the last 12	
	with	months, have you or has someone in your household	
	Police or		
	Courts	Q13_1. Had a negative experience with a police officer? (yes/no)	
		Q13_2. Had a negative experience with a member of the court? (yes/no)	
		Q13_3. Experienced being detained or arrested? (yes/no)	
		Q13_4. Been arrested for parole or probation violations? (yes/no)	
		Q13_5. Been arrested for non-payment of child support? (yes/no)	
		Q13_6. Ended up with outstanding court fines or fees that you could not	
		pay? (yes/no)	
	-	Q13_7. Spent any time in jail or prison? (yes/no)	
		6	

		Q13_8. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with issues with police or courts? (yes/no) Q13_8a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)Q13_9. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with police or courts? (yes/no) Q13_9a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q14	Legal Services	Related to Accessing Legal Services, in the last 12 months, did you or someone in your household Q14_1. Need legal services? (yes/no) Q14_2. Get denied the legal services you think you are entitled to? (yes/no) Q14_3. Need legal services, but not be able to afford them? (yes/no) Q14_4. Need legal services, but not seek them out? (yes/no) Q14_5. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with legal services? (yes/no) Q14_5a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open) Q14_6. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with legal services? (yes/no) Q14_6a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q15	Physical or Mental Health Services*	Related to Physical or Mental Health Services, in the last 12 months, did you or someone in your household Q15_1. Have a problem with physical health? (yes/no) Q15_2. Have a problem with mental health? (yes/no) Q15_3. Use emergency room for regular medical treatment? (yes/no) Q15_4. Have an untreated, ongoing physical health problem? (yes/no) Q15_5. Have a physical disability? (yes/no) Q15_6. Have difficulty getting health insurance to cover a health problem? (yes/no) Q15_7. What kind of health insurance do you have? Medicaid Medicare CHIP Insured through Employer Self-insured/Affordable Care Act No Health Insurance (Uninsured) Q15_8. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with mental or physical health? (yes/no) Q15_9. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with mental or physical health? (yes/no) Q15_9. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with mental or physical health? (yes/no) Q15_9. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with mental or physical health? (yes/no) Q15_9. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with mental or physical health? (yes/no) Q15_9. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open) Q15_9. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q16	Senior Support & Services	Related to Senior Support and Services, in the last 12 months, has a senior citizen in your household (including you) had access to (if they wanted to) Q16_1. Meal services? (yes/no) Q16_2. Recreational activities? (yes/no) Q16_3. Nearby transportation? (yes/no) Q16_4. Nursing care/support? (yes/no) Q16_5. Home repair support? (yes/no) Q16_6. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with senior support and services? (yes/no) Q16_6a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	

1		Q16_7. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		senior support and services? (yes/no)	
		Q16_7a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q17	Transpor	Q17_1. Related to Transportation , what do you consider to be your primary	
	tation	form of transportation?	
	cucion	Bus	
		Subway/Trolley	
		Train	
		Walking	
		Biking	
		Personal Vehicle	
		Uber/Lyft	
		Taxi	
		Other (please describe)	
		In the last 12 months, did you or someone in your household	
		Q17_2. Have difficulty accessing transportation? (yes/no)	
		Q17 3. Have a problem accessing employment or other services you need	
		because of difficulty accessing transportation? (yes/no)	
		Q17_4. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		transportation? (yes/no)	
		Q17_4a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q17_5. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		transportation? (yes/no)	
		Q17_5a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q18	Paying	Related to Paying Utilities , in the last 12 months, did you or someone in	
	Utilities	your household	
		Q18_1. Have difficulty paying utilities? (yes/no)	
		Q18_2. Have your utilities shut off for any period of time? (yes/no)	
		Q18_3. Experience a health problem because of a lack of utilities? (yes/no)	
		Q18_4. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		utilities? (yes/no)	
		Q18_4a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q18_5. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		utilities? (yes/no)	
		Q18_5a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
Q19	Youth	Related to Opportunities for Youth, in the last 12 months, did youth in your	
124	Opportu	household	
	nity	Q19 1. Have access to recreational activities? (yes/no)	
		Q19_2. Have access to education activities? (yes/no)	
		Q19_3. Have access to youth empowerment / mentorship programs?	
		(yes/no)	
		Q19_4. Have opportunities to make money within the community? (yes/no)	
		Q19_5. Are you aware of any services or organizations that help people with	
		opportunities for youth? (yes/no)	
		Q19_5a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	
		Q19_6. Have you used any services or organizations that help people with	
		opportunities for youth? (yes/no)	
		Q19 6a. If "yes", which services/organizations? (open)	

ຊ	Variable	Question	Notes
<u> </u>	20	 Below is a list of many different types of assistance programs. For each one, please select the types of assistance you received over the last 12 months. (Select all that apply.) TANF (Temporary Assistance for Needy Families / Cash Assistance) SSI (Supplemental Security Income/Social Security) Child support SNAP (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program/Food Stamps) WIC (Women, Infants, and Children) Social Security EITC (Earned Income Tax Credit) Housing Vouchers LIHEAP (Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program) Money from friends or family members Unemployment insurance Workers' compensation 	notes
	Q21	 Utility assistance SSDI (Social Security Disability Insurance) Now we want to ask you about some of the things that might make your neighborhood a good place to live in. For each of the following places, please choose whether there are none that you know of, one, a few, some, or a lot of these in your neighborhood. 	Adapted from "Neighborh
		Q21_1. Are there doctor's offices or clinics where you can get healthcare in your neighborhood?	ood Strengths &
		Q21_2. Are there high quality schools or daycares that you have access to in your neighborhood? Q21_3. Are there places where you can buy fresh and healthy food in your neighborhood? Q21_4. Are there banks or credit unions that you can use in your neighborhood? Q21_5. Are there parks or recreation centers with working equipment where kids can	Collective Efficacy" scale
	Q22	play in your neighborhood? On a scale from 1 to 10, where 1 is the worst place and 10 is the best place, how would you rate your neighborhood as a place to live [OPEN: validate for numbers $1 - 10$]	<u>2013 AHS</u> = neighborho od satisfaction
	Q23	ls there anything else you would like to share with us about the <u>needs</u> of your neighborhood or the <u>aood things</u> about your neighborhood? [[OPEN]]	

Section D: Housing

Q24	Do you rent? 1. Yes 2. No	
Q25	If Yes to Q24	

	An eviction is when your landlord forces you to move when you don't want to. Were you,
	or a person you were staying with evicted in the past 12 months? Y/N/DK/Refused
Q26	If Yes to Q25
	Do you know why you were evicted? Please select the appropriate reason.
	A. Fell behind in paying my rent
	B. Landlord dispute
	C. Landlord didn't like my race / ethnicity / sexual orientation
	D. Property was condemned
	E. Landlord foreclosed
	F. Other
Q27	If Yes to 25
	Did you receive an eviction notice? Y/N/DK/Refused
Q28	TO ALL: Did you move in the past 12 months
•	1.Yes
	2.No
Q29	If Yes to Q28
	The following reason(s) is/are why I moved? Please check the appropriate box. (Select all
	tha apply.)
	A. Landlord sold the house
	B. Housing condition problems
	C. Neighborhood danger
	D. Rent hike
	E. Landlord dispute
	F. Financial problems
	G. It was a temporary arrangement
	H. Family breakup or violence in the home
	I. Neighbor problems
	J. Roommate dispute
	K. I could afford a neighborhood/housing upgrade
	L. I moved closer to school/work
	M. I moved to save money
	N. I was approved for rent assistance/housing voucher
	O. Other (Please specify)

Section E: Demographics

To finish up, we have a few questions about you...

Variable	Question				
Foundsurvey	How did you find out about this survey?				
	1. At a Keyspot or Rec Center (Please specify:)				
	2. A community organization (Please specify:)				
	3. A Temple/BeHeardPhilly Outreach Coordinator				
	4. Somewhere else (Please specify:)				
BHP_GENDER	What is your gender?				
	1. Male				
	2. Female				
	3. Other				
BHP_RACE	What is your race?				
	1. Asian				
	2. Black/African American				
	3. White/Caucasian				
	4. Other: [BHP_RACETEXT]				
BHP_ETHNICITY	What is your ethnicity?				
	1. Hispanic				
	2. Non-Hispanic				
BHP_EDUCATION	What is your highest level of education?				
	1. Less than 9th grade				
	2. 9th-12th grade, no diploma				
	3. High school graduate/GED				
	4. Some college - no degree				
	5. Associate's degree				
	6. Bachelor's degree				
	7. Graduate or professional degree				
BHP DOB	What is your birthdate?				
BHP_CHILDINHH	Are any members of your household under age 18?				
-	1. Yes				
	2. No				
BHP_65	Are you or any other members of your household age 65 or older?				
-	1. Yes				
	2. No				
BHP PARENT	Are you a parent or caregiver to a school-aged child (K-12)?				
	3. Yes				
	4. No				
BHP_INCOME	What is your annual household income?				
az az mining <u>—</u> panazzerin na minina angene az General	1. Less than \$14,999				
	2. \$15,000 - \$24,999				
	3. \$25,000 - \$34,999				
	4. \$35,000 - \$49,999				
	5. \$50,000 - \$74,999				
	6. \$75,000 - \$99,999				
	7. \$100K+				
	8. Prefer not to say				
BHP HSS	Including you, how many people are supported by this income?				
BHP_BORNUS	In which country were you born?				
	[[Dropdown menu of countries]]				
	rishaern mena er ee anareell				

BHP_MIGYR	[[Display if Q8 =! United States]]
	In what year did you immigrate to the United States?
BHP_OLANG	Do you speak any languages other than English?
	• Yes
	• No
BHP_LANGS	[[Display if Q10 = 1]] Which ones?
	{Do not read answer choices – check all that apply}
	1. Spanish
	2. Chinese
	3. Arabic
	4. Vietnamese
	5. Russian
	6. Other (please specify):

Name	Name and address are <u>optional</u> but needed to be entered into a raffle.				
	First Name				
	Last Name				
	Street Address				
	Apartment/Unit				
	Contact Information (phone or email)				
BHP_CONSENT	Are you interested in taking surveys like this again?				
	Temple University has created a platform called BeHeardPhilly™ that gives all				
	residents the chance to have their voices heard and continue to weigh in on				
	important topics in the City. Future surveys may come from City government				
	(like this one) or from local non-profits or others working to make Philadelphia a				
	better place to live. You can tell us how and how often you want to receive				
	surveys. It's always optional to take them, and you can win prizes or cash for				
	answering them. BeHeardPhilly™ will never share your personal information				
	with anyone.				
	1. Yes				
	2. No				
	3. I'm already a member!				
BHP_MEMBER	Thanks for being a member!				
	We just need to verify your contact information. Please click the arrow to				
	continue.				
BHP_PHONE	What's your phone number?				
BHP_EMAIL	What's your email address?				
BHP_CONTACTMODE	What's your preferred way to be contacted for taking surveys?				
	1. Text Msgs				
	2. Phone Call				
	3. Email				
BHP_CONTACTFREQ	Approximately how often would you like to take a survey?				
	1. More than Once a Month				
	2. Once a Month				
	3. A Few Times a Year				
	4. Once a Year				
Additional Comments	Additional Comments (optional)				

We thank you for your time spent taking this survey. Your response has been recorded.

Appendix B: Summary of Focus Group Findings

Crime and Safety Impact on Economic Mobility

Protocol Topic	Employed	Unemployed	Disabled	Opportunity Youth	Returning Residents
Crime and neighborhood safety's impact on daily life that might create barriers to your ability to improve your income.	-Fear of Victimization (issues traveling at night) -Public Transit limitations with late night schedules -Issues with shift work for fear of children being home in the violent environment	-Fear of Victimization (issues traveling at outside of neighborhood) -Public Transit limitations with late night schedules -Issues with shift work for fear of children being home in the violent environment	-Fear of Victimization (robbery fears) -Lack of access to safe laundromats and store shopping -Lack of reliable public transit issues with CCT timing and availability -Limit home service companies willing to service neighborhood	-Fear of incarceration & victimization -Fear of police and harassment -Public transit issues with being assumed to be a part of the school crowd issues	 Fear of re- incarceration and victimization Steps to minimize interaction with Police Lack of mobility due to parole or probation Attempts to avoid certain locations (laundromats), high traffic corners to avoid being associated with crime Very hard as crime is everywhere
Violence prevention program awareness	-General consensus crime will not change with any program.	-General consensus crime will not change with any program.	-General consensus crime will not change with any program.	 -Aware of some programs (E3, Temple, PAL) but most youth are not interested. -Easy money more than can be earned. -General consensus crime will not change with any program. 	-Aware of some programs (Probation and Parole, Ceasefire) -Mentorship beyond prison -General consensus crime will not change with any program.

Barriers to Economic Mobility

Barriers to Economi					
Protocol Topic Specific barriers to career employment or increase in income/access to services	Employed - Careerlink employment visits do not align with current employment -unpaid training -access to school and certification without monetary assistance for bills or child care. -transportation (good jobs too far buses unreliable) -housing	Unemployed -Name discrimination (for ex., Paul and Ann saw negative and surprised reactions on arrival at job interviews that they were Black) -lack of call backs from jobs applied; too much competition -training programs for low paying jobs -limited iob belo	Disabled -SSI and SSDI limits on what you can make -not enough resources to survive with existing aid -job opportunities have to limit hours -fear of victimization from in-home services that help with groceries and cleaning	Opportunity Youth - feelings of uncertainty with finding a real job -retail, food work more often pushed their way -resume training and interview help from programs -lack of experience -Lack of correct clothing -transportation -Criminal Record	Returning Residents -Discrimination based on incarceration record -lack of access to CDLS and licenses -Banning the box -Issues with half- way home and probation requirements -lack of resources for those living in halfway homes (proper food)
career employment or increase in income/access to	employment visits do not align with current employment -unpaid training -access to school and certification without monetary assistance for bills or child care. -transportation (good jobs too far buses unreliable)	-Name discrimination (for ex., Paul and Ann saw negative and surprised reactions on arrival at job interviews that they were Black) -lack of call backs from jobs applied; too much competition -training programs for low	limits on what you can make -not enough resources to survive with existing aid -job opportunities have to limit hours -fear of victimization from in-home services that help with	Youth - feelings of uncertainty with finding a real job -retail, food work more often pushed their way -resume training and interview help from programs -lack of experience -Lack of correct clothing -transportation	Residents -Discrimination based on incarceration record -lack of access to CDLS and licenses -Banning the box -Issues with half- way home and probation requirements -lack of resources for those living in halfway homes

Protocol Topic	Employed	Unemployed	Disabled	Opportunity Youth	Returning Residents
Program awareness	JEVS, CareerLink, Trinity, Kelly Services, Aerotech	Impact, JEVS, CareerLink, Trinity, Kelly Services, Aerotech	CareerLink, People for People, PEP, CIS, Esperanza	E3, Temple Impact, JEVS, CareerLink,	Impact, JEVS, Strives, RISE CareerLink, Trinity, Kelly Services, Esperanza
Barriers to Program Success	 hard to work around existing schedule lack of weekend hours career change harder than expected 	 -too much competition (too many people for the small number of opportunities -job opportunities are grant based or seasonal -just needing a chance - frustration with the process and hopelessness 	-just basic skill training -goals are self- sufficiency , not longtime financial stability	-limited success - if no job is found than have to move on to a larger Careerlink - regular life happens (lack of family support)	 Programs not helpful training helps with resume but not job placement trade training offered at certain sites but not paid better access to entrepreneur opportunities, mentoring, and funding.

Housing Insecurity

Protocol Topic	Employed	Unemployed	Disabled	Opportunity Youth	Returning Residents
Have you experienced any housing insecurity over the past 12 months	-general consensus -private rent too high -all on waiting list for public housing -most on waitlist for years	-general consensus -private rent too high -all on waiting list for public housing -most on waitlist for years	-general consensus -private rent too high -all except one on waiting list for public housing -fear of private landlord (inequity in rent or utility costs)	-general consensus -issues with home support -couch surfing -criminal record has relatives removing them from lease -rent too high to move out of family home	 Housing instability need help between halfway home and home transition Felon status biggest problem with finding housing
Housing instability Barriers to higher income	-fear of making too much money to be pushed off subsidized housing -housing can limit transportation options to get to better paying job (catching multiple buses)	-hard to apply for jobs without an address			-hard to apply for jobs without a stable address or phone number -transportation limitations (depending on buses can be an issue with making curfew while in a halfway home)

Protocol Topic	Employed	Unemployed	Disabled	Opportunity Youth	Returning Residents
-Physical and mental health challenges to economic mobility and higher income	 overall stress living paycheck to paycheck household budgeting is a trigger not having enough 	-general consensus of health challenges for half of the group -stress/grief from loss of loved ones -limited by job opportunities by age (over 60) - "Blocking Yourself!" from progress with general agreement/consensus	-stress from financial strain of SSI and SSDI not being enough	-grief from violence and loss -hard to function and show-up for programs when a lot is going wrong around	-mental health services available in and out -stress from transition of being jailed to surviving especially for long sentences "culture shock"
Awareness of services	-general consensus	-general consensus -help through existing career services training	-general consensus	-general consensus -support groups for grief and violence reduction	-general consensus -help through probation and parole

Physical and Mental Health Barriers to Economic Mobility